ISSN 2319-3670

Journal of Rice Research

Volume 12, No. 2

December 2019



Society for Advancement of Rice Research



Society For Advancement of Rice Research

(Regd. No.2175/2004 of A.P. Society Regn. Act. 2001)

The Society for Advancement of Rice Research is a registered society started with main objective of providing a platform for exchange of information and knowledge related to latest developments in rice research.

Aims and Objectives

- To advance the cause of rice research and development in the country.
- To disseminate knowledge on latest developments in rice research through publications, seminars, lectures and training programmes.
- To provide consultancy in rice production and development.
- To facilitate research and industry collaboration and public private partnership at national level.
- To honour outstanding achievers in rice research and development.
- To cooperate with other organizations having similar aims and objectives.
- To promote any other scientific/professional activities conducive for the advancement of science of rice and rice improvement.

		Executive Council (2019-2021)
President	:	Dr S R Voleti, Director, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
Vice - Presidents	:	Dr. O N Singh, PPVFRA, Chennai
		Dr. Y Chandra Mohan, ARI, PJTSAU, Hyderabad
Secretary	:	Dr. R Mahendra Kumar, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
Joint Secretary	:	Dr. Gopal Krishna, ICAR-IARI, New Delhi
Treasurer	:	Dr. B. Nirmala, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
Zonal Councillors	:	Dr. R P Singh, BHU, Varanasi, UP - North India
		Dr. P B Patil, Navsari Agril. University, Gujarat – West India
		Dr. Vijav Pal Bhadana, ICAR-IIAB, Namkum, Ranchi – East India

Dr. B N V S R . Ravi Kumar, RRS, Maruteru, AP-South Indi

Editorial Board	Journal of Rice Research is an official	publication of	of Society for	
Chief Editor: Dr Ch PadmavathiAssociate Editors	Advancement of Rice Research (SARR), ICAR- Indian Institute of Rice Research, Hyderabad - 500030 and published twice a year i.e., June and December All correspondence related to SARR should be addressed to			
Plant Breeding: Dr J Aravind KumarBiotechnology: Dr R M SundaramCrop Production: Dr M B B Prasad BabuAgril. Engineering: Dr T Vidhan SinghPlant Pathology: Dr M Srinivas PrasadSocial Sciences: Dr Shaik N Meera	Membership: Membership of the Society is of furthering the aims and objectives of the Society qualifier	pen to all perso iety and in the	be addressed to <u>aggmail.com</u>). ons interested in e opinion of the perience.	
Computer Applications : Dr B Sailaja	Membership and Journal Subscription	n fee w.e.f Au	gust 2019	
	l 	Subscrip	otion price	
Members – Foreign	Membership category	Annual	Lifa	
internoers roreign		- innuur	Life	
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines	A. Individual membership			
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines Dr Sudhir Yadav, IRRI, Philippines	A. Individual membership Indian (Rs.)	500 (300*)	3000(2000*)	
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines Dr Sudhir Yadav, IRRI, Philippines Dr Umesh Reddy, West Virginia State University, USA	A. Individual membership Indian (Rs.) Foreigner (US \$ or its equivalent)	500 (300*) 50	3000(2000*) 300	
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines Dr Sudhir Yadav, IRRI, Philippines Dr Umesh Reddy, West Virginia State University, USA Dr Akshay Biswal, CIMMYT, Mexico	 A. Individual membership Indian (Rs.) Foreigner (US \$ or its equivalent) B. Corporate members/Patrons-one time (Rs.) 	500 (300*) 50 	3000(2000*) 300 20,000	
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines Dr Sudhir Yadav, IRRI, Philippines Dr Umesh Reddy, West Virginia State University, USA Dr Akshay Biswal, CIMMYT, Mexico Dr R K Singh, IRRI, Philippines	 A. Individual membership Indian (Rs.) Foreigner (US \$ or its equivalent) B. Corporate members/Patrons-one time (Rs.) C. Libraries and Institutions (Annual) 	500 (300*) 50 	3000(2000*) 300 20,000	
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines Dr Sudhir Yadav, IRRI, Philippines Dr Umesh Reddy, West Virginia State University, USA Dr Akshay Biswal, CIMMYT, Mexico Dr R K Singh, IRRI, Philippines	 A. Individual membership Indian (Rs.) Foreigner (US \$ or its equivalent) B. Corporate members/Patrons-one time (Rs.) C. Libraries and Institutions (Annual) Indian (Rs.) 	500 (300*) 50 2500	3000(2000*) 300 20,000	
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines Dr Sudhir Yadav, IRRI, Philippines Dr Umesh Reddy, West Virginia State University, USA Dr Akshay Biswal, CIMMYT, Mexico Dr R K Singh, IRRI, Philippines Members –India	 A. Individual membership Indian (Rs.) Foreigner (US \$ or its equivalent) B. Corporate members/Patrons-one time (Rs.) C. Libraries and Institutions (Annual) Indian (Rs.) Foreign(US \$ or its equivalent) 	500 (300*) 50 2500 550	3000(2000*) 300 20,000	
Dr Jauhar Ali, IRRI, Philippines Dr Sudhir Yadav, IRRI, Philippines Dr Umesh Reddy, West Virginia State University, USA Dr Akshay Biswal, CIMMYT, Mexico Dr R K Singh, IRRI, Philippines <u>Members – India</u> Dr E A Siddiq, Ex-DDG, ICAR, Hyderabad Dr B N Singh, Ex-Director, CRRI, Cuttack Dr IN Beddy NBRI Cuttack	 A. Individual membership Indian (Rs.) Foreigner (US \$ or its equivalent) B. Corporate members/Patrons-one time (Rs.) C. Libraries and Institutions (Annual) Indian (Rs.) Foreign(US \$ or its equivalent) Admission fee of Rs. 100/- will be charged in additie *For Students All remittances should be made in favour of Soc 	500 (300*) 50 2500 550 on to the above	3000(2000*) 300 20,000 subscription fee;	

Executive Council (2019-2021)

Journal of Rice Research

Volume 12, No. 2

December 2019



Journal of Rice Research

Volume 12 : Issue No. 2	December 2019
Contents	Page No.
Dr. SVS Shastry Memorial Lecture Designing future rice for enhanced profitability and nutritional security Vijai Pal Singh	1
Rice production in India-varietal dynamics and diversity insights from empirical analysis of breeder seed Lakshmi Prasanna PA and LV Subba Rao	indents 7
Genetic diversity analysis of rice germplasm in gujarat state of India using simple sequence repeat marker Ankita Mishra, Bhavesh Gajera and N Subhash	rs 25
Effect of organic and inorganic substances on the growth and yield of rice Balaji E, M Meyyappan, M Ganapathy and A Angayarkanni	34
Isolation, identification and characterization of efficient free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria from rice rhize ecosystem Bandeppa S, Latha PC, Amol S Phule, Rajani G, Prasad Babu KV, Kalyani M Barbadikar, Chandrakala C, Prasa MBB, Mandal PK and Sundaram RM	o sphere 38 ad Babu
Effect of seaweed extract as biostimulant on crop growth and yield in rice (<i>Oryza sativa</i> l.) under transpondition Arun MN, Mahender Kumar R, Sailaja Nori, Aarthi Singh, Mangal Deep Tuti, Srinivas D, Venkatanna B, Sur Padmavathi Ch and Prasad MS	planted 45 rekha K,
Efficacy of azoxystrobin 25 sc against rice sheath blight and glume discoloration diseases of rice Surendran M, Anet K Thomas, Nimmy Jose and Vandana Venugopal	51
A bio-intensive insect pest management module for samba organic rice cultivation in new cauvery delta z Nalini R and S Porpavai	cone 59
Isolation of crude toxin, thin layer chromatography (TLC) and HPLC analysis of <i>Bipolaris oryzae</i> , inciting spot disease of rice Valarmathi P, Ladhalakshmi D, Kartar Singh, Sapna Sharma, Bashyal Bishnu Maya and Rashmi Aggarwal	; brown 65
Reaction of rice cultivars to rice root-knot nematode <i>Meloidogyne graminicola</i> Satish N Chavan, Nethi Somasekhar and LV Subbarao	69
DRR Dhan 52 [IET 23354 (RP5125-12-5-3-B-IR84898-B-B)] Jyothi Badri, Jai Vidhya LRK, Lakshmidevi G, Laxmi Bhavani P, B Sreedevi, SK Mangrauthia, R Abdul Fiyaz, LV Subba Rao, MS Prasad, V Jhansi Lakshmi, P Raghuveer Rao, Amtul Waris, Arvind Kumar and T Ram	72

Obituary - Dr. SVS Shastry



Dr. SVS Shastry Memorial Lecture

Designing future rice for enhanced profitability and nutritional security

Vijai Pal Singh

Former Principal Scientist & Project Leader (Rice), ICAR-Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi Email: singh_vijaipal@yahoo.com

At the outset I wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to the Organizing Committee, ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research (ICAR-IIRR) and Society for Advancement of Rice Research (SARR), Hyderabad for giving me an opportunity to deliver the first Dr. S.V.S. Shastry Memorial Lecture 2019. It is indeed a great honour and am humbled with this noble association with Dr. Sishta Venkata Seetharama Shastry, with whom my association dates back to Kharif 1969 when he himself came to monitor the AICRIP trials. The trials were conducted at IARI Regional Station, Karnal. We travelled together and he knew the details of each and every trial being conducted at Karnal. Thus, through his exceptional vision and meticulous planning as the Project Coordinator, he spearheaded the All India Coordinated Rice Improvement Project (AICRIP), the first of its kind in the world for rice varietal evaluation and release.

The vision of Dr. Shastry was farfetched with respect to crop improvement in India, especially rice improvement. As a rice cytogeneticist, he published the seminal report on the pachytene analysis in rice for the first time (Shastry et al., 1960). As an evolutionary biologist, his extensive research on biosystematics of Oryza complex helped in delineating the taxonomic identity of two new species of Oryza namely, Oryza nivara and O. collina. Based on their studies, they proposed that O. nivara is the progenitor of cultivated rice (Shastry and Sharma, 1973). One of the collections of O. nivara was found to be resistant to grassy stunt virus disease of rice at International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Philippines which helped the development of grassy stunt virus resistant rice varieties. As a pioneer in rice varietal evaluation system in the country, he extended his interest on crop adaptation traits, extensively searching the gene pool for resistance to pests and diseases, tolerance to nutrient deficiency over and above the major focus of his research on yield improvement. Dr. Shastry was an ardent fighter for poverty alleviation worldwide, particularly in India, and he was one of the early researchers to realise the importance of improving rice yield in alleviating

hunger in the country. He was conscious of rice grain quality and with his futuristic vision was instrumental in constituting the first slender grain varietal trial in 1969, which was later renamed as Basmati derivative trial. This trial later on evolved as National Basmati Trials. He has developed the premium quality slender grain rice variety, "Sona", which was widely used as one of the parents for developing fine grain rice varieties such as Haryana Basmati 1 (Sona/ Basmati 370).

Dr. Shastry recorded his futuristic views on rice breeding in India in an article published in the journal Crop Science, which I quote "This shift in priority from production to productivity, and then on to profitability is an index of progress with technology. It is also the continuing challenge for the future" (Shastry 2006). He was referring to the transformation of rice varietal evaluation system from production improvement as happened in the early green revolution period, to improved productivity as a function of grain output per unit land area, as it was realized later towards the end of last millennia. The transformation from the days of 'hands to mouth' to the 'enough in hands' has been a reality mainly because of the continuous crop improvement that has happened during the active period of Dr. Shastry as the founder leader of AICRIP system in India. Now, in order to metamorphose from the 'handful', I believe that there is a need to change the paradigm from "productivity" to "profitability" which needs to be addressed by the rice improvement programmes across the country. This has prompted me to address this important issue of "continuing challenge for the future of rice" in this maiden lecture commemorating Dr. Shastry titled "Designing future rice for enhanced profitability and nutritional security".

Present Status of Rice in India

India produced 112 million tonnes of rice from an area of 43 mha at an average productivity of 2.6 t/ ha. Out of the total area, 24 mha of rice area in Punjab, Haryana, Uttar Pradesh, West Bengal, Bihar, Odisha, and parts of Andhra



Pradesh, Tamil Nadu is irrigated. About 17.2 mha is under rainfed area, out of which more than 70% of which is in eastern India. Around 85% of the total rice production is contributed by the favourable ecologies of irrigated and shallow lowland. Rice is the most resource intensive crop among all the agricultural crops in India and annually it uses about 200 km3 of irrigation water, 6.5 mt of fertilizers, 17% pesticides used in Indian agriculture and emits 3.5 mt of methane (Pathak *et al.*, 2019).

Rice in India is at a critical juncture. The monopolistic development in rice area and production has almost stalled and the climb in the graph that has been witnessed since mid-sixty's has reached a plateau. The primary reason for this is the increase in human population which always outperformed the rate of agrarian development. This trend could be worrisome, because, if this level continues without significant improvement in food availability, we might be returning back to the dreaded olden days where hunger dominated our society. However, future is still bright, thanks to the explosive development in science especially genetics, that has already proven its role in securing food security by the way of green revolution. If one or few genes such as the dwarfing gene could produce a green revolution there are about 55,986 genes on rice genome that can be relied upon.

Achievement in Rice Improvement

Since 1950s, India has witnessed release of more than 1500 rice varieties, suitable for different agro-ecological zones. Comparing the yield levels of these varieties, one cannot witness any perceptible yield increase in the varieties that were released later than from the earlier ones. For instance, the popular variety, "Jaya" bred by Dr Shastry released in 1969 has an estimated yield level about 55-60 g/ha. Still, yield of Jaya can be regarded comparable to that of a variety released in 2000's. This implies that we are lacking somewhere in our assessment especially the yardstick for promoting a variety, which needs introspection. There have been a large number of landmark varieties evolved and released over time in India, which have ruled the rice production scenario in India and other rice growing countries during last few decades. The mega-varieties of rice such as Jaya, Swarna (MTU7029), Savithri (CR1009), Samba Mahsuri (BPT5204), IR36, IR64, Pusa Basmati 1, Cotton Dora Sannalu (MTU1010), Pusa Basmati 1121 and

some new ones like Pusa Basmati 1509 slowly catching up with its popularity.

The green revolution could help in bringing a major leap in rice production with the milled grain production of 34.6 million tonnes in 1960 increasing to 115.0 million tonnes in 2019. The growth has been almost steady although few falls in the trend has been witnessed in some of the years. Furthermore, the overall rice production trend in India still pointed upwards trend in spite of a reduction in total area. The modern Indian rice varieties have been made smart, from the high resource hungriness to resource efficient. Thanks to the use of streamlined breeding efforts using precise tools of genomics, the modern-day rice varieties are tolerant to drought making it more water use efficient, resistant to disease and pest, and other abiotic stresses such as submergence, salinity and sodicity and as I understand efforts to develop rice varieties with improved nutrient use efficiencies and enhanced tolerance to low nutrient are at advanced stages especially for phosphorus (P) with the introgression of PSTOL locus which provides tolerance to low P. A beginning has been made and it has traverse long to meet the needs of the future. Our hope, lies with more than 55,986 genes on the rice genome and with more than 40,000 rice genotypes, in which these genes are being ingrained in different forms (alleles) together with an additional pool of more than 90,000 related wild and cultivated lines.

Challenges in Rice Research

India currently grows rice in about 43 million ha, almost a million hectare has been lost for rice production during this decade so far, owing to several factors such as shrinking water availability, nutrient depletion, uncertain rains, soil salinization, urbanisation, cropping system changes and poor economic returns. Comparing the global scenario, the loss is significant, because worldwide trend in rice area still remains upwards except China, although the slope has declined. Beginning from the days of green revolution, after the introduction of famous sd1 gene into the breeding lines from the Taiwanese variety, Dee-Geo-Woo-Gen, the average rice yield worldwide has doubled from 2.0 to 4.0 tonnes/ha (www.ricepedia.org). The increase corresponding to this period in India is however not in tune to the world figure, a meagre increase of 2.2 tonnes/ ha from 0.7 tonnes/ha. The rice production, although indispensable, has been always a challenge to Indian



farmers. Alternatively, the introduction of high yielding varieties has witnessed another dramatic climb in the area under the modern varieties. The area of less than 100 ha under HYVs in 1965, has risen to more than 40 million ha by the late 2010. The corresponding increase in total rice area was from 30 million ha to 40 million ha. Therefore, it is a fact that during green revolution, modern varieties not only replaced most of the 30 million ha occupied by traditional cultivars, but also brought in another 10 million ha under rice cultivation. Most of these areas came from non-traditional regions such as Punjab, Haryana and western Uttar Pradesh, where once the cultivation of rice was very limited. Long term consequence of this shift in cultivation aimed at higher earnings from farm holdings with support in the form of minimum support price (MSP) has led to significant damages to the environment and depletion of groundwater. The dwindling water resources has forced the ban on rice planting until mid-June, in states like Punjab and Haryana. The repercussions of pushing rice towards the fringes of wheat cultivation window, is now seen as air pollution by indiscriminate burning of stubbles with the aim to clear the lands in short period of time.

There was a concern raised by the critics that due to introduction of high yielding varieties there has been a severe loss of the wealth of traditional rice varieties in India. Taking a critical look, it is not hard to realise that most of these traditional cultivars are conserved in our National Gene Bank and valuable alleles, if any can be brought back into the modern-day cultivars using precision tools available to modern day breeders. In contrary, the high yielding modern varieties have in fact amassed a great proportion of alleles for yield and resource efficiency. Later, emphasis on quality was introduced, especially in the 1980s, which had brought out several commercially important varieties particularly known for grain quality. However, in spite of the boom in high yielding varieties, there has been several traditional cultivars conserved in the farm holds for special purposes that are even grown today. These landraces could be treasure trove for alleles governing specialty traits in rice.

Rice is consumed by 0.8 billion people across the country. In order to meet our commitments of the Sustainable Development Goals especially goal 2 (Zero hunger), we need to produce safe nutritious and sufficient food, which would be around 135 mt of rice by 2030. All along, we need to ensure doubling both agricultural productivity and incomes of small farmers. Add to this the limitations imposed by climate change and our commitment to maintain ecosystems and the genetic diversity of seeds, there is a need for introspection and act accordingly.

The severity in incidence of the major biotic and abiotic stresses, changing scenario of hitherto minor diseases, insect-pests and weeds causing major economic losses due to climate change are new challenges for rice improvement. For example, the increase in incidence of bakanae disease in Basmati rice, panicle blight in rice across northern India, false smut across rice growing regions of India especially in eastern India, brown plant hopper in rice, flash floods due to skewed rainfall distribution in eastern India and salt accumulation in coastal regions due to ingression of sea water needs to be addressed through strategies involving transdisciplinary research.

About 4.5 mha of the irrigated rice is cultivated in Punjab and Haryana, out of which about 3.3 mha is under non-Basmati rice which is primarily meant for the public distribution system (PDS). A cursory glance at the buffers stock norms and the actual stocks of rice in the central pool during the last five years (Fig. 1) indicates that there is around 4 times more rice stock in the central pool on an average over this period, which goes unattended in open storage resulting in huge losses if there is untimely rains after procurement.

Based on the basic principles of availability, accessibility and absorption, the problems of fast depleting ground water, unbalanced fertilizer use, indiscriminate use of agrochemicals and other issues associated such as paddy straw burning for fast disposal resulting in air pollution, growing non-Basmati rice for PDS in these states are moving towards unsustainability in the long-term. With abundant water and well suited agro-climate the rice cultivation and schemes such as Bringing Green Revolution to Eastern India (BGREI), it will not take long for the sleeping giant in the eastern India to produce rice for not only meeting the needs of the PDS of the entire country but also for the potential export markets. In fact, there is a need to reduce the area under rice to around 35 mha, where there is a potential to increase the productivity to 5.0 t/ha, so that the 8 mha from the currently cultivated area with comparatively less potential for rice cultivation can be diverted for other crops.



Fig. 1: The buffer stock norms and the actual stocks of rice in the central pool during the last five years



Fig. 2: Trends in Basmati rice exports and foreign exchange earned.



Need for a Change in Paradigm

There is a need for paradigm shift in rice research, wherein it is time to focus from enhancing productivity to profitability enhancement which needs to take into account several factors including (a) economizing the cost of cultivation through development of rice varieties with resistance to major insect-pests, diseases and weeds thereby minimizing the potential risk of pesticide residues, (b) improving the water productivity by developing varieties suited for aerobic/ limited water environments, (c) making sure the timely availability of quality seeds and other agro-inputs in reasonable price, and (d) enacting policy measures for easy marketing and timely payment for the rice produce.

India is endowed with rich diversity of specialty rice including Anterved, Atmashital, Banspatri, Gangaprsad, Kadamphool, Kapursar, Loktimachhi, Shri Kamal, Tilkasturi, Gandhagasala, Keoni, Dudheswar, Dudda Dhan, Devbhog, Kavuni, Navara, Naa maa lhaa lay, Chakhao and Vishnubhog from different parts of the country. India is renowned across the globe for Basmati rice. Systematic research initiated by none other than the father of green revolution, Prof. M. S. Swaminathan, we have made huge strides in combining exceptional grain quality of Basmati with productivity improvement over the last eight and half decades. Scientific studies and proper follow up has resulted in development of exquisite Basmati rice varieties such as Pusa Basmati 1, Pusa Basmati 1121, Pusa Basmati 6 (Pusa 1401) and Pusa Basmati 1509, which has significantly improved the foreign exchange through the export (Fig. 2) resulting in not only improving the balance of trade for India but also created a Basmati revolution in the country by brining in prosperity to different stake holders including the farmers, seed producers, millers, exporters and consumers.

Noteworthy is the profit realisation by the Basmati growing farmers to more than four times since the release of Basmati 370. There is a need to emulate the Basmati rice model for creating the value chain for other specialty rice. Although there has been efforts made to develop nutritionally rich rice varieties such as low glycemic index rice variety, "Madhuraj 55" from the land race Chapati Gurmatiya, high zinc rice variety, "DRR Dhan 45", high protein rice variety, "CR Dhan 10", there is a need to strengthen our efforts towards nutrition rich high quality rice varieties. This can be possible through (a) validation of the medicinal properties of the specialty rice through metabolic profiling, (b) coordinated efforts among the national rice researchers in partnership to strengthen the efforts on improvement and designing appropriate package of practices, (c) more emphasis on the grain quality characters such as high density grain, higher brown rice per cent (> 80%), high head rice recovery, non-chalky grains, better mouthfeel, taste, palatability, faster cooking, longer shelf life and stalelessness of the rice entries being tested (d) constituting an independent body equipped with modern digital tools for organizing the coordinated trials to ease the burden on the rice researchers across the country, (e) time to time interaction with various stakeholders including farmers, millers, exporters and policy makers, (e) modernizing the rice breeding programmes by equipping them with modern technologies including artificial intelligence and modelling for assessing the rice genotypes, growing environments and testing facilities.

Conclusion

In conclusion, there is a need for coordinated efforts involving all stakeholders concerned including consumers, millers, farmers, exporters and scientists to realise the slogan "Dhan-Kisan-Vigyan-Udhyog". As scientific researchers we need to gear up ourselves with modern scientific tools to address the emerging challenges in rice research. Finally, based on my own experience, I would like to emphasise to the young researchers that with all the enablers in place, the motivation to find joy in the testimony by the stakeholders and to work as a team is very important in shaping a better rice for the future.



Dr. Vijai Pal Singh

Born on January 17, 1945, Dr. Vijay Pal Singh received his M.Sc.(Ag) in Agricultural Botany in 1966 and Ph.D. in Agricultural Botany in 1977 from Agra University, Agra. Dr. Singh joined as Seed Production Assistant in the National Seeds Corporation in 1967 and later joined as Research Assistant in the Division of Genetics, Indian



Agricultural Research Institute in 1968. Since then, he has been actively engaged in basic and applied aspects of rice research and retired as Project Leader (Rice) in January, 2007. Dr. Singh has served Agricultural and Processed Food Export Development Agency as Advisor in Basmati Development Fund and then a key member in establishing the state of art facilities at the Basmati Export Development Foundation at Modipuram, Meerut, Uttar Pradesh. Dr. Singh has done commendable work in understanding the genetics of quality traits in rice in general and Basmati rice in particular. He has been instrumental in developing the minimum quality standards for Basmati rice, which serves as the benchmark for the rice breeding programs across the world. Apart from application oriented basic research, he has been actively engaged in the development of a large number of highyielding aromatic and non-aromatic rice varieties including Pusa 2-21 and Pusa 44, which brought the revolution in basmati productivity. Dr. Singh's significant contribution in Basmati rice improvement began with the development and release of the first high-yielding, semi-dwarf, non-lodging variety with Basmati quality characteristics, Pusa Basmati 1 in 1989, which has brought about Rs. 14,000 crores of

foreign exchange earning to India and prosperity to millions of Basmati farmers of north-western India. His landmark contribution came in the form of phenomenal popularity of Pusa Basmati 1121, owing to its overwhelming acceptance in both national and global rice consumers, which led to the new era of prosperity for different stakeholders in Basmati rice supply chain including farmers, traders, millers and exporters. This is considered as one of the best models for improving the profitability and sustaining the rice supply chain across the world. Besides this, he has been instrumental in conceptualization and development of the country's first product of molecular breeding, Improved Pusa Basmati 1, by introgressing two genes, xa13 and Xa21 governing resistance to bacterial blight and another exquisite Basmati rice cultivar, Pusa Basmati 6 with excellent cooking and eating quality. He has guided four M.Sc. and seven Ph.D. students of which two have been awarded the Jawahar Lal Nehru Outstanding Doctoral Thesis Award by ICAR. He has published more than 30 research papers in reputed national and international journals, written 6 book chapters and has been member of the PG School faculty, IARI, New Delhi, from 1986-2007. Recognising the impact made through his outstanding contribution in Basmati rice improvement, he was honoured by conferred Padma Shri by the President of India in 2012. He has been awarded Hari Om Ashram Trust Award (1974-75), Jawahar Lal Nehru Award for outstanding doctoral thesis (1977), Dr. B.P. Pal Memorial Award (2005), ICAR Team Award for Crop Improvement (2007) and Sh. O.P. Bhasin Award (2012). He is fellow of the National Academy of Agricultural Sciences, New Delhi; Indian Society of Genetics and Plant Breeding, New Delhi and Association of Rice Research Workers, Cuttack.



Society for Advancement of Rice Research congratulates Dr Vijai pal Singh, first recipient of Dr SVS Shastry Award - 2019



ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

OPEN ACCESS

Rice production in India-varietal dynamics and diversity: Insights from empirical analysis of breeder seed indents

Lakshmi Prasanna PA* and LV Subba Rao

ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research, Hyderabad-500030 *Corresponding author (email: prasannaparaiveedu@yahoo.com)

Received: 18 September 2019; Accepted: 16 December 2019

Abstract

In the present study an attempt has been made to analyse rice varietal dynamics and diversity in India, using breeder seed indents data of selected years. An attempt has also been made to identify underlying factors of varietal dynamics and measures to improve varietal turnover by reviewing literature. It is observed that in recent years there is increase in rice varietal diversity at All India level. However higher weighted average age of top 10 varieties is indicating that varietal replacement is taking place with substitution by older varieties. In case of Basmati rice varieties also varietal diversity increased over the years in terms of number of varieties and decreasing share of top 3 varieties. In indent for *Kharif* 2015 and *Kharif* 2020, Seed Association of India share was 20 and 31 per cent, respectively. Multiple factors are influencing rice varietal dynamics. Hence for promoting adoption of improved rice varieties with reduced adoption lag there is a need for multi-pronged strategy. Targeted extension interventions based on share of farmers of different types of learning patterns, nudging varietal adoption behaviour by leveraging policies of subsidy and competition in seed sector, encouraging private sector participation in research and varietal commercialization, facilitating marketing of output of rice varieties of different durations by synchronizing marketing periods with crop harvesting period and participatory plant breeding are some of the suggested components in the multi-pronged strategy. In future different mechanisms for indenting for varieties and price fixation for breeder seed based on whether a variety is protected or not under PPV&FR Act, may also influence varietal dynamics.

Keywords: Varietal dynamics, Varietal diversity, Varietal concentration, Paddy, Rice, Weighted average age

Introduction

Rice is the main staple crop in India. In 2017-18 rice was cultivated in 43.79 million hectares in India, resulting in rice production of 112.91 million tonnes (DES, 2019). In 2016-17, Gross Value of Output (GVO) of rice crop (1.76 lakh crore rupees at 2011-12 prices) constituted 13.8 per cent of total GVO of crops and 50.8 per cent of GVO of cereals in India in monetary terms (GOI, 2019). In spite of its importance, rice yield in India is much below global average level. In 2017-18, rice yield across important rice cultivating states in India ranged from 1256 Kg per hectare (Chhattisgarh) to 4366 Kg/ha (Punjab), resulting in average paddy yields in India stood at 3790 Kg/ha against world average of 4577 Kg/ha (DES, 2019).

Using simulation models, some studies reported heterogeneous impact of changes in various climatic factors on autumn, winter and summer rice in various ecosystems in India (Dabi and Khannan, 2018) and Asia (Matthews et al., 1997). One third of rice area in India is affected by drought (Birthal et al., 2015). Hence, efforts are being made to develop rice varieties/hybrids with higher productivity, climate resilience and biotic stress tolerance, and suitable for different ecosystems in India, through All India Coordinated Rice Improvement Project (AICRIP). So far 1329 high yielding rice varieties, which include 107 rice hybrids were released under AICRIP (Rao et al., 2019). These varieties are developed not only by public sector but also by private sector. More specifically, in hybrid rice development, private sector is playing important role (Senguttuvel et al., 2019) and its share in total rice hybrids released stands at 66 per cent. The aggregate effect of these crop improvement efforts in rice economy will depend on spread and adoption extent of these varieties across various ecosystems in the country. Further rice varietal diversity in a given region/ecosystem can contribute to risk reduction in production besides influencing yield directly. Duncan et al. (2017) reported



that at All India level rice crop yield sensitivity to year to year fluctuations in climate shocks (drought and extreme heat exposure) has not decreased over time (during 1980 to 2009).

Studies on varietal adoption dynamics and varietal diversity in different crops including rice, used diverse data sources *viz.*, field level data (Byerlee and Heisey.,1990; Joshi *et al.*, 2018a), data collected through expert elicitation (Pandey *et al.*, 2012 & 2015; Pavithra *et al.*, 2017; Witcombe *et al.*, 2017; Pavithra *et al.*, 2018), certified seed distribution (Praveen *et al.*, 2017) and breeders seed indent/production data (Virk *et al.*, 1995, Witcombe *et al.*, 1998). Tsusaka et al. (2015) and Pandey et al. (2015) employed household surveys to validate the estimates obtained from expert elicitation in the context of South Asian countries. Singh and Kalra (2002) used crop cutting experiments data for analysing rice varietal adoption pattern in Punjab state of India.

Virk *et al.* (1995) and Witcombe *et al.* (1998) reported that at All India level weighted average age of rice varieties was 11.5 years during 1993. But the age of oldest cultivar was 25 years and its share in total breeder seed indent was 3 per cent. Further they reported that during 1993, there was breeder seed indent for 20 varieties of rice and most popular 3 varieties share in indent was 38 per cent during 1986-88 to 1990-93. Witcombe *et al.* (1998) observed that during 1986-88 to 1990-93, share of top 10 rice varieties in breeder seed indent was 60.4 per cent. Virk *et al.* (1995) argued that one of the major reasons for low adoption and replacement was lack of quick and wider dissemination of information about new rice varieties released and poor popularization.

Singh and Kalra (2002) reported that in Indian Punjab, there had been about 10 to 12 varieties in the field in any year during 1984-85 to 1998-99 and share of basmati variety ranged between 3 to 7 per cent in different years (despite of its lower yield compared to other high yielding varieties and not being covered under price support program) due to price advantage associated with it. They reported that rice variety PR-106 remained dominant for a decade and covered 63 per cent area in 1991-92 and was relegated to third position in 1998-99 by Pusa 44 and PR 111 varieties. They observed that aggregate level varietal diversity index in rice was not able to explain yield levels but average age of variety positively affected the yield of rice. They inferred that varieties with more stable yield stayed longer in field. Singh (2010) viewed that though Pusa 44 variety was not recommended for Punjab (in view of its high water requirement and susceptibility to bacterial leaf blight) it became popular with farmers due to higher yield and better quality. Manan *et al.* (2018) in the context of Kapurtala district of Indian Punjab (where farmers grow three crops per year), observed that farmers experience of problem in marketing of Paddy variety PR-126 (because of its early harvesting time than that notified by the Government) led to their preference for PR-121 variety.

Joshi et al., (2018a) reported that in Punjab, "varietal stickiness" i.e. inertia to change from long duration Pusa-44 variety rice- (which was released in 1994) was due to combination of three factors viz.; higher yields of the variety, assured procurement and tariff free electricity. On the contrary Joshi et al., (2018b) observed that the average age of basmati rice varieties cultivated in Punjab and Haryana was six years. This indicates that varietal replacement was faster in basmati rice. Joshi et al., (2018b) also observed higher varietal diversity in Haryana compared to Punjab. They inferred that public private partnership, farmers' beliefs regarding attributes (pest resistance, more yield of fodder, premium price for grain) and influence of early adopters (peer effect) have played role in faster diffusion of Pusa Basmati-1121 rice variety in Punjab and Haryana. Singh et al. (2018) reported that compared to traditional basmati rice, Pusa Basmati-1121 was of shorter duration and with double yield. These attributes also led to wider adoption of variety with a share of 63% of area under basmati rice in India in the year 2015. However, Pusa Basmati-1121 became susceptible to pests and diseases and hence being used as a parent in developing biotic stress resistant basmati varieties.

Gauchan and Pandey (2012) reported that a handful of older vintage improved rice varieties dominated in South Asia and the average varietal age was found to be in excess of 19 years in all locations studied. They reported that in India, rice variety Lalat was dominant in drought prone areas in Odisha, Mahsuri in submergence prone environment in Assam, Ranjit in submergence, prone environment in Assam and West Bengal, Swarna in all environments. Walker *et al.* (2015) observed average age of modern varieties of rice as 15.8 years and adoption rate of 38 per cent in Sub Saharan Africa. Malabayabas *et al.* (2012) reported weighted average age of paddy varieties in eastern India as 31 years indicating lower



adoption of modern varieties. Singh (2015) reported that 50% varieties released during 2001-2013 were in active seed chain in India. However, during 2012-2014, only 24 varieties in breeder seed indent (out of indent for 226-275 varieties) constituted approximately 60 per cent share. Out of these 24 varieties, 13 were new varieties (released after 2001). Pandey et al., (2015) reported the average rice varietal age in Nepal as 20 years based on expert elicitation method and 24 years based on a household survey. Tsusaka et al. (2015) observed that average varietal age (as of year 2010) in rice ranged between 15 (Bhutan) to 23 years (West Bengal, India) in the case of different south Asian countries. They further observed that average lag in adoption ranged from 11-15 years, with the exception of Bhutan (7 years). Further, they observed that area under rice varieties of more than 10 years, constituted more than 60 per cent of area planted. Witcombe et al., (2017) in the context of Nepal, analysing household data pertaining to 18 districts at two points of time (i.e., 2008 and 2011) reported increase in rice varietal diversity. They observed that 13 varieties made up 75 per cent of the area in 2011 instead of nine in 2008. They also observed spatial variation in varietal distribution. Further, the average varietal age of varieties covering 75 per cent of area was 21.8 years in both the years and only two varieties were of less than 15 years age. Weighted average age of predominant varieties was 23 and 22.5 years in 2008 and 2011, respectively. Pandey et al., (2017) in the context of Odisha state in India, observed that in 2014, top 10 rice varieties seeds in public system accounted for 95 per cent of total quantity produced, top three varieties constituted 70 per cent of total seed production. Further all the three top varieties were released prior to year 2000. Atlin et al. (2017) reported that in India, the weighted average age of rainfed rice in the year 2014 was 28 years.

Veettil *et al.* (2018) in a study focusing on Bihar, West Bengal and Odisha states (based on farm level data) observed that average age of varieties was highest in the case of Bihar (38.37 years) followed by 32.28 years in case of West Bengal and 23.66 years in case of Odisha. On an average, the varieties were replaced in every 7.30 years and the seeds were replaced in every 2.75 years. Bihar was the state with fastest varietal replacement (5.31 years) followed by Odisha and West Bengal (8.35 years). Bihar was the state with fastest seed replacement (1.57 years) followed by West Bengal and Odisha (3.09 years). They also observed that varietal replacement is done with older varieties instead of new varieties leading to a very high average age of rice varieties.

From the literature it is clear that, so far the metrics used for assessing crop dynamics in case of paddy were (i) total number of varieties at two points of time (ii) weighted average age/average age of all varieties at two points of time (iii) age of oldest variety and its share (iv) number of varieties contributing 75% area and their average age at two points of time (v) number of varieties of below 10/15 years age and their share (vi) number of years for replacing a variety with another variety (at farm level) (vii) number of states/regions in which a particular variety is grown and (viii) average rice area per one improved variety of rice (Janaiah and Hossain, 2004). In some other crops, additional metrics were used viz., (i) proportion of area sown to varieties not sown in earlier period (Johnson and Gustafson, 1963) (ii) proportion of the area that is sown to varieties released in the previous 5-10 years (Auer, 1963) or proportion of the area that is sown under varieties of less than 10 years old (Latha et al., 2018) (iii)) number of varieties which were sown on more than 5 per cent of total area individually (Brennan, 1984) and (iv) spatial indices like Herfindahl index calculated by squaring share of each variety in crop area or seed distributed and then summing these values across varieties, Margalef indices (ratio of number of varieties of a particular crop to logarithm of total area under the crop in a given locality in a given year) (Praveen et al., 2017).

In this backdrop, in the present study, an attempt has been made to analyse rice varietal dynamics and diversity in India using breeder seed indents data of selected years. An effort was also made to identify measures to improve varietal turnover by reviewing literature. Some additional metrics of varietal dynamics in paddy are used *viz.*, (i) Number of varieties common in two selected years and their share and (ii) Number of varieties common in both years, with increased quantity indented in the second year.

Methodology

Data: This study is based on breeder seed indent data for selected years *viz.*, 1997, 2007, 2015 and 2020. More specifically the current study was focused on rice varieties only (excluding rice hybrids, as hybrid rice adoption is limited to only 6 per cent of rice area in India confining to specific geographic areas). For the years 1997 (oldest year for which data was available



in public domain) and 2007 data were collected from Directorate of Rice Research (DRR) Annual report and AICRIP report respectively, which gave variety wise indent only but not indenter-wise varietal demand. For the years 2015 and 2020 indenter-wise data for different rice varieties was collected from seednet website (https://seednet.gov.in).

Methodology: Simple tabular approach was used for analysing the data collected. Indenter-wise number of varieties indented was used as a simple measure of varietal diversity. Share of top 1 variety, top 3/5/10 varieties and number of varieties constituting 75 per cent of total indent were used as other measures of varietal diversity/ concentration at all India level.

Weighted average age of top 10 varieties was used as a measure of temporal diversity *i.e.*, cultivar replacement frequency. Varietal age was calculated as duration from the year of notification to a reference year. Weighted average age of top 10 varieties was calculated by dividing the sum of quantity weighted age of top 10 varieties. That is, if age of top 10 varieties is represented as A1,A2,A3,A4,A5,A6,A7,A8,A9,A10 and quantity of seed indented of top 10 varieties is represented as Q1,Q2,Q3. Q4,Q5,Q6,Q7,Q8,Q9,Q10, then weighted average of top 10 varieties is calculated as

(A1 x Q1) + (A2 x Q2) + (A3xQ3) +.....+ (A10 x Q10) / (Q1 + Q2 + Q3+.....+ Q10).

Hence Weighted Average Age (WAA) of top 10 varieties = $\sum_{i=1}^{10} AQ \div \sum_{i=1}^{10} Q$ where i ranges from 1 to 10 (*i.e* top 10 $\sum_{i=1}^{10} AQ \div \sum_{i=1}^{10} Q$ varieties).

In this study, varietal newness was measured as age below 10 years. Some metrics of varietal diversity were calculated at indenter level. In this paper words 'paddy' and 'rice are used interchangeably in all portions except in introduction section where reference is made to paddy yields and rice yields with distinction.

Results and Discussion

Rice varietal dynamics and diversity

Some details regarding rice varietal dynamics at all India level are presented in Table1. In 1997 there were breeder seed indents for 56 varieties. It increased to 304 varieties in year 2020. There were only 34 varieties that were common in the indents for the years 1997 and 2007 contributing 77 and 53 per cent of total quantity of seed indented in the respective years. Out of the 34 varieties common in both the years, only in case of 15 rice varieties, quantity of seed indented in 2007 was more than that indented in 1997, indicating that in the case of other 19 common varieties indented quantity of seed decreased. Thus, in varieties common in both the selected years, some were in rising phase and some were in declining phase in accordance with established literature on varietal adoption pattern (initiation, increase and declining phase). Similar dynamics were observed between different years.

It is evident from Table 1 that when higher is the time period between selected years, lower is the number of varieties common in selected years. Further though total share of common varieties was always lower in second year (among selected years), there were some common varieties with increased seed quantity indent in second year. The results clearly indicate varietal dynamics with some deletions, some additions, and in common varieties some in increasing demand phase and some in decreasing demand phase in selected years.

Period	Total n of va	umber rieties	Number of varieties common	Share of comm total quan indent	non varieties in tity of seed red (%)	Number of common varieties in which quantity of seed indent increased in
	Year 1	Year 2	in both the years	Year 1	Year 2	period 2 compared to period 1
1997-2007	56	113	34	77	53	15
2007-2015	113	218	70	86	52	30
2015-2020	218	304	133	89	65	55
1997-2020	56	304	24	61	14	8
2007-2020	113	304	55	77	27	17

Table1: Rice varietal dynamics in India

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from (i) DRR Annual Report 1996-97, (ii) DRR Progress Report Varietal Improvement Vol 1, 2006 and (iii) https://seednet.gov.in



Rice varietal dynamics at state level was analysed using data on breeder seed indents for the years 2015 and 2020 and the results are presented in Table 2. In the year 2015, the number varieties for which indents were received ranged from 2 (Rajasthan) to 50 (Odisha). In the year 2020, the number of varieties for which indents were received ranged from 1 (Rajasthan) to 66 (West Bengal).

As it is evident from Table 2, the number of varieties common in indent for both the years (2015 and 2020) ranged from zero (Rajasthan) to 25 (West Bengal). The number of common varieties with respect to which indented quantity of seed increased in 2020 compared to 2015 ranged from zero (Assam, Haryana, Maharashtra, and Rajasthan) to 15 (West Bengal). In the case of indents from two organizations *i.e.*, Seed Association of India (SAI) and National Seed Corporation (NSC), the number of varieties for which indents were received in 2020 were more (134 and 60, respectively) compared to number of varieties in 2015 (106 and 33, respectively). But only in case of some states, the number of varieties for which indents were received in 2020 were more received in 2020 was more compared to number of varieties in 2015.

Indenter	Num vari	ber of ieties	Number of varieties common in both years	Share of co varieties in indented b seed quanti	mmon n total reeder ity (%)	Number of common varieties in which quantity of breeder seed indent increased	Top three common varieties in which breeder seed indent increased in 2020 compared to 2015
	2015	2020	both years	2015	2020	in 2020 compared to 2015	
Undivided Andhra Pradesh	22	37	17	90	61	8	MTU-1075, Jyothi, MTU-1061/RGL-2537
Assam	11	10	1	16	7	0	
Bihar	13	14	4	48	42	2	Sahabhagidhan, Sampada
Chhattisgarh	21	27	14	79	83	9	Swarna, Swarna Sub-1,IGKVR-1
Haryana	7	10	3	75	30	0	
Himachal Pradesh	5	4	3	58	70	3	HPR-2143, HPR-1156, Basmati Kasturi
Jammu & Kashmir	6	4	3	36	88	1	Basmati-370
Jharkhand	9	15	7	72	45	4	Rajendra Mahsuri-1, Sahabhagidhan, Naveen
Karnataka	18	22	16	99	84	9	Jyothi, Tunga, MTU-1010
Madhya Pradesh	8	35	7	99	36	4	Pusa Sugandh-5, Mtu-1010, MTU-1001
Maharashtra	26	26	14	81	77	0	
Odisha	50	46	18	87	63	1	Mrunalini
Punjab	9	13	4	81	42	2	Pusa Basmati-1121, PR-114
Rajasthan	2	1	0	0	0	0	
Tamil Nadu	5	5	2	54	76	2	Nellore Mahsuri, Swarna Sub-1
Tripura	10	12	8	90	83	4	Narendra Dhan-97, Naveen, Sahabhagidhan
Uttar Pradesh	28	20	4	11	40	4	Pusa Basmati-1509, NDR-2065, Pusa Basmati-1
Uttarakhand	33	13	8	40	23	1	HKR-127
West Bengal	34	66	25	90	63	15	Shatabdi, Swarna, Rajendra Bhagavathi
SAI	106	134	55	92	63	21	Pusa Basmati-1509, Puas-44, Swarna
NSC	33	60	18	77	59	3	Jyothi, Jaya, Gontra Bidhan-1

Fable 2: Rice varieta	l dynamics across	different indenters	s in selected years
-----------------------	-------------------	---------------------	---------------------

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from https://seednet.gov.in



Table 3: Rice varietal diversity concentration at all India level in selected years

Dortionland	T Init			Year	
Farucuars	Umi	1997	2007	2015	2020
Total quantity seed indented	Quintals	816.70	2100.41	4279.64	4805.32
Top 1 variety seed quantity indented and name of the variety	Quintals Name	73.70 IR-64	217.03 IR-64	498.63 MTU-1010	351.73 MTU-1010
Top 1 variety share (%) in total indent	Per cent	9	10	12	7
Age of top most variety	Years	6	16	15	20
Top 5 varieties seed quantity indented	Quintals	291.65	841.32	1509.04	1196.13
Top 5 varieties seed share (%) in total indent	Per cent	36.0	40	35	25
Top 10 varieties seed quantity indented	Quintals	462.65	1223.6	2221.25	1779.14
Top 10 varieties share (%) in total indent	Per cent	57	58	52	37
Weighted average age of top 10 varieties	Years	13	17	15	19
Average age of top 10 varieties	Years	13	17	16	16
Maximum age (top 10 varieties)	Years	28	27	35	40
Minimum age (top 10 varieties)	Years	6	7	4	4
Age range of top 10 varieties		22	20	31	36
Number of varieties of below 10 years age in top 10 varieties		5	2	3	4
Quantity of varieties of below 10 years age in top 10 varieties in total quantity seed	Quintals	209.30	237.17	704.7	530.6
Share of varieties of below 10 years age in top 10 varieties, in total quantity seed	Per cent	26	11	16	11

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from (i) DRR Annual Report 1996-97, (ii) DRR Progress Report Varietal Improvement Vol 1, 2006 and (iii) https://seednet.gov.in

Details of rice varietal diversity/concentration at all India level in selected years are presented in Table 3. At all India level indents for breeder seed quantity increased by around 6 times for Kharif 2020 compared to 1997. During the same years, share of top 5 varieties and top 10 varieties in total quantity of seed indented was decreased for 2020 compared to 1997, indicating increasing varietal diversity. But average age as well as weighted average age of top 10 varieties increased in indent for Kharif 2020 compared to Kharif 1997 indent. In indent for the year 1997 age range of top ten varieties was between 6 to 28 years while, the same in indent for 2020 ranged from 4 to 40 years. This indicates decrease in lower age limit of varieties indented but increase in upper age limit. This can be due to targeted policy intervention of introducing new varieties coupled with stable performance of older varieties. Among top 10 varieties, only 5 varieties were of age lower than 10 years in 1997. Corresponding figure in the case of indent for 2020 stood at 4. Share of these varieties of below 10 years age (in top 10 varieties) in total quantity of seed indent for 1997 and 2020 stood at 26 and 11 per cent, respectively. This lower share of new varieties (of below 10 years age) has led to higher weighted average age of top 10 varieties in indent for *Kharif* 2020.

Results of another way of looking at varietal dynamics/ diversity at all India level are presented in Table 4. The number of varieties constituting 75 per cent to total breeder seed was 18 in 1997 increased to 21 in 2007, 27 in 2015 and 52 in 2020, once again indicating decreasing varietal concentration. But both average age as well as weighted average age of these varieties has not followed any consistent pattern. Share of varieties of below 10 years age (in varieties constituting 75 per cent of total seed indent) in total seed indent also did not follow any consistent pattern, stood at 35 per cent in 1997 and at 30 per cent in indent for *Kharif* 2020.



Particulars	Unit	1997	2007	2015	2020
Total indented quantity of seed	Quintals	816.7	2100.41	4279.64	4805.32
Number of varieties indented	Number	56	113	218	304
Number of varieties constituting 75% of total quantity of breeder seed indent	Number	18	21	27	52
Average age of varieties	Years	13	17	14	13
Weighted average age	Years	13	17	15	16
Maximum age	Years	28	38	35	51
Minimum age	Years	3	3	3	2
Age range	Years	25	35	32	49
Number of varieties of below 10 years age in varieties constituting 75% of total quantity of breeder seed indent	Number	9	5	11	27
Seed quantity of below 10 years age varieties in varieties constituting 75%	Quintals	282.3	331.92	1091.28	1417.6
of total quantity of breeder seed indent	Share (%)	35	16	25	30

Table 4: Another approach to look at Rice varietal dynamics and concentration in India

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from (i) DRR Annual Report 1996-97, (ii) DRR Progress Report Varietal Improvement Vol 1,2006 and (iii) https://seednet.gov.in

A weighted average age of less than 10 years and adoption rates of improved varieties to the extent of 35 per cent are generally considered as indicators of good progress in plant breeding (Walker et al. 2015). From this perspective weighted average age of more than 10 years of varieties constituting 75 per cent of breeder seed indent (Table 4) and lower share of varieties of below 10 years age are some indicators of Indian rice seed system that needs attention. However, literature indicates that optimum period for varietal replacement in a crop will vary over time and is dependent on (i) the yearly genetic gain in yield or improvement in other desirable characteristics (ii) the rate of varietal decay caused by breakdown in disease/pest resistance (iii) genetic diversity for disease resistance in varieties that are currently grown (iv) cost of breeding and multiplying seeds of new varieties (v) cost of providing extension to substitute new varieties (vi) farmers' seed purchase and learning costs (Heisy, 1990) and (vii) cost of seed and capital, margin required to encourage farmers to replace seed (Heisy and Brennan,1991). Hence, there can be regional variation in rice varietal dynamics. This aspect is examined and results are presented in Table 5.

In indent for *Kharif* 2015 and *Kharif* 2020, Seed Association of India (SAI) share was 20 and 31 per cent, respectively. Among states, Odisha was the topmost indenter (25%)

with topmost variety age of 16 years in 2015 and 11 years for 2020 indent; Chhattisgarh was the topper with 21 per cent of total all India breeder seed indent with topmost variety age of 20 years. Consequently at all India level age of topmost rice variety indented was 15 and 20 years in 2015 and 2020 indents, respectively. States together with SAI indents constituted 98 and 99 per cent of total quantity of seed indented at all India level in 2015 and 2020, respectively.

In indent for *Kharif* 2015, across states, top most variety share ranged between 11 per cent (Odisha, Uttarakhand) to 94 per cent (Rajasthan). In indent for Kharif 2020 top most variety share ranged between 11 per cent (Odisha) to 100 per cent (Rajasthan). Age of top most rice variety ranged between 2 years (Haryana, Punjab) to 35 years (Tripura and Uttarakhand) in indent for Kharif 2015. Age of top one rice variety ranged between 2 years (Assam) to 47 years (Jammu and Kashmir) in indent for Kharif 2020. In 2015, in case of 7 states (Bihar, Haryana, Himachal Pradesh, Punjab, Tamil Nadu, Uttar Pradesh and West Bengal) top most variety age was below 10 years. In 2020 indent, in case of 7 states (Undivided Andhra Pradesh, Assam, Bihar, Punjab, Rajasthan, Uttar Pradesh and Uttarakhand) top most variety age was below 10 years. Thus, only in case of Bihar, Punjab and Uttar Pradesh, age of topmost variety was below 10 years in both 2015 and 2020 indents.

Indenter	Total qua (Quí	ntity seed ntals)	Top	most · share 6)	Age o most v (yea	of top ⁄ariety ars)	Top varietie (%	o 10 ss share 6)	Wei average top 10 (ye	ghted çe age of varieties :ars)	Top 10 range 203) varieti in inde 15 (year	es age nt for s)	Top 1 range 2(0 varieti e in inder 20 (year	ss age nt for s)
	2015	2020	2015	2020	2015	2020	2015	2020	2015	2020	Max	Min	Range	Max.	Min.	Range
Undivided Andhra Pradesh	317.5	237.06	31	13	15	4	87	70	19	15	35	Ś	30	31	7	29
Assam	204	270	34	15	21	2	98	100	21	6	41	6	35	14	2	12
Bihar	312	330.1	22	22	9	6	91	98	13	7	37	4	33	12	3	6
Chhattisgarh	739.44	988.4	19	18	15	20	74	82	12	19	19	ω	16	40	5	35
Haryana	1.28	0.8	63	10	2	13	100	100	9	13	21	5	19	31	3	28
Himachal Pradesh	24	40	33	35	6	14	100	100	11	14	26	6	17	31	7	24
Jammu &Kashmir	9.6	4.3	52	58	10	47	100	100	19	38	42	5	40	47	19	28
Jharkhand	87	116.81	23	20	24	40	100	89	16	20	26	4	22	40	4	36
Karnataka	57.75	71.9	20	18	24	29	88	83	20	26	46	7	39	51	4	47
Madhya Pradesh	106	447.3	42	15	15	20	100	66	20	13	33	Ś	28	23	2	21
Maharashtra	129.05	51.2	20	29	22	27	76	82	17	26	46	5	41	51	4	47
Odisha	1067.6	274.7	11	11	16	11	80	63	14	19	35	4	31	40	5	35
Punjab	2.02	2.28	50	18	2	6	100	95	~	6	20	5	18	19	2	17
Rajasthan	0.8	0.1	94	100	10	7	100	100	10	7	10	~	2	7	7	0
Tamil Nadu	13	15.5	38	58	5	10	100	100	12	6	26	4	22	11	2	6
Tripura	2.05	2.6	29	19	35	27	100	96	20	20	35	4	31	40	5	35
Uttar Pradesh	122.6	153.3	15	20	9	L	69	81	13	9	41	4	37	6	1	8
Uttarakhand	17.86	15.2	11	53	35	9	61	94	18	8	35	2	33	40	5	35
West Bengal	89	211	17	13	6	20	6L	57	16	19	35	4	31	40	5	35
SAI	872.89	1503.72	16	6	10	26	62	54	16	21	35	9	29	51	3	48
All India	4279.64	4805.32	12	7	15	20	52	37	15	19	35	4	31	40	4	36





In indent for Kharif 2015, across states top 10 varieties share ranged between 61 per cent (Uttarakhand) to 100 per cent (Tripura) and their weighted average age ranged between 6 years (Haryana) to 21 years (Assam). In indent for Kharif 2020, across states top 10 varieties share ranged between 57 per cent (West Bengal) to 100 per cent (Chhattisgarh) and their weighted average age ranged between 6 years (Assam and Uttar Pradesh) to 38 years (Jammu and Kashmir). In 2015 indent, only with respect to two states (Haryana and Punjab) weighted average age of top 10 varieties was below 10 years. In 2020 indent, weighted average age of top 10 varieties was below 10 years in case of 7 states. Punjab was the only state indenter with weighted average age of top 10 varieties of below 10 years in both 2015 and 2020. In 2015, top 10 rice varieties with maximum diversified age range of 41 years (maximum 46 years and minimum 5 years) was observed in case of Maharashtra. In 2020 indent, top 10 rice varieties with maximum diversified age range of 47 years (maximum 51 years and minimum 4 years) was

observed in case of Karnataka.

Details of top 10 varieties at all India level in terms of breeder seed indent (quantity) in selected years are presented in Table 6. Both in year 1997 and 2007, top 3 varieties were IR-64, MTU-7029 and IR-36 in that order. MTU-1010 (Cottondora Sannalu) variety which was in fourth place in 2007, became top most variety in 2015 and maintained its position in 2020 indent also. Jaya rice variety, was in fifth place in 1997, moved to 15th place in 2020 indent (with an age of 51 years) contributing 1.4 per cent of total breeder seed indent. In 2020 indent, major indenters for Jaya variety were Seed Association of India, Karnataka and Maharashtra. In 2020 indent, age of top two varieties *i.e* MTU-1010 and MTU-7029 varieties were 20 years and 40 years, respectively and their individual shares in breeder seed indent were 7.32 and 7.26 per cent, respectively. In 1997, 2015 indents, among top 10 rice varieties, one variety was Basmati variety. In 2020 breeder seed indent, among top 10 varieties, 2 were Basmati rice varieties.

Table 6: Top 1	0 varieties at all Ind	ia level based on o	quantity of breeder s	seed indented
----------------	------------------------	---------------------	-----------------------	---------------

Rank		Ye	ear	
	1997	1997 2007 2015		2020
1	IR-64	IR-64	MTU-1010	MTU-1010
2	MTU-7029 (Swarna)	MTU-7029 (Swarna)	Swarna-Sub 1	MTU-7029 (Swarna)
3	IR-36	IR-36	MTU-1001	Swarna-Sub 1
4	Kalinga-III	MTU-1010	MTU-7029 (Swarna)	Sahabhagi Dhan
5	Jaya	Samba Mahsuri	Sahabhagi Dhan	Pusa Basmati-1509
6	Heera	MTU-1001	Samba Mahsuri	Pusa-44
7	Samba Mahsuri	Kranti	Pusa Basmati-1121	DRR Dhan-42
8	Rasi	Shatabdi	IR-64	Sri Dhruthi
9	Pusa Basmati-1	NLR-145	Pratikshya	MTU-1001
10	Annada	Lalat	Pooja	Pusa Basmati-1121

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from (i) DRR Annual Report 1996-97, (ii) DRR Progress Report Varietal Improvement Vol 1,2006 and (iii) https://seednet.gov.in

Details of top 10 varieties at all India level in terms of number of indenters are presented in Table 7. MTU-1010 was the variety with highest number of indenters followed by Swarna-Sub1 in 2015 indent as well as in indent for 2020.

Basmati rice is a special rice type with IPR protection under Geographical Indications (GI) in India. Basmati rice is significant contributor in earnings from exports of rice from India. In 2018-19, earnings from basmati rice exports was 4.72 billion US\$ against export earnings of 3.05 billion US\$ from non-basmati rice exports (APEDA, 2020). Hence Basmati rice varietal dynamics was analysed separately and the results are presented in Table 8. So far 32 Basmati rice varieties were notified (AIREA, 2019). Number of Basmati varieties with respect to which breeder seed indent received in 1997 was three, it gradually increased to 14 in 2020. In 2020, share of Basmati indents in total quantity of rice breeder seed indent stood at 8.27 per cent. Age of top most Basmati rice variety indented was higher than age of topmost (all) rice variety seed indented in 1997 and 2007, but was lower in 2015 and 2020. Top 3 Basmati rice varieties share in total Basmati varieties breeder seed was 100 per cent in 1997, gradually declined over years and was 70.87 per cent in 2020 indent, indicating decrease in varietal concentration. Pusa Basmati-1 was the topmost variety in 1997 and was relegated to second position in 2015. Pusa Basmati-1121 which was in third position in 2007 became topmost variety in 2015, but was relegated to second position in 2020. Pusa Basmati -1509 variety which was in third position in 2015, became topmost variety in 2015, became topmost variety in 2015, became topmost variety in 2020 indent.



Table 7: Top 10 varieties at all India level based on number of indenters

			Year			
	2015		2020			
Rank	Variety	Number of indenters	Rank	Variety	Number of indenters	
1	MTU-1010	16	1	MTU-1010	12	
2	Swarna Sub-1	14	2	Swarna Sub-1	11	
3	MTU-7029 (Swarna)	13	3	DRR Dhan-42	10	
4	Sahabaghi Dhan	12	4	MTU-7029(Swarna)	10	
5	Samba Mahsuri	12	5	Sahabaghi Dhan	9	
6	MTU-1001	12	6	MTU-1001	9	
7	Pusa Basmati-1121	11	7	DRR Dhan-44	8	
8	IR-64	10	8	CO-51	7	
9	Pusa Basmati-1509	8	9	DRR Dhan-45	6	
10	Shatabdi	7	10	Sambha Sub-1	6	

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from https://seednet.gov.in

Table 8: Varietal dynamics in Basmati rice varieties

	Unit	1997	2007	2015	2020
Total number of varieties	Number	56	113	218	304
Number of Basmati varieties	Number	3	7	12	14
Total indented quantity of all varieties	Quintals	816.7	2100.41	4279.64	4805.32
Basmati varieties quantity indented	Quintals	41.70	43.93	274.50	397.41
Share of Basmati varieties in total indented quantity	Per centage	5.11	2.09	6.41	8.27
Maximum Age of Basmati variety	Years	24	34	42	47
Minimum Age of Basmati variety	Years	8	2	2	2
Age of topmost Basmati variety	Years	8	18	10	7
		Top 3 Basma	ati Varieties and the	ir share in total Basm	ati seed indent
		Pusa Basmati-1 (71.94)	Pusa Basmati-1 (58.11)	Pusa Basmati - 1121 (58.94)	Pusa Basmati-1509 (33.95)
		Kasturi (16.79)	Vasumathi (18.10)	Pusa Basmati-1 (18.21)	Pusa Basmati - 1121 (24.47)
		Basmati-370 (11.27)	Pusa Basmati - 1121 (9.86)	Pusa Basmati-1509 (8.16)	Pusa Basmathi-1637 (12.45)
Share of top 3 Basmati varieties in total Basmati varieties	Per centage	100	86.07	85.31	70.87
Weighted average age of top 3 Basmati varieties	Years	10	13	13	9

*Figures in parentheses indicate per centages

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from (i) DRR Annual Report 1996-97,(ii) DRR Progress Report Varietal Improvement Vol 1, 2006 and (iii) https://seednet.gov.in



Details of state-wise top 5 rice varieties based on quantity of breeder seed indent are presented in Table 9. MTU-1010 was the topmost variety in the case of undivided Andhra Pradesh, Chhattisgarh and Madhya Pradesh in 2015 indent. However, in indents for the year 2020, MTU-1010 rice variety was the topmost variety only in case of Chhattisgarh and Madhya Pradesh. In case of undivided Andhra Pradesh, KNM-118 became the topmost variety indented for year 2020. MTU-7029 was the topmost variety in case of Tripura, Uttarakhand in 2015 indent, but was topmost variety in case of only Jharkhand in 2020.

		Rank					
Indenter	Year	1	2	3	4	5	
Undivided	2015	MTU-1010	Samba Mahsuri	MTU-1001	MTU-7029	Swarna-Sub 1	
Andhra Pradesh	2020	KNM-118	Samba Mahsuri	MTU-1010	RNR-15048	MTU 1075	
Assam	2015	Ranjeet	Swarna-Sub-1	IR-64	Masuri	Bahadur	
	2020	Bahadur Sub-1	Ranjit Sub-1	CR Dhan-310	Gitesh	CR Dhan 505	
Bihar	2015	Swarna-Sub 1	Sahabhagi Dhan	MTU-1010	Samba Mahsuri	MTU-1001	
	2020	Sahabaghi Dhan	Rajendra Baghavathi	Sabour Ardhjal	Sabour Surbhit	Sabour Shree	
Chhattisgarh	2015	MTU-1010	Mahamaya	Narendra-8002	MTU-1001	PKV HMT	
	2020	MTU-1010	MTU-7029	Swarna-SUB 1	IGKVR-1	Mahamaya	
Haryana	2015	Pusa Basmati-1509	HKR-127	HKR-47	PR-113	PR-114	
	2020	Pusa Basmati-1718	Pusa Basmati 1637	Pusa Basmati 1728	Pusa 1592	Pusa Basmati-1509	
Himachal	2015	HPR 2143	HPR-1068	HPR-1156	RP-2421	Basmati Kasturi	
Pradesh	2020	HPR 2143	HPR-2612	HPR-1156	Basmati Kasturi		
Jammu and	2015	Pusa Basmati-1121	Basmati-370	Chenab	Pusa Basmati-1509	Giza-14	
Kashmir	2020	Basmati-370	Chenab	PR-113	Giza-14		
Jharkhand	2015	IR-64	Lalat	Abhishek	Rajendra Mahsuri-1	Sahabaghi Dhan	
	2020	MTU-7029	IR64 DRT 1	Sahabhagi Dhan	Rajendra Mahsuri-1	MTU-1010	
Karnataka	2015	IR-64	Samba Mahsuri	MTU-1001	Uma	JGL-1798	
	2020	IR-64	MTU-1001	RNR-15048	MTU-1010	Jaya	
Madhya	2015	MTU-1010	IR-64	MTU-1001	Kranti	IR-36	
Pradesh	2020	MTU-1010	Pusa Sugandh-5	IR64 DRT 1	MTU-1001	Sahabhagi Dhan	
Maharashtra	2015	Indrayani	MTU-1010	PKV HMT	Jaya	Karjat-3	
	2020	Indrayani	MTU-1010	Jaya	CO 51	RTN-5	
Odisha	2015	Pooja	Sahabhagi Dhan	Swarna-Sub 1	MTU-1010	Pratikshya	
	2020	Swarna-Sub 1	Pooja	MTU-1010	MTU-1001	MTU-7029	
Punjab	2015	Pusa Basmati-1509	PR-114	PR-111	PR-113	Pusa Basmati - 1121	
	2020	PR 121	PR-114	PR-126	Pusa Basmati -1121	PR-127	
Rajasthan	2015	Pusa Basmati - 1121	Improved Pusa Basmati-1				
	2020	Pratap -1					
Tamil Nadu	2015	NLR-34449	Samba Mahsuri	Swarna - Sub 1	Sahabahagi Dhan	JGL-1798	
	2020	NLR-34449	Swarna-Sub 1	DRR Dhan-45	Sambha Sub - 1	DRR Dhan 50	
Tripura	2015	MTU-7029	Naveen	Sahabhagi Dhan	Narendra Dhan-97	Shatabdi	
	2020	Naveen	MTU-7029	Sahabhagidhan	Narendra Dhan-97	CO 51	

Fable 9: State wise top	5	varieties	in	2015 and	2020	breeder	seed	indents
--------------------------------	---	-----------	----	----------	------	---------	------	---------



Uttar Pradesh	2015	Swarna-Sub 1	Improved Samba Mahsuri	Narendra Dhan -359	Samba Mahsuri	NDR 2065
	2020	Pusa Basmati-1509	Pant Dhan-24	NDR 2065	PR 121	Sambha Sub - 1
Uttarakhand	2015	MTU-7029	VL.Dhan 85	Sarjoo-52	Vivek Dhan-62	Swarna-Sub 1
	2020	VL Dhan 68	VL Dhan 157	PR 121	HKR-127	VL Dhan 85
West Bengal	2015	Pratikshya	Swarna-Sub 1	MTU-7029	MTU-1010	Gontra Bidhan-1
	2020	Shatabdi	MTU-7029	Pratikshya	Swarna-Sub 1	MTU-1010

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from https://seednet.gov.in

Table 10: Top 10 varieties in breeders seed i	indent of S	SAI
---	--------------------	-----

	2015		2020			
Variety	Share in total SAI indent (%)	SAI share in total All India indent (%)	Variety Name	Share in total SAI indent (%)	SAI share in total All India indent (%)	
Pusa Basmati - 1121	16	84	Pusa-44	9	100	
Swarna-Sub 1	9	21	MTU-7029 (Swarna)	8	35	
MTU-7029 (Swarna)	8	33	Pusa Basmati-1509	7	76	
Pusa-44	6	99	Sri Dhruthi	7	89	
Pusa Basmati-1	6	98	Pusa Basmati -1121	6	94	
Gontra Bidhan-1	5	88	PR-113	4	99	
IR-64	4	26	Jaya	4	85	
MTU-1010	4	7	Indrayani	3	77	
PR-118	3	98	Pusa Basmati -1718	3	99	
Shatabdi	3	67	Pusa Basmati 1637	3	89	
Top10 varieties total	62	34		54	73	

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data from https://seednet.gov.in

In 2015 indent, Swarna-Sub 1 was the topmost variety in case of Bihar and Uttar Pradesh. In 2020 indent, Swarna-Sub 1 was the topmost variety in case of Odisha. Only in case of 6 states, there was no change in topmost variety in 2015 and 2020 indents. They are Chhattisgarh (MTU-1010), Himachal Pradesh (HPR-2143), Karnataka (IR-64), Madhya Pradesh (MTU-1010), Maharashtra (Indrayani), and Tamil Nadu (NLR-34449). Only in case of three states, there was no change in second top variety. They are undivided Andhra Pradesh (Samba Mahsuri), Maharashtra (MTU-1010) and Punjab (PR-114).

Varietal dynamics in seed indent of SAI in 2015 and 2020 was analysed separately and results are presented in Table 10 and 11. Share of topmost rice variety in SAI indent was 16 and 9 per cent in indents for 2015 and 2020, respectively with topmost variety of age of 10 and 26 years. Share of top 10 varieties indents in SAI indent was 62 and 54 per cent in 2015 and 2020 respectively. Among top 10 varieties of SAI indents in 2015 and 2020 only 3 varieties were common indicating high varietal dynamics. A comparison of top ten

varieties at all India level (Table 6) and top ten varieties in SAI indents (Table 10) yields some interesting insights. In 2015, there were 4 varieties common in both the tables and in 2020 the number of common varieties increased to 5. In 2015 common varieties, SAI share in total all India level indent ranged from 21 to 84 per cent and in 2020 the range varied 35 to 100 per cent. From the Table 10 it is evident that, indents for certain varieties like Pusa-44, PR-118, PR-113 which is cultivated in Punjab and Haryana, were reflected in SAI indent (constituting more than 90 per cent of indented quantity for these varieties), rather than direct indents from the states. Same is the situation with Basmati rice varieties also as more quantity is indented by SAI than states like Punjab and Haryana. In 2015 at all India level there were indents for 12 Basmati varieties, SAI indent was there for seven Basmati varieties accounting for 80 per cent of Basmati varieties, seed indent at all India level. In 2020 at all India level, there were indents for 14 Basmati varieties, SAI indent was there for 11 Basmati varieties accounting for 84 per cent of Basmati varieties seed indent at all India level.



Table 11: Frequency distribution of number of varietiesin SAI indent based on their share in total all Indiabreeder seed indent

Share of SAI indent in	Number of varieties				
total indent (%)	2015 indents	2020 indents			
100	29	44			
90-99	9	12			
80-89	4	13			
70-79	4	5			
60-69	5	2			
50-59	2	1			
40-49	3	9			
30-39	9	4			
20-29	7	12			
10-19	13	9			
<9	21	23			
Total number of varieties	106	134			

Source: Computed from breeder seed indent data https://seednet.gov.in

In 2015, SAI indent was for 106 varieties, out of this only in case of 53 varieties, share of SAI in total quantity of breeder seed indent was below 50 per cent (Table 11). Similarly in 2020, SAI indent was for 134 varieties, out of this only in case of 57 varieties, share of SAI in total quantity of breeder seed indent was below 50 per cent. Thus SAI indent was above 50% of total breeder seed indent in case of 53 varieties in 2015 and in case of 77 varieties in 2020. This might have some extent masked the indent for these varieties from states. Totally in 2015 indent, 100 per cent indent was from SAI for 29 varieties and in 2020 for 44 varieties. In other words if SAI indent was not there for these varieties, total number of varieties for which breeder seed indents received would have decreased to 189 and 260 in place of 218 and 304 in 2015 and 2020, respectively.

In January 2019, the Protection of Plant Varieties and Farmers' Rights Authority (PPV&FRA) through its notice on plant breeder's rights stated that the procedure of compiling indents by Central and State Government organizations for seed production and fixing of breeder seed price under Seeds Act (1966) henceforth will be restricted only to varieties which are not registered under (Protection of Plant Varieties and Farmers' Rights Act) PPV&FR Act 2001 or those whose period of protection under the registration has expired on the date (PPV&FRA, 2019). Thus, in future there will be different mechanisms for indenting for varieties based on whether a variety is protected or not under PPV&FR Act. Accordingly mechanism of price fixation for breeder seed also will differ and in turn may influence varietal dynamics.

Measures for improving rice varietal turnover

In the case of wheat cultivation in Punjab of India, Smale et al., (2008) observed that slow varietal change had offset the positive productivity effects of diversifying the genetic base in wheat breeding during post green revolution period. Hence nudging varietal turnover in a particular direction by discouraging breeder seed indent for older varieties or withdrawal of old varieties can be a option for promoting varietal turnover (Krishna et al. 2014, Atlin et al. 2017). They also suggested the measures of withdrawal of seed subsidy for obsolete varieties, setting targets for the average varietal age in foundation seed production and farmers' fields (below 10 years). Spielman and Smale (2017) suggested leveraging seed subsidy program by targeting subsidy on a variety-specific basis with the goal of removing older varieties. Some efforts in this direction were observed in the case of Telangana and Andhra Pradesh states in recent years, wherein subsidy rates for paddy seeds are different, more for varieties less than 10 years old and less for varieties of more than ten years old. In recent draft seed bill (2019) of India, proposal of a validity period of ten years for registered variety of annual crops like rice also can be considered as a targeted policy approach for improving varietal turnover. However, it is being viewed that it is difficult to decide regarding the resistance threshold at which a variety should be withdrawn from circulation.

Supply side constraint with respect to new varieties can act as hindrance in promoting varietal turnover (Krishna et al. 2014). Atlin et al. (2017) observed that competitive commercial seed industry in temperate regions was able to address this supply side constraint. Further, Atlin et al. (2017) argued that rapid release of varieties by utilizing breeding tools based on sound quantitative genetics principles thereby reducing breeding cycle length is a key to cropping system adaptation to climate change. Witcombe et al. (2013) opined that efficiency of breeding programs would be increased by making fewer crosses among more carefully chosen parents. Muralidharan et al. (2019) in the context of India, suggested focussed rice breeding in four mega environments namely rainfed unfavourable uplands, rainfed favourable uplands, irrigated areas and rainfed lowlands.



Spielman and Smale (2017) suggested some policy measures for accelerating varietal turnover. They are (i) accelerating varietal registration and release (like recent agreement between India, Nepal, Bangladesh, Srilanka and Cambodia (IRRI, 2017) and harmonizing rice varietal registration procedure and mutual recognition of registration among countries) (ii) improving quality assurance systems (iii) increasing access to early generation seed (through licensing) (iv) leveraging seed enterprises marketing capabilities and (v) leveraging competition policy and antitrust regulation. But they also indicate that there can be trade-off between spatial and temporal diversification, making it complex to decide about appropriate policy choices. Some researchers also suggested leveraging competition and fast tracking release of varieties resistant or tolerant to biotic and abiotic stress for accelerating varietal turnover (Das et al., 2019, Berhanu et al., 2019).

Joshi et al., (2001) reported that in Nepal spread of rice varieties from a participatory plant breeding commenced five to six years earlier than would have been the case in a conventional system. Witcombe and Yadavendra (2014) reported that in India, Ashoka rice varieties developed through Client Oriented Breeding (COB) replaced landraces or varieties adopted from conventional breeding. Ashoka 200F rice variety was notified in 2005 (for Jharkhand, though it was identified for release in 2002) and 2006 (for Gujarat, Rajasthan and Madhya Pradesh) and in 2013, breeders seed indent for it was 16th highest of 225 notified rice varieties. Pray et al., (2011) reported that Gramin Vikas Trust (GVT) the developer of Asoka varieties was unsuccessful in getting approval for the varieties as there was no provision for release of new varieties by NGO under Indian seed regulation. Later GVT collaborated with Birsa Agricultural University (BAU) and Asoka rice varieties were released as BAU varieties.

Singh *et al.* (2014) reported that a salt tolerant rice variety CSR-43 developed through participatory variety selection (during 2001-2007) was widely adopted in sodic areas of Indo-Gangetic plains and was officially released in 2011. Conny *et al.* (2019) argued that many of currently used research methods are weak on capturing real-life context and provided fragmented snapshot nature understanding of farmer's preferences and demand for seeds. Carlo *et al.* (2019) suggested triadic comparison of varieties (involving repeated participatory evaluation under farm condition) can help in delivering the best seeds based on the actual climatic conditions of a particular village. Narappa *et al.*, (2018) reported that in Karnataka, seed village program helped in introduction of new rice variety "Gangavathisona" in 2011-12. They inferred that increase in salinity affected area in Tungabadra Project (TBP) Command area, susceptibility of rice variety samba mahsuri (BPT 5204) to pests and diseases, higher yields of Gangavathisona rice variety (compared to BPT-5204) under direct seeded rice practice and soil salinity led to spread of Gangavathisona rice variety to the extent of 15.1 per cent rice area in TBP area in 2014-15.

Nayak and Mosharaf (2019) observed in Odisha, in Evidence Hubs (EH), a new generation platform where in multiple varieties of rice were exhibited for performance evaluation by different stakeholders under different management or ecological condition, led to (a) selection of varieties such as CR 1009 Sub1, Swarna-Sub 1, Bina Dhan 11 and other climate resilient varieties in coastal areas and (b) selection of varieties like Sahabhagi Dhan, DRR Dhan-44 and Bina Dhan11 in upland areas. They further observed that though Bina Dhan 11 was the best variety in terms of yield, Sahabhagi Dhan was rated highest based on multi-attributes. Some unreleased varieties which were performing high in terms of stakeholders rating, triggered policy dialogue for release of those varieties.

Gars and Ward (2019) indicated that differences in learning behaviour of farmers can also lead to different pattern of technology adoption. They distinguished four types of learning processes. They are (i) Bayesian learning (belief updating as additional information becomes available) (ii) impressionable learning (first impression based) (iii) reactionary learning (give importance to recent information only) and (iv) myopic learning (not only give more weight to recent information but also do not consider the probabilities over which they are making their choices). They suggested pilot surveys for assessing share of farmers of different learning types in a location, for planning future interventions based on nature of technology.

Conclusions and Way forward

From the results of current study it can be concluded that rice varietal diversity in India in recent years is increasing in terms of metrics (i) number of varieties for which breeder seed indents received (ii) number of varieties contributing 75 per cent of total indented quantity and (iii) lower share of top 10 varieties in total breeder seed indent. However, a higher weighted average age of top 10 varieties



is indicating that varietal replacement is taking place with substitution by older varieties.

Literature indicates that multiple factors viz., characteristics of new varieties, market potential for different varieties of rice, divergent perceptions and learning behaviour of farmers and divergent contextual factors (like hydrology, soil suitability etc) are influencing rice varietal dynamics. Hence, for promoting adoption of improved rice varieties with reduced adoption lag, a multi-pronged strategy need to be adopted. Reducing breeding cycle length, targeted extension interventions based on share of farmers of different types of learning patterns, nudging varietal adoption behaviour by leveraging policies of subsidy and competition in seed sector, encouraging private sector participation in research and varietal commercialization, facilitating marketing of output of rice varieties of different durations by synchronizing marketing periods with crop harvesting period are some of the suggested components in the multi-pronged strategy.

The current study is based on macro level breeder seed indents only with some limitations. Hence, in future more disaggregated studies can yield more insights on varietal dynamics in different rice ecosystems and associated factors.

References

- AIREA 2019 https://www.airea.net/basmati-varieties/. APEDA2020https://agriexchange.apeda.gov.in/ indexp/reportlist.aspx accessed on 06-02-2020
- Atlin Gary N, Jill E Cairns and Biswanath Das. 2017. Rapid breeding and varietal replacement are critical to adaptation of cropping systems in the developing world to climate change. *Global Food Security*, 12: 31-37
- Auer L. 1963. Impact of crop yield technology on U.S. Crop production. Unpublished Ph.D thesis. Iowa State University of Science and Technology, Iowa,409 p.
- Berhanu T Ertiro, Girum Azmach, Tolera Keno, Temesgen Chibsa, Beyene Abebe, Girma Demissie, Dagne Wegary, Legesse Wolde, Adefris Teklewol and Mosisa Worku. 2019. Fast-tracking the development and dissemination of a drought-tolerant maize variety in Ethiopia in response to the risks of climate change. P.79-86. In Todd S. Rosenstock, Andreea Nowak, Evan Girvetz (ed.) The Climate-Smart Agriculture papers -Investigating the business of a productive, Resilient and Low Emission Future. Springer Open.

- Birthal Pratap S, Digvijay S. Negi, Md. Tajuddin Khan and Shaily Agarwal. 2015. Is Indian Agriculture becoming resilient to droughts? Evidence from rice production systems. *Food Policy*, 56:1-12
- Brennan John P. 1984. Measuring the contribution of new varieties to increasing wheat yields. *Review of Marketing and Agricultural Economics*, 52(3): 175-195.
- Byerlee Derek and Heisey Paul. 1990. Wheat varietal diversification over time and space as factors in yield gains and rust resistance in the Punjab. p. 5-24. In Heisy. P.W (ed.) Accelerating the transfer of wheat breeding gains to farmers : a study of the dynamics of varietal replacement in Pakistan. CIMMYT Research Report No.1.CIMMYT. Mexico.
- Carlo Fadda and Jacob Van Etten. 2019. Generating farm validated variety recommendation for climate adaptation. p. 127-138. In Todd S. Rosenstock, Andreea Nowak, Evan Girvetz (ed.). The Climate-Smart Agriculture papers -Investigating the business of a productive, Resilient and Low Emission Future. Springer Open.
- Conny JM Almekinders, Koen Beumer, Michael Hauser, Michael Misiko, Marcel Gatto, Agnes O Nkurumwa and Olaf Erenstein. 2019. Understanding the relations between farmers' seed demand and research methods: The challenge to do better. *Outlook on Agriculture*, 48(1): 16-21.
- Dabi T and Khannan VK. 2018. Effect of climate change on rice. *Agrotechnology*, 7(2) DOI: 10.4172/2168-9881.1000181.
- Das Biswanath, Francois Van Deventer, Andries Wessels, Given Mudenda, John Key and Dusan Ristanovic. 2019. Role and challenges of the Private seed sector in developing and disseminating Climate-Smart Crop varieties in Eastern and Southern Africa. P. 67-78. In Todd S. Rosenstock, Andreea Nowak, Evan Girvetz (ed.) The Climate-Smart Agriculture papers -Investigating the business of a productive, Resilient and Low Emission Future. Springer Open.
- DES. 2019. Agricultural Statistics at a Glance -2018. Ministry of Agriculture and Farmer's Welfare, Department of Agriculture, Cooperation and Farmers Welfare, Directorate of Economics and Statistics. Government of India.



- Draft Seed Bill. 2019. http://seednet.gov.in/Draft%20 Seed%20Bill/DraftSeedBill.pdf.
- DRR Annual Report 1996-97. Directorate of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad-500030, India.
- DRR (Directorate of Rice Research). 2007. Progress Report, 2006. Vol. 1 Varietal Improvement. All India Coordinated Rice Improvement Program. Directorate of Rice Research, Rajendranagar. Hyderabad-500030. India.
- Duncan JMA, J Dash and EL Tompkins. 2017. Observing adaptive capacity in Indian rice production systems. *AIMS Agriculture and Food*, 2(2): 165-182.
- Gars Jared and Ward Patrick S. 2019. Can differences in individual learning explain patterns of technology adoption? Evidence on heterogeneous learning patterns and hybrid rice adoption in Bihar, India. *World Development*, 115:178-189.
- Gauchan. D and Pandey S. 2012. Synthesis of key results and implications. P.1-18. In Pandey S, Gauchan D, Malabayabas M, Bool Emerick M, Hardy B. (ed.) Pattern of adoption of improved rice varieties and farm level impacts in stress prone rainfed areas in South Asia. International Rice Research Institute.
- GOI. 2019. State-wise and Item-wise value of output from agriculture, forestry and fishing,2011-12 to 2016-17. National Statistical Office, Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation, Government of India.
- Heisey Paul W. and Brennan John P. 1991. An analytical model of farmers demand for replacement seed. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 73(4): 1044-1052.
- Heisy PW 1990. Accelerating the transfer of wheat breeding gains to farmers: a study of the dynamics of varietal replacement in Pakistan. CIMMYT, 1990.
- IRRI. 2017. https://www.irri.org/news-and-events/news/ agreement-multi-country-seed-sharing-reached.
- Janaiah Aldas and Hossain Mahabub. 2004. Partnership in public sector agricultural R&D-evidence from India. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 39(50) :5327-5334.
- Johnson DG. and Gustafson RL. 1963. Grain yield and the American food supply-an analysis of yield changes and possibilities. Second Impression, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

- Joshi KD, Sthapit BR and JR. Witcombe. 2001. How narrowly adapted are the products of centralized breeding? The spread of rice varieties from a participatory plant breeding programme in Nepal. *Euphytica*, 122: 589-597.
- Joshi Kuhu, PK Joshi, Md. Tajuddin Khan, Avinash Kishore. 2018a. 'Sticky rice' Variety inertia and groundwater crisis in a technologically progressive State of India. IFPRI discussion paper-01766. International Food Policy Research Institute, South Asia Regional Office, New Delhi.
- Joshi Kuhu, PK Joshi, Md. Tajuddin Khan, Avinash Kishore. 2018b. Insights on the rapid adoption of Pusa-1121 basmati variety in North India, IFPRI discussion paper-01756 International Food Policy Research Institute, South Asia Regional Office, New Delhi.
- Krishna Vijesh V, David J Spielman, Prakashan C Veettil and Subash Ghimire. 2014. An empirical examination of the dynamics of varietal turnover in Indian Wheat. IFPRI Discussion paper 01336, International Food Policy Research Institute, U.S.A.
- Latha Nagarajan, Anwar Naseem, Carl Pray. 2018. Contribution of policy change on maize varietal development and yields in Kenya. Selected Poster prepared for presentation at the 2018 Agricultural & applied economics association annual meeting during 5-7 August 2018 at Washington D.C.
- Malabayabas M, Gauchan D and Pandey S. 2012. Comparative analysis of rice variety adoption patterns in Eastern India and Central Luzon (Philippines) IRRI.http://www.aares.org.au/aares/ documents/2012ACPapers/Malabayabas.pdf.
- Manan Jatinder, Manoj Sharma and Manpreet Jaidka. 2018. Factors affecting the adoption of paddy varieties in Kapurthala district of Punjab, India. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 7(9):3014-3020.
- Matthews RB, MJ, Kropff, T Horie and D. Bachelet 1997. Simulating the impact of climate change on rice production in Asia and evaluating options for adaptation. *Agricultural Systems*, 54(3): 399-425.
- Muralidharan K, GSV. Prasad, CS. Rao and EA. Siddiq. 2019. Genetic gain for yield in rice breeding and rice production in India to meet with the demand from increased human population. *Current Science*, 116(4): 544-560.



- Narappa G, Negalur RB, Roopashree DH and Guruprasad GS. 2018. Seed Village Programme - a boon to the rice growing farmers for variety replacement with economic stability. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 7(4):3862-3868.
- Nayak Swati and Hossain Mosharaf. 2019. Not just crop cafeterias! A evidence-based varietal evaluation and selection process to create seed demand and market.
 P.254-261 In Rasheed Sulaiman V, Onima V.T, Nimisha Mittal and Athira E.(ed). Taking stock and shaping the future: conversations on extension. Published by Agricultural Extension in South Asia (AESA).
- Pandey S, Gauchan D, Malabayabas M, Bool-Emerick M, Hardy B. 2012. Pattern of adoption of improved rice varieties and farm-level impacts in stress-prone rainfed areas in South Asia. International Rice Research Institute. 318 pp.
- Pandey Sushil, Debdutt Behura, Maria Lourdes Velasco. 2017. Transitions in Rice seed provisioning in Odishaconstraints and reform agenda. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 52(1): 83-91.
- Pandey. S, Ma L Velasco and T, Yamano 2015. Scientific strength in rice improvement programmes, varietal outputs and adoption of improved varieties in South Asia. In Walker T.S, and Alwang. J (ed.) Crop improvement, adoption and impact of improved varieties in food crops in Sub-Saharan Africa, Published by CGIAR and CAB International.
- Pavithra S, Christian Boeber, Showkat Ahmad Shah, SP Subash, PS Birthal and Surabhi Mittal. 2018. Adoption of modern maize varieties in India: Insights based on expert elicitation methodology. *Agricultural Research*, 7(4):391-401.
- Pavithra S, Surabhi Mittal, SA. Bhat, PS. Birthal, SA.Shah and Vinod K Hariharan 2017. Spatial and Temporal Diversity in adoption of modern Wheat varieties in India. *Agricultural Economics Research Review*, 30(1): 57-72.
- PPV&FRA 2019 http://www.plantauthority.gov.in/pdf/noticeonPlant-BR-29-01-2019.pdf.
- Praveen K.V, KS. Aditya, P. Anbukkani, Pramod Kumar and Amit Kar. 2017. Spatial diversity in Indian Wheat and its determinants. *Agricultural Economics Research Review*, 30(2): 213-222.

- Pray Carl, Latha Nagarajan, Luping Li, Jikun Huang, Ruifa Hu, KN Selvaraj, Ora Napsintuwong and R Chandra Babu.2011. Potential impact of biotechnology on adoption of agriculture to climate change: the case of drought tolerant rice breeding in Asia. *Sustainability*, 3:1723-1741.
- Rao Subba LV, Fiyaz RA, Jukanti AK, Padmavathi G, Badri J, Anantha MS, Nagrjuna. E and Voleti.SR.2019. Coordinated Rice Improvement project in India: Its significant achievements and future prospects. *Oryza*, 56 (Special Issue):82-91.
- Senguttuvel P, Revathi P, Kemparaju KB, Sruthi K, Sadat Ali M, Koteswara Rao P, and AS Hari Prasad. 2019. Rice hybrids released in India, Compendium No.103/2019.ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad. P.127.
- Singh Joginder. 2010. Genetic diversity for sustainability of rice crop in Indian Punjab and its implications. *Journal of Plant Breeding and Crop Science*, 2(9): 293-298.
- Singh Karam and Sajl Kalra. 2002. Rice production in Punjab: system, varietal diversity, growth and sustainability. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 37(30): 3139-3148.
- Singh RP. 2015. Varietal replacement rates among field crops: current status, constraints, impact, challenges and opportunities for the Indian seed Industry. *Seed Times*, July-Dec 2015, P:71-89.
- Singh Vijaipal, Ashok Kumar Singh, Trilochan Mohapatra, Gopala Krishnan S and Ranjit Kumar Ellur. 2018. Pusa Basmati-1121- a rice variety with exceptional kernel elongation and volume expansion after cooking. *Rice*, 11:19 doi: 10.1186/s12284-018-0213-6. https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5890003/.
- Singh YP, Nayak AK, Sharma DK, Gautam RK, Singh RK, Ranbir Singh, Mishra VK, Paris T and Ismail AM. 2014. Farmer's participatory varietal selection: A sustainable crop improvement approach for the 21st Century. Agroecology and Sustainable Food System, 38(4): 427-444.
- Smale Melinda, Joginder Singh, Salvatore Di Falco and Patricia Zambrano. 2008. Wheat breeding, productivity and slow variety change : evidence from the Punjab of India after the green revolution. *The Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 52: 419-432.



- Spielman David J and Smale Melinda. 2017. Policy options to accelerate variety change among smallholder farmers in South Asia and Africa South of the Sahara. IFPRI discussion paper 01666, International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Tsusaka Takuji, Lourdes Ma. Veasco, Takashi Yamano and Sushil Pandey. 2015. Expert elicitation for assessing agricultural technology adoption: The case of improved rice varieties in South Asian Countries. *Asian Journal of Agriculture and Development*, 12(1):19-33.
- Veettil PC, A Devi and I Gupta. 2018. Caste, informal social networks and varietal turnover. Paper presented in 30th International Conference of Agricultural Economists at Vancouver during July 28 to August 2, 2018.
- Virk DS, Packwood AJ and Witcombe JR. 1995. Varietal testing and popularization and research linkages. Paper presented at the ICAR/ODA Workshop on Research for rainfed farming, September 11-14, 1995 at Hyderabad, India.
- Walker TS, Alwang J, Alene A, Ndjuenga J, Labarta R., Yigezu Y, Diangne, A, Andrade R, Muthoni Andriatsitohaina R, De Groote R, Mauch K, Yirga

C, Simotowe F, Katungi E, Jogo W, Jaleta M, Pandey S and Kumara Charyulu D. 2015. Varietal Adoption, Outcomes and Impact. P. 388-405 In T.S. Walker and J. Alwang (ed.) Crop improvement, Adoption and Impacts of Improved varieties in food crops in Sub-Saharan Africa. CGIAR and CAB International.

- Witcombe JR and Yadavendra JP. 2014. How much evidence is needed before Client-Oriented Breeding (COB) is institutionalized? Evidence from rice and maize in India. *Field Crops Research*, 167: 143-152.
- Witcombe JR, Packwood AJ, Raj AGB and Virk DS. 1998. The extent and rate of adoption of modern cultivars in India. P.53-68. In Witcombe JR, Virk DS and Farington J (ed.) Seeds of choice. Intermediate Technology Publications Ltd.
- Witcombe JR Khadka K Puri RR, Khanal NP, Sapkota A Joshi KD. 2017. Adoption of rice varieties-1.Age of varieties and patterns of variability. *Experimental Agriculture*, 53(4): 512-527
- Witcombe John R, Sanjaya Gyawali, Madhu Subedi, Daljit S.Virk and Krishna D Joshi. 2013. Plant breeding can be made more efficient by having fewer better crosses. *BMC Plant Biology*, 13:22.



ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

OPEN ACCESS

Genetic diversity analysis of rice germplasm in gujarat state of india using simple sequence repeat markers

Ankita Mishra*, Bhavesh Gajera and N Subhash

Plant Tissue Culture Laboratory, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Anand Agricultural University, Anand - 388110, Gujarat, India *Corresponding author (email: ankitamishrapbt@gmail.com)

Received: 10 August 2019; Accepted: 12 December 2019

Abstract

The present investigation was undertaken to detect the polymorphism among blast resistant and susceptible rice genotypes employing twenty three simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers, which targeted nine blast resistance genes. The clustering patterns of 2D and 3D of principal component analysis (PCA) were in accordance with the dendrogram clustering pattern. The dendrogram obtained from the pooled SSR analysis showed significant differences between all genotypes. The cophenetic correlation analysis revealed that the dendrograms generated by pooled SSR data were good to fit. The highest similarity index value of 0.71 was found in Ajaya and IET-20006, while the least similarity index value of 0.14 was found in GR-7 and IET-21094, GR-7 and IET-21070. The average similarity coefficient among genotypes was 0.46. The SSR markers linked to the blast resistance genes showed a high level of polymorphism among the genotypes.

Keywords: Oryza sativa, Blast resistance, Magnaporthe grisea, simple sequence repeat marker

Introduction

Rice is the major staple food of nearly half of the world population (Khush et al., 2005). It is planted on about 165 million hectares or on about 12% of the world's cultivated land with an annual production of 744 million tons (FAO, 2014) and 43.5 million hectares land is under rice cultivation in India. The demand for production is increasing steadily for meeting the requirement of a growing population in India. For achieving this increasing demand, rice production will have to increase by at least 40% by the year 2030. To meet this challenge, there is an imminent need to develop high yielding rice varieties with durable resistance to both biotic and abiotic stresses (Leung et al., 2004). The rice blast disease caused by fungus Magnaporthe grisea (anamorph Pyricularia oryzae), is one of the most devastating diseases affecting the rice crop throughout the world and has been responsible for 35-50% world yield loss in rice (Variar et al., 2007). Till now more than 100 blast rice genes have been identified (Khanna et al., 2015) and 26 genes have been cloned. Most of the known blast-resistance genes are located on chromosomes 6, 11 and 12 (Sallaud et al., 2003). Among the blast

resistance genes, Pi54, Pi1, Pi2, Pi9 and Pizt, etc. are considered to be highly useful under Indian conditions. It is possible to increase rice production without expansion of cultivation area by using molecular markers and breeding methodology. Molecular markers play an important role in plant genome analysis and crop improvement. Of the many types of molecular markers, simple sequence repeats (SSR) or microsatellite markers are widely used due to their abundance in the genome. SSR markers are co-dominant, easily assayed by PCR, and exhibit variation based on the motif repeats. Due to these features, SSRs are being widely used for the estimation of genetic diversity (Freeg et al., 2016), establishment of varietal identity, analysis of genetic structure with in the cultivated rice (Garris et al., 2005), construction of molecular genetic maps and marker assisted selection.

Genetic diversity is a pre-requisite for any crop improvement program as it helps in development of superior recombinants. It is a source of variation, which is raw material for any improvement work. Genetic diversity



analysis is very useful for estimating and establishing genetic relationship in collection of different germplasm, for identifying the different parental combinations to create segregating progenies with maximum genetic variability for further selection and introgression of desirable genes into elite genotypes (Islam *et al.*, 2012). Analysis of genetic diversity also helps breeder to enhance the progress of breeding program.

Therefore, the current study was carried out for the assessment of genetic variability at molecular level among 35 rice genotypes differing in their resistance to blast.

Twenty three SSR markers were used for developing unique finger print for each genotype. This may also be used to identify the best genotype as donor for blast resistance in breeding program for development of new blast resistance varieties.

Materials and methods

Plant materials

The seeds of 35 rice genotypes were collected from the Main Rice Research Station, Nawagam, Gujarat. Names of these genotypes and their response against blast disease are mentioned in Table 1.

Sr. No.	Genotypes	Susceptibility/Resistance to Blast disease	Sr. No.	Genotypes	Susceptibility/Resistance to Blast disease
1	IR-64	Resistant	19	IET-20669	Resistant
2	GR-11	Susceptible	20	IET-20862	Resistant
3	Pankhali-203	Susceptible	21	IET-20866	Resistant
4	GR-7	Resistant	22	IET-20868	Resistant
5	GAR-1	Susceptible	23	IET-20872	Resistant
6	GR-12	Resistant	24	IET-20874	Resistant
7	GAR-13	Resistant	25	IET-20892	Resistant
8	Gurjari	Resistant	26	IET-20894	Resistant
9	NWGR-2006	Resistant	27	IET-20929	Resistant
10	Azucena	Susceptible	28	IET-21000	Resistant
11	Ajaya	Susceptible	29	IET-21070	Resistant
12	IET-20006	Resistant	30	IET-21094	Resistant
13	IET-20082	Resistant	31	IET-21190	Resistant
14	IET-20214	Resistant	32	IET-21200	Resistant
15	IET-20235	Resistant	33	IET-21216	Resistant
16	IET-20375	Resistant	34	IET-21299	Resistant
17	IET-20667	Resistant	35	IET-21649	Resistant
18	IET-20668	Resistant			

Table 1: List of genotypes

DNA isolation

A modified mini preparation procedure (Zaidani *et al.*, 2005) for extraction of total genomic DNA from leaf samples of 35 genotypes was used. The quality and quantity of the isolated DNA samples were checked by spectrophotometer (Thermo electronic corporation, UV1)

and 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis with lambda (λ) *Hind* III restriction digested DNA as molecular weight standard. The concentration and quality of DNA in individual samples were determined based on the intensity and thickness of the genomic DNA bands, compared to *Hind* III digested lambda (λ) DNA.



Simple sequence repeats (SSR) amplification

A total number of 23 SSR markers which are related to nine blast resistance traits/QTLs were selected for the genetic analysis based on the Gramene Marker database (http:// www. gramene.org/markers) and previously published reports of Temnykh et al., 2001 and McCouchet al., 2002 (Table 2). The PCR reaction mixture contained 50ng template DNA,5 pM of each of the forward and reverse primers, 200µM dNTPs, 1X PCR buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.3, 50mM KCl, 1.5mM of MgCl, and 0.01mg/ml gelatin) and 0.5U of Taq DNA polymerase (JONAKI) in a volume of 10µl. Amplification cycling was performed in a gradient 96 well programmable master cycler (VeritiTM, Applied Biosystems). The PCR was carried out with one cycle of denaturation at 95°C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles at 95°C for 45s, 55°C for 45s and 72°C for 1 min, with a final extension of 72°C for 10 minutes. The final PCR products were then mixed with Bromophenol blue and run in 3% agarose gels along with 50-bp ladder for an hour in 0.5x Tris-Acetic and EDTA (TAE) buffer. The resolved PCR bands were documented using gel documentation system (BIO-RAD Molecular Imager Gel Doc XR system) and images were stored for further scoring and permanent records.

Data analysis: The amplicons were scored individually as (1) and (0) for the presence or absence of an allele, respectively. Data entry was done in a binary data matrix as discrete variables PIC values were calculated by using the formula PIC=1 - \sum pi2, where pi indicates frequency of the allele of each locus (Botstein *et al.*, 1980). The matrices were used to calculate pair wise genetic similarity based on Jaccard's coefficient. Dendrogram displaying relationships among 35 rice genotypes was constructed using the Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic mean (UPGMA) by NTSYSpc version 2.02 (Rohlf, 1994).The allele frequency was determined by the use of GenAlEx version 6.3 (Peakall and Smouse 2006). The expected heterozygocity and observed heterozygocity were also determined as described in the following formula by the use of same software.

Ho = Observed Heterozygocity = No. of Hets / N

He = Expected Heterozygocity = 1 - Sum pi^2 Where pi is the frequency of the ith allele for the population and Sum pi^2 is the sum of the squared population allele frequencies.

Results and Discussion

Allelic diversity of microsatellite markers

For the present study, the seeds of 35 rice genotypes were analyzed (Table 1). Among them, IR-64 was selected as the resistant check. The susceptible checks used for the present study were GR-11 and Pankhali-203. The remaining 32 genotypes were used for comparison with the above mentioned checks for blast resistance and for analysis with SSR markers. A total of 81alleles were detected of which 71 (87.65%) were polymorphic (Table 3). The Polymorphic Information Content (PIC) values ranged from 0.28 (RM339) to 1.00 (RM 28050) with an average of 0.59. The number of alleles per SSR locus detected in this study corresponded well with Sajib et al., (2012) and Singh et al., (2016) and was lower than the average number of alleles (11.9) reported by Zhou et al., (2004) and Lin et al., (2007). The wide variation in the number of alleles detected was due to the different sets of germplasm, number of genotypes, number of selective SSR markers and method of gel electrophoresis detection in different studies. The low number of alleles was usually obtained from closely related cultivars (IR64, IET 20667-IET20669 and Ajay and Azucena). High number of alleles was expected when a large number of landraces were chosen from different geographical origins (Masuduzzaman et al., 2016).



Sr. No.	Gene	Marker	Chromosome	Primer sequences (5'-3')		Reference
1.1		DN(110	2	F	TCGAAGCCATCCACCAACGAAG	Temnykh et al., 2001
1.1	D:25	RM110	2	R	TCCGTACGCCGACGAGGTCGAG	
1.0	P125	D1 (405	-	F	CACACTTTCCAGTCCTCTCC	Temnykh et al., 2001
1.2		RM485	2	R	CATCTTCCTCTCTCGGCAC	
0.1		DN (540	6	F	ACGAACTGATCATATCCGCC	Temnykh et al., 2001
2.1		KM349	0	R	CTGTGGTTGATCCCTGAACC	
2.2	סבית	DM629	6	F	GGTCGTTGAAGCTTACCAGC	Temnykh et al., 2001
2.2	P127	KN1538	0	R	ACAAGCTCTCAAAACTCGCC	
2.2		D) (07)		F	CTCAACGTTGACACCTCGTG	Lopez-Gerena et al., 2004
2.3		RM2/6	0	R	TCCTCCATCGAGCAGTATCA	
2.1		DM220	0	F	GTAATCGATGCTGTGGGAAG	Lopez-Gerena et al., 2004
3.1		RM339	8	R	GAGTCATGTGATAGCCGATATG	
2.2	D:2 0	D) (225	0	F	GACGATGAATCAGGAGAACG	Temnykh et al., 2000
3.2	P129	RM325	8	R	GGCATGCATCTGAGTAATGG	
	-	D1 (402		F	CTTCCACCATAAAACCGGAG	Temnykh et al., 2001
3.3		RM483	8	R	ACACCGGTGATCTTGTAGCC	
				F	ACACCAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAG	Zeng et al., 2011
4.1		RM441	11	R	TCTGCAACGGCTGATAGATG	
	Pi30			F	CACACAAGCCCTGTCTCACGACC	Lopez-Gerena et al., 2004
4.2		RM120	11	R	CGCTGCGTCATGAGTATGTA	
				F	ACTCGATGACAAGTTGAGG	Chen <i>et al.</i> , 1997
5.1		RM83	12	R	CACCTAGACACGATCGAG	
	-			F	CGGTCAAATCATCACCTGAC	Temnykh et al., 2000
5.2		RM277	12	R	CAAGGCTTGCAAGGGAAG	
	Pi31			F	TTCCCCTCCTTTTATGGTGC	Temnykh et al., 2001
5.3		RM463	12	R	TGTTCTCCTCAGTCACTGCG	
	-			F	ACTCCACTATGACCCAGAG	Lopez-Gerena et al., 2004
5.4		RM260	12	R	GAACAATCCCTTCTACGATCG	
				F	ACAGGATCTTTACCGGCATTTA	Raboin et al., 2016
6.1		Pi33-53	8	R	ACGCAAGGAGATTGTTGAGATT	
	-			F	ACTCCGACTGCAGTTTTTGC	McCouch et al., 2002
6.2		RM5647	8	R	AACTTGGTCGTGGACAGTGC	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
				F	ACCCCTATCGATCAACCCTC	McCouch et al., 2002
6.3	Pi33	RM3507	8	R	TTCGTTTGGTGTTAGGGGC	
	-			F	ATGAACTAGTGAACCCCCCC	McCouch et al., 2002
6.4		RM3374	8	R	GTAGCGGTAGCTGCAAAAGC	
	-			F	CGGGCAATCCGAACAACC	Lopez-Gerena et al., 2004
6.5		RM44	8	R	TCGGGAAAACCTACCCTACC	
				F	CAATGCCGAGTGTGCAAAGG	Eizenga et al., 2002
7.1		YL100-102	12	R	TCAGGTTGAAGATGCATAGC	
	Pita			F	AGCAGGTTATAAGCTAGCTAT	Eizenga et al., 2002
7.2		YL183-87	12	R	CTACCAACAAGTTCATCAAA	-
				F	ACTACATACACGGCCCTTGC	Kim et al., 2005
8.1	Pib	RM535	2	R	CTACGTGGACACCGTCACAC	
				F	GATAAGACTTGGGTGGACATCACG	Li et al., 2008
9.1	Pi20	RM28050	12	R	CTTCTATGGTCGCAATTCAGATGC	
				1		



Nine genes were used for analysis in the present study *viz.Pi25, Pi27, Pi29, Pi30,Pi31, Pi33, Pita, Pib* and *Pi20.* These genes are located on different chromosomes. The *Pi27* is located on chromosome No. 6, *Pi29* and *Pi33* on chromosome number 8, *Pita, Pi20 and Pi31* on chromosome 12, *Pib* and *Pi25* on chromosome 2 and *Pi30* on chromosome 11. The markers linked to these genes were selected (Table 2) for the study.

The nine different resistance imparting genes were targeted for the SSR study in which twenty three SSR markers were used. The twenty three SSR primers amplified a total of 81 alleles with an average of 3.52 alleles per marker. Based on the SSR data, cluster analysis was performed using genetic similarity values and a dendrogram was generated showing genetic relationships among these genotypes. The highest similarity index value of 0.71 was found between Ajaya and IET-20006, while the least similarity index value of 0.14 was found between GR-7 and IET-21094 and also between GR-7 and IET-21070. The average similarity coefficient among genotypes was 0.46. The SSR marker RM83, specific for Pi31 gene amplified one allele, while RM463 for the same gene amplified5 alleles. The SSR marker RM441 for Pi30 gene produced maximum number of alleles (7) and RM538 for Pi27 gene, RM83 for Pi31 gene, YL183-87 for Pita gene and RM28050 for Pi20 gene produced only single allele. The average number of alleles amplified by 23 markers was 3.52. The highest PIC (Polymorphic Information Content) value obtained was 1.0 in RM538 for Pi27 gene, YL183-87 for Pita gene, and RM28050 for Pi20 gene and lowest PIC value was 0.12 for YL100-102 for Pita gene. The allele frequency, expected hetero zygosity and observed hetero zygosity of each marker were also determined in the present study through GenAl Ex software (version 6.3) (Peakall and Smouse., 2006). The SSR gel results of Pi-33-53 marker for gene Pi33 is shown in Figure 1. The details of amplification products are given in Table 3.

Table 3: Results of candidate genes and respective molecular markers in SSR analysis

Sr. No.	Gene Name	Marker	Chromosome location	No. of alleles amplified	Molecular Weight Range	Total No. of bands	PIC value
1.1	D:25	RM110	2	5	74-200	5	0.69
1.2	P123	RM485	2	6	270-393	5	0.78
2.1		RM549	6	3	145-813	3	0.40
2.2	Pi27	RM538	6	1	290	1	1.0
2.3		RM276	6	4	98-146	4	0.59
3.1		RM339	8	4	73-155	4	0.28
3.2	Pi29	RM325	8	2	62-189	2	0.35
3.3		RM483	8	3	263-316	3	0.53
4.1	D:20	RM441	11	7	49-194	7	0.78
4.2	P150	RM120	11	4	144-658	3	0.50
5.1		RM83	12	1	307	2	1.0
5.2	ני:21	RM277	12	3	114-128	2	0.41
5.3	P131	RM463	12	5	176-214	5	0.65
5.4		RM260	12	5	70-165	5	0.58
6.1		Pi33-53	8	3	252-304	6	0.41
6.2		RM5647	8	6	61-144	3	0.70
6.3	Pi33	RM3507	8	4	86-124	2	0.64
6.4		RM3374	8	3	63-115	1	0.53
6.5		RM44	8	5	104-138	2	0.58
7.1	Dita	YL100-102	12	2	366-419	3	0.12
7.2	Pila	YL183-87	12	1	308	2	1.0
8.1	Pib	RM535	2	3	132-429	3	0.54
9.1	Pi20	RM28050	12	1	174	1	1.0
Total	-	-	-	81	-	74	-
Average	-	-	-	3.52	-	3.22	0.59



Figure 1: SSR Profile of Pi-33-53 marker for gene *Pi33*, M = 50 bp DNA ladder

1. IR-64	8. Gurjari	15. IET-20235	22. IET- 20868	29. IET-21070
2. GR-11	9. NWGR-2006	16. IET- 20275	23. IET- 20872	30. IET- 21094
3. Pankhali- 203	10. Azucena	17. IET- 20667	24. IET- 20874	31. IET- 21190
4. GR-7	11. Ajay	18. IET- 20668	25. IET- 20892	32. IET- 21200
5. GAR-1	12. IET-20006	19. IET- 20669	26. IET- 20894	33. IET- 21216
6. GR-12	13. IET-20082	20. IET- 20862	27. IET- 20929	34. IET- 21299
7. GAR-13	14. IET-20214	21. IET- 20866	28. IET- 21000	35. IET- 21649

Clustering pattern of dendrogram generated by pooled molecular data of 23 markers of nine genes produced two main clusters namely A and B (Figure 1). Cluster A included IR64 and GR7. Cluster B was divided into two sub clusters B1 and B2. Sub cluster B1was again divided into two clusters viz. B1a and B1b. The cluster B1a consisted of GR-11, NWGR-2006, IET-20375, IET-20667, IET-20668 and IET-20669 and B1b comprised of only single genotype i.e. GAR-13. Sub cluster B2 was divided into B2a and B2b. The cluster B2b had only two genotypes namely IET-20235 and IET-21000. Subcluster B2a was again divided into B2ac and B2ad. The cluster B2ac consisted of Pankhali-203, IET-20892, IET-20868, IET-21190, IET-20894, GAR-1, IET-20866, IET-20872, IET-20874, IET-21070 and IET-21200 whereas cluster B2ad comprised of GR-12, Gurjari, Ajay, IET-20006, Azucena, IET-20862, IET-20082, IET-20214, IET-20929, IET-21216, IET-21299, IET-21094 and IET-21649.

The genotype IR-64 was selected as a resistant genotype in the present study which showed entirely different cluster i.e. Cluster A along with GR-7. The genotypes Ajay and Azucena came into the same cluster of B2ad. The genotype IET-20667, IET-20668 and IET-20669 were the pyramided lines of IR64 and were present in the same cluster B1a. (Figure 2) The principle component analysis (PCA) carried out with 35 genotypes almost coincided with the results of cluster analysis. The clustering pattern of 2D and 3D of PCA analysis were in accordance with the dendrogram clustering pattern. The 2D (Figure 3) plot showed that the genotypes IET-20375, IET-20667, IET-20668 and IET-20669 were nearer to each other. Similarly, genotypes IET-20892, IET-20868, IET-21190, IET-20894, GAR-1, IET-20866, IET-20872, IET-20874, IET-21070 and IET-21200 were found to be nearer to each other. In the 2D plot, GR-12, Gurjari, Ajay, Azucena, IET-20006, IET-20862 and IET-20214 were found in close proximity to each other. The genotypes IET-20082, IET-20929, IET-21216, IET-21299, IET-21094 and IET-21649 were also located nearer. The genotypes, Azucena and Ajay overlapped on one another. The principle component analysis (PCA) of 3D (Figure 4) plot coincided with the results of cluster analysis and 2D plot analysis. In 3D plot also genotypes IET-20892, IET-20868, IET-21190, IET-20894, GAR-1 came together. However, IET-20866, IET-20872, IET-20874, IET-21070 were found nearer but slightly away from it. The Ajaya and Azucena were nearer to each other. All other genotypes came in same group like in 2D and cluster analysis.



Figure 2: Dendrogram showing clustering of 35 rice genotypes for blast resistance genes constructed using UPGMA based on Jaccard's coefficient obtained from SSR analysis




Figure 3: Two dimensional plot by PCA using SSR primers

Correlation study was carried out to compare the correlation of original similarity matrix of SSR results with the dendrogram clustering pattern. Using the COPH module of NTSYSpc version 2.02, 'r' value was calculated and results were also expressed graphically. High correlation between the similarity matrix and dendrogram pattern was justified by the 'r' value which was found to be 0.77 and was found good to fit. The genotypes IR 64 and GR-7 were found to be in the same cluster. The genotypes IET-20667, IET-20668 and IET-20669 showed similar allelic pattern in most of the markers. The Azucena and Ajaya were found to be closely related to each other as they showed similar banding pattern in maximum number of the markers studied. The diversity of alleles in blast resistant genotypes using 32 improved varieties with three microsatellite marker including RM483 and a similarity matrix based on pair wise comparison of pooled data showed 60% similarity and three allelic conditions of the plants were produced (Lang et al., 2009). In the present study, 46% of similarity was observed and up to seven allelic conditions were also found using 23 markers including RM483. This variation may be due to the difference in number of markers and genotypes used in the present study and also may be due to the difference in varieties used.

The productivity and yield of cultivated rice, is severely affected by many diseases. Among them blast is the most destructive. Rice blast and gray leaf spot of grasses are caused by *Magnaporthe oryzae*. The disease often causes a significant yield loss, as high as 70-80% during an epidemic. Rice blast has been found in over 85 countries

across the world. The disease has never been eradicated from the regions of rice cultivation.



Figure 4: Three dimensional plot by PCA using SSR primers

To negate the effect of blast disease to some extent some has resorted to the use of fungicides and others to development of resistant cultivars. Utilization of genetic resistance is the most effective and economical way of controlling blast disease. In the past few decades, more than 40 major blast resistance genes have been mapped through molecular marker technology. However, because of either the rapid evolution of new pathogen races, or the selection of a rare component of the pathogen population that is already virulent the resistance has been short lived.

Molecular analysis of genotypes prior to crosses can increase genetic diversity among parental genotypes. This helps in maximizing genetic variation and minimizing the efforts in the screening, for direct selection in traditional breeding. Hence, the present investigation was undertaken to detect the polymorphism among blast resistant and susceptible rice genotypes. With the aid of information obtained from microsatellite marker study, assessment of linkage between specific marker and its gene could be done which will help in breeding and development of pyramided lines harboring different blast resistant genes leading to the development of much efficient genotypes for fighting the malady of blast.



Acknowledgments

Authors are thankful to the Department of Agricultural Botany, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Anand Agricultural University, Anand, Gujarat for providing basic laboratory facilities for the molecular research. We are also grateful to Late Dr. Atul Mehta, Main Rice Research Station, Nawagam, Gujarat,for valuable suggestions and providing seeds of rice genotypes. We are grateful to Dr. G.C. Jadeja, Former Principal, B.A. College of Agriculture,AnandAgricultural University, Anand, for his consistent guidance with constructive suggestions, deliberative discussions and active persuasion.

References

- Botstein D, White RL, Skolnick M and Davis RW. 1980. Construction of a genetic linkage map in man using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 32(3):314-31.
- Chen X, Temnykh S, Xu Y, Cho YG and McCouch SR. 1997. Development of a microsatellite framework map providing genome-wide coverage in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 95:553-567.
- FAO. 2014. Innovation in family farming. Rome
- Faridul Islam GC, Lee FN and Jia Y. 2002. Identification of Blast Resistance Genes in Rice Wild Relatives (*Oryza* spp.) and Selected Indica Lines (*O. sativa*). *B.R. Wells Rice Research*, 504:27-32
- Faridul Islam ASM, Ali MR, Gregorio GB and Islam MR. 2012. Genetic diversity analysis of stress tolerant rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11(85), 15123-15129.
- Freeg HA, Anis GB, Abo-Shousha AA, El-Banna AN, El-Sabagh A. 2016. Genetic diversity among some rice genotypes with different drought tolerance based on SSR markers. *Cercetări Agronomice în Moldova* XLIX, 3 (167): 39-50.
- Garris JA, Tai TH, Coburn J, Kresovich S and McCouch S. 2005. Genetic structure and diversity in *Oryza sativa* L. *Genetics*, 169(3), 1631-1638
- Khanna A, Sharma V, Ellur KR, Shikari AB, Krishnan GS, Singh UD, Prakash G, Sharma TR, Rathour R, Variar M, Prashanthi SK, Nagarajan M, Vinod KK, Bhowmick PK, Rajashekhara H, Singh NK, Prabhu KV and Singh AK. 2015. Marker assisted pyramiding of major blast

resistance genes Pi9 and Pita in the genetic background of an elite Basmati rice variety, Pusa Basmati 1. *Indian Journal of Genetics*, 75(4): 417-425.

- Khush GS. 2005. What it will take to feed 5.0 billion rice consumers in 2030. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 59(1):1-6.
- Kim HK, Lee SK, Cho J, Lee S, An G, Jwa NS, Kim BR, ChoYC, Han SS, Bhoo SE, Lee YH, Hong YK, Yi G, Park DS, Hahn TR and Jeon JS. 2005. Characterization of rice mutants with enhanced susceptibility to rice blast. *Molecules and Cells*, 20: 385-391.
- Lang NT, Luy TT, Ha PT and Buu BC. 2009. Monogenic lines resistance to blast disease in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) in Vietnam. *International Journal of Genetics and Molecular Biology*, 1(7) 127-136.
- Leung H, Wu J, Liu B, Bustaman M, Sridhar R, Singh K, Redona E, Quang V, Zheng K, Bernardo M, Wang G, Leach J, Choi IR and Vera C. 2004. Sustainable disease resistance in rice: current and future strategies. *Trends in Plant Science*, 7(3) 139-142.
- Li W, Lei C, Cheng Z, Jia Y, Huang D, Wang J, Wang J, Zhang X, Su N, Guo X, Zhai H and Wan J. 2008. Identification of SSR markers for a broad-spectrum blast resistance gene *Pi20* (t) for marker-assisted breeding. *Molecular Breeding*, 22:141–149.
- Lin F, Liu Y, Wang L, Liu X and Pan Q. 2007. A highresolution map of the rice blast resistance gene Pi15 constructed by sequence-ready markers. *Plant Breeding*, 126: 287-290.
- Lopez-Gerena J, Tohme J, Correa-Victoria FJ, Martinez CP, Hulbert S and Zeigler R. 2004. Mapping QTL's and candidate genes associated with durable resistance to rice blast. Rice Functional Genomics Conference, November 15–17, 2004, Tucson Arizona.
- Masuduzzaman ASM, Haque M, Ahmed MME and Mohapatra CK. 2016. SSR marker-based genetic diversity analysis of tidal and flood prone areas in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Journal of Biotechnology and Biomaterials*, 6(3): 241.
- McCouch SR, Teytelman L, Xu Y, Lobos KB, Clare K, Walton M, Fu B, Maghirang R, Li Z, Xing Y, Zhang Q, Kono I, Yano M, Fjellstrom R, DeClerck G, Schneider D, Cartinhour S, Ware D and Stein L. 2002. Development and mapping of 2240 new SSR markers for rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) *DNA Research*, 9: 199-207.



- Peakall R and Smouse PE. 2006. Genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 6:288-295.
- Raboin LM, Ballini E, Tharreau D, Ramanantsoanirina A, Frouin J, Courtois B and Ahmadi N. 2016. Association mapping of resistance to rice blast in upland field conditions. *Rice*, 9:59.
- Rohlf FJ. 1994. NTSYS-PC numerical taxonomy and multivariate analysis system, ver. 2.02. State University of New York, Stonybrook, New York.
- Sajib AM, Hossain MM, Mosnaz ATMZ, Hossain H, Islam MM, Ali MS and Prodhan SH. 2012. SSR markerbased molecular characterization and genetic diversity analysis of aromatic landreces of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.), *Journal of BioScience and Biotechnology*,1(2): 107-116.
- Sallaud C, Lorieux M, Roumen E, Tharreau D, Berruyer R, Svestasrani P, Garsmeur O, Ghesquiere A and Notteghem JL. 2003. Identification of five new blast resistance genes in the highly blast-resistant rice variety IR64 using a QTL mapping strategy, *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 106: 794–803.
- Singh N, Choudhury DR, Tiwari G, Singh AK, Kumar S, Srinivasan K, Tyagi RK, Sharma AD, Singh NK and Singh R. 2016. Genetic diversity trend in Indian rice varieties: an analysis using SSR markers. *BMC Genetics*, 17: 127.

- Temnykh S, DeClerck G, Lukashova A, Lipovich L, Cartinhour S and McCouch S. 2001. Computational and experimental analysis of microsatellites in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.): frequency, length variation, transposon associations, and genetic marker potential. *Genome Research*, 11:1441-1452.
- Temnykh S, Park WD, Ayres N, Cartinhour S, Hauck N, Lipovich L, Cho YG, Ishii T and McCouch SR. 2000. Mapping and genome organization of microsatellite sequences in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 100:697-712.
- Variar M. 2007. Pathogenic variation in Magnaporthe grisea and breeding for blast resistance in India. *In: JIRCAS* (Japan International Research Center for Agricultural Sciences, Tsukuba, Japan) Working Report No. 53: 87–95.
- Zeng X, Yang X, Zhao Z, Lin F, Wang L and Pan Q. 2011. Characterization and fine mapping of the rice blast resistance gene Pia. *Science China Life Sciences*, 54: 372–378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-011-4154-1
- Zaidani S, Ferchichi A and Chaieb M. 2005. Genomic DNA extraction method from Pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) leaves, *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 4 (8): 862-866.
- Zhou JH, Wang JL, Xu JC, Lei CL and Ling ZZ. 2004. Identification and mapping of a rice blast resistance gene Pi-g(t) in the cultivar *Guangchang zhan*, *Plant Pathology*, 53: 191-196.



ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

Effect of organic and inorganic substances on the growth and yield of rice

Balaji E¹, M Meyyappan^{1*}, M Ganapathy¹ and A Angayarkanni²

¹Department of Agronomy, Faculty of Agriculture, Annamalai University, Tamilnadu, 608002 ²Department of Soil Science and Agricultural Chemistry, Annamalai University, Tamilnadu, 608002 *Corresponding author (email: meyysagronomy@yahoo.com)

Received: 28 July 2019; Accepted: 28 November 2019

Abstract

In order to enhance the yield of rice by foliar application of organic and inorganic substances, a field experiment was conducted in a Randomized Block Design with three replications at Annamalai University Experimental farm, Annamalai Nagar during Late *Kuruvai* season (July - September) with CO - 47 rice cultivar. Among the different treatments tried, application of 100% NPK + humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha along with foliar application of Panchagavya @ 3% + Fish meal extract @ 3% + Auxin Gold sea weed extract @ 0.35% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT performed better compared to other treatments and ranked first in terms of plant height, number of productive tillers/m² (353), number of spikelets /panicle (119), sterility per centage (11.4), grain yield (5.6 t/ha) and straw yield (8.5 t/ha).

Keywords: Fish meal extract, Panchagavya, Seaweed extract, Potassium nitrate, Productive tillers and Yield

Introduction

In the world, rice is the second most widely consumed cereal next to wheat and it has occupied an area of 163.47 million hectares with production and productivity of 501.56 million tonnes and 4.58 t/ha, respectively (USDA, 2019). In Asia, rice and it derived products provide 60 to 70 per cent of energy requirement to more than 2 billion people. In Tamil Nadu state of India, rice is grown in an area of 17.80 lakh hectares with production and productivity of 60 lakh metric tonnes and 3.37 t/ha, respectively. In Cuddalore district rice is grown in an area of 134677 hectares with production of 641958 metric tonnes and productivity of 4.1 t/ha. Continuous use of chemical fertilizers causes long term imbalance in pH and fertility of the soil. Moreover, applied nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) fertilizer undergoes various transformation processes in soil. Application of organic nutrient is more appropriate because it contributes to the improvement and sustainability of natural resources and environment. Application of humic acid improves the plant growth and yield by increasing the soil organic matter. Panchagavya is used in different means in agriculture such as foliar spray, soil application along with irrigation water, seed or seedling treatments etc. Panchagavya contains several vitamins, macro nutrients, micro nutrients, amino acid, growth regulators like auxin,

gibberellins and useful microorganisms which is required for the growth and development of crops (Ajay Alias Mangtu Ram, 2017). Fish amino acid, a potential source of auxin and promoting the vegetative growth through active cell division, cell enlargement and cell elongation. Sea weed extract application on plants resulted in wide benefits like early seed germination , establishment, improved crop performance and yield, improved resistance to biotic and abiotic stress, enhanced postharvest shelf life of perishable products. This study was onducted mainly to get higher yields, sustain soil health and to reduce the cost of fertilizers through the integration of foliar application of different organic sources with recommended NPK tried.

Materials and Methods

A field experiment was conducted at the Experimental Farm, Department of Agronomy, Annamalai University, Annamalai Nagar which is situated at 11°24' N latitude and 79°44' E longitude and at an altitude of +5.79 m above mean sea level during Late *Kuruvai* (July to September 2018) season with rice variety Co-47 to study the effect of organic and inorganic substances on rice along with 100 and 75% recommended dose of NPK individually and as combined spray. The experimental field soil was clayey



loam in texture, low in available nitrogen (210 Kg/ha), medium in available phosphorus (19.6 Kg/ha) and high in available potassium (319.5 Kg/ha). The experiment was laid out in a Randomized Block Design with 12 treatments and replicated thrice. The twelve treatments were T₁-100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha, $T_2 - T_1 +$ Panchagavya spray @ 3% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_3 - T_1 +$ Fish meal extract spray @ 3% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_4 - T_1$ + Auxin Gold sea weed extract spray @ 0.35% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_5 - T_1$ + Potassium nitrate spray @ 0.5% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_6 - T_1 + Panchagavya + Fish meal extract +$ Auxin Gold sea weed extract spray at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_7 - 75\%$ NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha, $T_8 T_{\gamma}$ + Panchagavya spray @ 3% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, T_{α} $-T_{7}$ + Fish meal extract spray @ 3% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_{10} - T_7$ + Auxin Gold sea weed extract spray @ 0.35% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_{11} - T_7$ + Potassium nitrate spray @ 0.5% at 20, 35 and 50 DAT, $T_{12} - T_7$ + Panchagavya + Fish meal extract + Auxin Gold sea weed extract spray at 20, 35 and 50 DAT. 21 days old seedlings were transplanted @ 2/hill with a spacing of 15x10 cm. The recommended dose of 120:40:40 kg/ha was adopted for 100 per cent and from that 75 per cent NPK was calculated and were applied to plots as per treatment schedule. Half dose of N, K and full dose of P were applied as basal and the remaining N and K were top dressed in two equal split at active tillering and panicle initiation stages. The various organic and inorganic substances were sprayed at respective concentrations at 20, 35 and 50 DAT as per treatment schedule.

Results and Discussion

Among the treatments tested, T_6 -100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha + Panchagavya + Fish meal extract + sea weed extract spray on 20,35 and 50 DAT excelled rest of the treatments and resulted in the tallest plant (Table 1) on 60 DAT and at harvest (89.10 and 99.73 cm, respectively). This might be due to the optimum level of nutrients available in the rhizo - ecosystem of soil applied with basal application of fertilizer resulting in better growth and development. Application of nutrients at critical stages would have resulted in better vegetative growth as observed by taller plants. In this treatment panchagavya spray would have provided growth promoting substances, encouraging quick growth and increased the plant height. This result of increased shoot length is in line with the report of Mallavarapu Geethav *et al.* (2015). Among the foliar spraying of organic substances individually with 75 or 100% NPK, spraying of fish meal extract was found to be better. Application of 75% NPK along with humic acid granules application @ 12.5 kg/ha resulted in reduced plant height to the tune of 8.3 and 9.2 cm compared to 100% NPK + humic acid granules application 12.5 kg/ha at 20, 35 and 50 DAT respectively. Within the treatments tested, T₆ - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha + Panchagavya @ 3%+ Fish meal extract @ 3%+ sea weed extract spray @ 0.35% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT along with application of humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha ranked first with a value of 353 productive tillers/m². This may be due to the presence of certain plant growth regulators, trace elements, vitamins and micronutrients in organic substances which might have enhanced the growth and yield contributing characters. Combined application of each 3% of Panchagavya + Fish meal extract + sea weed extract spray along with 100% NPK + humic acid granules application @ 12.5 kg/ha increased the number of productive tillers/m² to the tune of 7.29 per cent over T_1 - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules application @ 12.5 kg/ha. Application of 75% NPK along with humic acid granules application @ 12.5 kg/ha resulted in reduced total number of productive tillers/ m^2 to the tune of 6.8 per cent compared to 100% NPK + humic acid granules application @ 12.5 kg/ha.

Among the treatments tested, T₆ - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha+ Panchagavya + Fish meal extract + sea weed extract spray on 20, 35 and 50 DAT surpassed all other treatments and produced the highest number of spikelets/panicle (119) and with least (11.41) sterility per centage. The greater availability of nutrients in soil, improvement of soil environment resulting in higher root proliferation leading to better absorption of moisture and nutrients which ultimately resulted in higher yield parameters and yield. In rice, increased grains/panicle, grain yield due to spraying of Kappaphycus alvarezii @ 10% + recommended NPK result is in agreement with the report of Singh et al. (2018). The second in order was T₂-100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha + Fish meal extract spray @ 3% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT and it was comparable with $T_2 - T_1 + Panchagavya spray @ 3\%, T_4 - T_1$ + Auxin Gold Sea weed extract spray @ 0.35% and $T_5 - T_1$ + Potassium nitrate spray @ 0.5% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT. Application of 75% NPK along with humic acid granules application @ 12.5 kg/ha resulted in reduced number of



spikelets/panicle to the tune of 7.6 per cent compared to 100% NPK + humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha. Foliar application of organic substances or inorganic substances individually with 75% NPK + humic acid @ 12.5 kg/ha resulted in similar effect.

Among the treatments tried out, T_6 - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha + Panchagavya + Fish meal extract + sea weed extract spray on 20,35 and 50 DAT surpassed rest of the treatments with a grain yield of 5660 kg/ha which is 12.52 per cent higher than T_1 - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha. That may be due to the highest number of productive tillers/m², number of spikelets/panicle and number of filled grains/panicle. Yield increase was due to quick absorption and assimilation of more nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and micro nutrients present in inorganic fertilizers and organic substances. This lead to physiological and morphological character improvement and finally reflected in higher yield. Similar result of increased growth attributes and yield due to the combined application was earlier reported by Carol Lyngdoh *et al.*, (2017). The second best was $T_3 - T_1 + Fish$ meal extract spray @ 3% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT and it was on par with $T_2 - T_1 +$ Panchagavya spray @ 3% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT and $T_4 - T_1 + Auxin Gold Sea weed extract$ spray @ 0.35% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT. Foliar application of panchagavya @ 3% or fish meal extract 3% or sea weed extract 0.35% increased the grain yield to the tune of 372, 439 and 327 kg/ha respectively over T_1 - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha. Application of 25% less NPK compared to 100% recommended NPK + humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha reduced the grain yield to the extent of 790 kg/ha. This might be due to the unavailability of required quantity of nutrients present in soil during the crop period which resulted in reduced yield components. Similar results of reduced grain yield to the tune of 1.58 t/ha were obtained by Ali et al., (2009). The combined application of Panchagavya + Fish meal extract + sea weed extract along with 75% NPK + humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha gave 16.29 per cent additional yield over T_7 - 75% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha. Application of

Table 1: Effect of various organic and inorganic substances on growth and yield of rice

Treatments	Plant height at 60 DAT (cm)	Plant height at harvest (cm)	No. of productive tillers/ m ²	No. of spikelets/ panicle	Sterility (%)	Grain yield (Kg/ha)	Straw yield (Kg/ha)
T ₁ - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha	77.7	89.73	329	108.45	18.03	5030	7599
$T_2 - T_1 +$ Panchagavya spray @ 3% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT	82.49	93.66	341	111.18	16.03	5402	8242
$T_3 - T_1 +$ Fish meal extract spray @ 3% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT	83.62	95.23	342	111.86	13.96	5469	8281
$T_4 - T_1 + Auxin Gold Sea weed extract spray @ 0.35% on 20, 35, 50 DAT$	82.13	92.87	339	110.3	16.54	5357	8157
$T_5 - T_1 + Potassium nitrate spray @ 0.5\% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT$	81.1	91.82	334	108.44	17.5	5296	7803
$T_6 - T_1 +$ Panchagavya, Fish meal extract and sea weed extract spray on 20, 35 and 50 DAT $(T_2+T_3+T_4)$	89.1	99.73	353	119	11.41	5660	8569
T ₇ - 75% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha	69.4	80.53	308	100.8	25.94	4240	6431
T ₈ - T ₇ + Panchagavya spray @ 3% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT	76.28	86.29	322	102.47	21.36	4627	7166
$T_9 - T_7 +$ Fish meal extract spray @ 3% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT	77.37	88.45	322	103.72	20.61	4627	7008
T_{10} - T_7 + Auxin Gold Sea weed extract spray @ 0.35% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT	75.84	84.36	316	101.65	21.81	4638	6820
T_{11} - T_7 + Potassium nitrate spray @ 0.5% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT	72.61	81.94	310	101.94	25.34	4326	6920
$T_{12} - T_7$ + Panchagavya, Fish meal extract and sea weed extract spray on 20, 35 and 50 DAT ($T_8 + T_9 + T_{10}$)	79.83	90.25	329	106.29	19.44	4931	7445
S. Ed	1.42	1.62	6	1.95	0.41	90	137
CD (p = 0.05)	2.95	3.37	12	4.06	0.86	186	285

36 ★ Journal of Rice Research 2019, Vol 12, No. 2



potassium nitrate either with 75% NPK or 100% NPK with humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha improved the grain yield to the tune of 86 and 266 Kg/ha, respectively.

Among the treatments tested, T₆ - 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha + Panchagavya + Fish meal extract + sea weed extract spray on 20, 35 and 50 DAT surpassed all other treatments and resulted in the highest straw yield (8569 kg/ha). This might be due to increased growth parameters like plant height, more number of tillers, leaf area index and dry matter production. Better performance of combined use of organic substances with chemical fertilizer might be due to synergistic effect of inorganic fertilizers and organic substances as well as the slow release of nutrients throughout the crop growth, thus helping to produce more photosynthates and also the immediate release of N and improved soil physical properties due to application of humic acid granules. The Application of 25% less NPK resulted in 18.16% less straw yield compared to 100% NPK application. Foliar application of panchagavya or fish meal extract or sea weed extract increased the straw yield to the tune of 735, 577 and 389 kg/ha over 75% NPK + humic acid granules @ 12.5 kg/ha, respectively.

Conclusion

Application of 100% NPK + Humic acid granules @ 12.5 Kg/ha + Panchagavya @ 3% + Fish meal extract @ 3% + sea weed extract spray @ 0.35% on 20, 35 and 50 DAT is recommended for low land rice to get higher yields.

References

- Ajay Alias Mangtu Ram. 2017. Panchagavya is a biofertilizer in organic farming. *International Journal of Advanced Science and Research*, 2(5): 54 – 57.
- Ali M, Islam M and Jahiruddin M. 2009. Effect of integrated use of organic manures with chemical fertilizers in the rice-rice cropping system and its impact on soil health. *Bangladesh Journal of Agricultural Research*, 34(1): 81-90.
- Carol Lyngdoh, Vijay Bahadur, David A, Prasad VM and Tajungsolo Jamir. 2017. Effect of organic manures, organic supplements and Biofertilizers on growth and yield of cowpea. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 6 (8):1029-1036.
- Mallavarapu Geetha L, Satya Bhavani G, Sathiya Narayanan and Prakash M. 2015. Effect of organic seed management techniques on seedling production in rice cv. ADT-45. *Plant Archieves*, 15 (1): 297-301.
- Singh S K, Thakur R, Singh CS, Pal SK and Ashok Kr. Singh. 2018. Studies on Efficacy of Seaweed Extract and Fertility Levels on Growth, Yield and Economics of Rice. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Science*, 7: 3056-3065.



ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

Isolation, identification and characterization of efficient free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria from rice rhizosphere ecosystem

Bandeppa S, Latha PC*, Amol S Phule, Rajani G, Prasad Babu KV, Kalyani M Barbadikar, Chandrakala C, Prasad Babu MBB, Mandal PK and Sundaram RM

ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad *Corresponding author (email: lathapc@gmail.com)

Received: 22 April 2019; Accepted: 28 August 2019

Abstract

Biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) is a natural bacterial process of utmost importance due to its potential to supply alternative source of plant available nitrogen for the crops to enable sustainable and economical production. The aim of the present study is to isolate efficient nitrogen fixing bacteria with a potential to be developed into bio-fertilizer for supplying nitrogen and for improving growth and yield of rice. With this background, rice (*Oryza sativa L*.) rhizosphere soil samples were collected from different locations and 197 nitrogen-fixing bacterial strains were isolated. Among these, eight promising bacterial strains that showed highest nitrogen fixing ability based on Acetylene Reduction Assay (ARA) were isolated and identified as *Stenotrophomonas sp.*, *Paenibacillus sp.* (isolate 1), *Ochrobactrum sp.*, *Paenibacillus sp.* (isolate 2), *Burkholderia cepacia* (isolate 1), *Burkholderia cepacia*, *Xanthomonas sacchari* and *Rhizobium sp.* The reduction rates of the eight potential isolates were further characterized for their morphological features and for their plant growth-promoting (PGP) activity like indole acetic acid (IAA) production and insoluble mineral (P, K, Zn) solubilization. All isolates exhibited IAA production ranging from 11.90 to 47.40 µg/ml while two isolates possessed phosphate and zinc solubilization activity.

Keywords: Nitrogen-fixing bacteria, IAA, ARA, Phosphate-solubilizing bacteria, rice ecosystem

Introduction

Microbes are considered as engineers of soils, playing a vital role in maintaining soil fertility by enriching the availability of nitrates, phosphorous and other nutrients (Rajendhran and Gunasekaran, 2008). Rice (Oryza sativa) is a primary food source for half of the world's population. Rice cultivated in different ecologies supports a wide diversity of soil microbes and soil fauna in aqua terrestrial ecosystems. Biologically fixed nitrogen is a potential alternative source of nitrogen for sustainable cereal crops production (Rogers and Oldroyd, 2014). Diazotrophic free-living bacteria is known to contribute 20 kilograms per hectare per year to the long-term nitrogen needs of cereals rotation cropping system (30-50% of the total needs) (Vadakattu and Paterson, 2006). Diazotrophs are found among most of the bacterial groups like alphaproteobacteria, gammaproteobacteria, firmicutes, beta proteobacteria and cyanobacteria, but are not the most abundant (dominant) bacteria in plant

most of the bacterial , gammaproteobacteria, and cyanobacteria, but hinant) bacteria in plant

Phosphate-solubilizing

rhizospheres, so there is scope for increasing nitrogen-

fixation by favouring their populations in rice rhizosphere.

Many rhizospheric bacteria also contribute to plant growth

promotion by producing plant hormones. Indole acetic

acid (IAA) producing bacteria promotes the growth and

root architecture of the host plant and is also thought to

be a trait required for better rhizosphere colonization

and competence (De Salamone et al., 2005). IAA from

plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) can loosen

cell walls of the plant, which leads to enhancing level of

root exudation that provides nutrients for the growth and

development of bacteria in rhizosphere (Chi et al., 2005).

bacteria

(PSB)

enhance



actinomycetes with plant growth-promoting abilities like, biological nitrogen fixation, phytohormones production, biocontrol activities etc. and bacteria hold foremost position as PSM than fungi and actinomycetes with a population of 1-50% among total soil microbial populations (Alam *et al.*, 2002). Plant growth-promoting, zinc solubilizing rhizobacteria have also been found to enhance the plant growth and development by colonizing the rhizosphere and making zinc available to the plants (Rodriguez *et al.*, 2006). The aim of the present study was to isolate, identify and characterise nitrogen-fixing bacteria from different rice ecosystems.

Materials and methods

Soil samples: Rice rhizosphere soil samples were collected from farmers fields in Ranga Reddy, Vikarabad (Telangana) and Mandya districts (Karnataka) where rice was grown under irrigated and aerobic ecologies. Soil samples were collected at the rice reproductive stage (10-15 cm depth) and immediately stored in sterile polythene bags at 4°C until further analysis.

Isolation of nitrogen-fixing bacteria: Ten grams of rhizosphere soil samples were suspended in Erlenmeyer flask containing 90 ml of sterile distilled water and mixed thoroughly in an incubated shaker (120 rpm) at 28 °C for 1 hr. Appropriate serial dilutions were prepared and 0.1 ml (10⁻³ to 10⁻⁶ dilutions) aliquots were plated on N (Nitrogen) free Rennie's media (Atlas, 2004). The petri plates were incubated at 28 ± 2 °C in an incubator for 3-7 days. Bacterial isolates showing visually differential growth were picked up and purified on the same media. The purified bacterial cultures were maintained on N-free Rennie's slants and stored on 50% glycerol stock at 4 °C and -80 °C. Sub culturing of purified bacterial cultures were carried out as and when required.

Acetylene Reduction Assay (ARA): Nitrogenase activity *i.e.* acetylene reduction assay of isolated and purified culture was determined by using Gas Chromatography (GC) method (Hardy *et al.*, 1971). Purified cultures were inoculated on Rennie's slant and incubated at 28 ± 2 °C for 3 days in an incubator. Acetylene gas (10% V/V) was injected in the tube and incubated for 24 hrs. Appropriate uninoculated controls were maintained. After incubation, 1 ml air sample was removed from the tubes and injected into Gas chromatograph for analysis. The ethylene

produced by reduction of acetylene was assayed using a Gas chromatograph (Thermo Scientific, GC1110 model) with FID detector having Porapak N column using N_2 as a carrier gas. After completion of ARA, to determine protein content, cells were suspended in 2 ml of 0.2 N NaOH, incubated for 10 min at 65 °C, followed by neutralization using 2 ml of 0.2 N HCl. Protein concentration in resultant mixture was determined by using Bradford method (Bradford, 1976). ARA was expressed in terms of hmoles of ethylene produced per mg protein per hr. The observations were recorded in three replications per treatment.

Genomic DNA Extraction: Eight cultures with high ARA activity were selected and grown in 5 ml of N- free Rennin's broth at 28 ± 2 °C for 24 hrs. Log phase cultures were used for isolation of total genomic DNA using CTAB /NaCl method (William *et al.*, 2012). Precipitated DNA was pelleted down by centrifuging at 8000 rpm for 10 min, washed with 70% ethanol, air-dried, dissolved in the TE buffer and stored at 4 °C for further use.

Amplification of 16S rDNA and identification of isolates: The 16S rRNA gene from the bacterial genomic DNA was amplified using FGPS6 (forward primer) 5'GGAGAGTTAGATCTTGGCTCAG3' and FGPS1509 (reverse primer) 5'AAGGAGGGGATCCAGCCGCA3 (Normand et al., 1992). In a reaction mixture, 50 ng of template DNA, primer (10 pmol each), dNTP (200 µM each) and 5 U Taq DNA polymerase (Takara) were used. The final volume of the reaction mixture was adjusted to 50 µl. Amplification was carried out under standard conditions (initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 min, 30 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 1 min, 30 cycles of annealing at 60 °C for 45 sec, extension at 72 °C for 1 min and a final extension at 72 °C for 7 min). Amplified PCR product was resolved on 1.2% of agarose gel in 1xTAE buffer. The amplified product was purified by using PCR cleanup kit (Favorgen) according to manufacturer instructions. Amplified 16S rRNA gene of the selected isolates was sequenced by Sanger sequencing (Eurofins, India). The sequences were compared using BLAST search tool with already known and identified microbial databases of National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) for identification of the isolates.

Indole acetic acid (IAA) production: Indole Acetic Acid (IAA) production ability of the identified cultures was



carried out by using the Hartmann method by growing cultures in Tryptic soya broth amended filter sterilized tryptophan (100 μ g/ml broth) for 7 days at 28°C (Hartmann *et al.*, 1983). After incubation, an aliquot of the culture supernatant was mixed with equal volumes of Salkowski reagent solution and incubated for 30 minutes to allow the colour to develop before taking reading absorbance at 530 nm using Spectrophotometer (model Shimadzu, UV-1800). The IAA production by the cultures was expressed as μ g IAA produced/ ml. Appropriate uninoculated controls were maintained. Three replications for each treatment were maintained and the experiment repeated twice.

Phosphorous-solubilization: The ability of the isolates to solubilize inorganic phosphate was determined by spotting 5 μ l (10⁸ CFU/ ml) of fresh bacterial culture on Pikovskaya media (Pikovskaya, 1948). Plates were observed for the formation of transparent halos around each bacterial colony and formation of a clear zone around the colony indicates solubilization.

Zinc solubilisation: Cultures were inoculated as spot on respective zinc medium plates for studying the zinc solubilization (Sharma *et al.*, 2012). These plates were covered with aluminium foil and incubated in dark at 28 °C for 14 days and further observed for the zinc solubilization which appears as a halo around the colony.

Potassium solubilisation: A loopful of culture of each bacteria were inoculated into 25 ml Aleksandrov medium and incubated at 28 ± 2 °C for 10 days. The growth suspension was centrifuged at 8,000 rpm for 10 min to separate the supernatant from the cell growth and insoluble potassium. One ml of the supernatant was diluted to 50 ml with distilled water, mixed thoroughly and the resultant solution was used to determine K content with atomic absorption spectrometer. (Alexander, 1985).

Results and Discussion

In the present investigation, a total of 197 nitrogen-fixing bacterial cultures were isolated from the rice fields. Among the 197 isolates, eight potential bacterial cultures were selected and further processed for molecular identification (16S rRNA gene sequencing), morphological and plant growth-promoting activities.

Acetylene reduction by the promising isolates

Nitrogenase, the enzyme that is responsible for biological nitrogen fixing, reduces N_2 to NH_3 . It also has the capacity of

reducing acetylene to ethylene. So, measuring the quantity of ethylene that is produced in the medium provides a way of estimating nitrogenase activity. Acetylene Reducing Assay (ARA) was carried out to examine the nitrogen-fixing ability of isolated cultures through gas chromatographic (GC) analysis. Out of 197 cultures, eight cultures showed a high ARA activity ranging from 115 to 490 nmoles ethylene/h/mg protein (Table 1).

Table	1:	Nitrogenase	(ARA)	activity	$\boldsymbol{o}\boldsymbol{f}$	promising
isolate	S					

S.	Selected	Acetylene reduction assay (ARA)
No.	isolates	ηM of C ₂ H ₄ produced h ⁻¹ mg ⁻¹ protein
1	IIRR A3	193
2	IIRR C4	314
3	IIRR E3	149
4	IIRR F4	490
5	IIRR J3	140
6	IIRR J4	115
7	IIRR M4	123
8	IIRR N	410

Identification of selected isolates

The molecular characterization of eight promising isolates (based on higher ARA activity) was carried out using PCR based 16S rRNA gene amplification and Sanger sequencing. After PCR based amplification of 16S rRNA gene (1,450 bp) and Sanger sequencing a BLASTN search of the amplified 16S rRNA gene sequence database was performed by the BLAST search tool and identified based on the similarity to the closest type strain affiliated to each of the isolated strains. The 16S rRNA gene nucleotide sequences of IIRR E3 isolate was showed the high similarity (100%) to the 16S rRNA gene sequences of strain Ochrobactrum sp. JF313266.1, while the other cultures viz., IIRR A3 (92%), IIRR C4 (82%), IIRR J3 (97.49), IIRR F4 (96.57%), IIRR J4 (97.98%), IIRR M4 (90.65%) and IIRR N (95.7%) were showed the similarity to the 16S rRNA gene nucleotide sequences with Stenotrophomonas sp., Paenibacillus sp., Burkholderia cepacia, Paenibacillus sp. and Burkholderia cepacia, respectively (Table 2). Based on the identification, highest ARA activity among the promising isolates was recorded in Rhizobium sp. (490 nmoles ethylene/h/mg protein) and lowest activity was seen in Burkholderia cepacia (115 nmoles ethylene/h/ mg protein). All eight promising nitrogen-fixing cultures were stored at 4 °C and -20 °C in glycerol stock for further studies.



S. No.	Selected isolates	Identified promising N-fixing bacteria
1	IIRR A3	Stenotrophomonas sp.
2	IIRR C4	Paenibacillus sp. (isolate 1)
3	IIRR E3	Ochrobactrum sp.
4	IIRR F4	Paenibacillus sp. (isolate 2)
5	IIRR J3	Burkholderia cepacia (isolate 1)
6	IIRR J4	Burkholderia cepacia (isolate 2)
7	IIRR M4	Xanthomonas sacchari
8	IIRR N	Rhizobium sp.

 Table 2: Promising N-fixing bacteria identified from

 different rice ecosystems

Our results are similar to earlier reports on the identification of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in various crops. Majeed et al. (2015) demonstrated that diazotrophic strains of Stenotrophomonas sp. exhibited multiple plant growth promotion activities and colonized the wheat rhizosphere as well as in the root interiors. They also identified five Paenibacillus sp. exhibiting IAA production and nitrogenase activities (Paenibacillus sp. SZ-10, Paenibacillus sp. JS-4, Paenibacillus sp. SZ-14, Paenibacillus sp. SZ-15 and Paenibacillus sp. BJ-4), which significantly enhanced the growth and dry weight of wheat (Liu et al. 2019). Also, Paenibacillus polymyxa M1 isolated from root tissues of wheat was reported to promote plant growth (Yao et al., 2008; Niu et al., 2011). In relation with our results, Ochrobactrum sp. has been earlier reported in some legumes showed the complete symbiotic relationship and also establishing the biological nitrogen fixation with host plant (Trujillo et al., 2005, Meng

et al., 2014). Dobereiner (1997) identified microaerophilic bacteria *viz. Burkholderia sp.* that colonize shoots, leaves and roots of rice, wheat and maize leading to enhanced growth.

Morphological characterization

The identified eight bacterial cultures were characterized morphologically based on their size (which varied from very small to small, moderate and large) and apparent differences in slime production. Among these, four bacterial cultures (*Stenotrophomonas sp.*, *Paenibacillus sp.* isolate 1, *Xanthomonas sacchari* and *Rhizobium sp.*) were fast growers and the other four cultures (*Ochrobactrum sp.*, *Paenibacillus sp.* isolate 2, *Burkholderia cepacia.* isolate 1 and *Burkholderia cepacia.* isolate 2) showed slow growth on N-free medium. Pigmentation of colonies was less and varied from non-pigmentation, to creamy yellow (*Xanthomonas sacchari*) pigmentation. (Figure 1, Table 3).



a- Stenotrophomonas sp, b- Paenibacillus sp, c- Burkholderia cepacia, d- Burkholderia cepacia, e-Onchrobactrum sp, f- Rhizobium sp, g- Paenibacillus sp, h- Xanthomonas sacchari

Figure 1: Colony morphology of identified eight promising nitrogen-fixing bacteria

S. No.	Selected isolates	Growth	Size	Slime Production	Pigmentation
1	Stenotrophomonas sp.	Active	Very small	++	Creamy - Non-pigmentation
2	Paenibacillus sp. (isolate 1)	Active	Small	++	Creamy - Non-pigmentation
3	Ochrobactrum sp.	Slow	Small	+	Creamy- Yellow Pigmentation
4	Paenibacillus sp. (isolate 2)	Slow	Moderate	++	Non-pigmentation
5	Burkholderia cepacia (isolate 1)	Slow	Large	+	Creamy Non-pigmentation
6	Burkholderia cepacia (isolate 2)	Slow	Large	++	Cream - Non-pigmentation
7	Xanthomonas sacchari	Active	Moderate	++++	Cream - Non-pigmentation
8	Rhizobium sp.	Active	Large	+++	Yellow - Pigmentation

Table 3: Morphological characterization of identified nitrogen-fixing bacteria

Media: NA - Nutrient Agar (NA) and Rennie, ++++ More slime production, + Less slime production



Characterization for Indole acetic acid (IAA) production and Mineral solubilization

The eight isolates were further tested for their ability to produce IAA and to solubilize insoluble potassium, phosphorous and zinc solubilization. All eight isolates grown in the minimal medium supplemented with tryptophan exhibited considerable production of IAA with amounts ranging from 11.90 to 47.40 μ g/ml. Among these, *Orthobacterium sp.* showed the greatest IAA production (47.40 μ g/ml) and *Burkholderia cepacia* had lower IAA production of 11.90 μ g/ml. (Table 4). In addition to the nitrogen-fixing ability of isolates, the two isolates *viz*. *Ochrobacterum sp.* and *Xanthomonas sacchari* displayed solubilization of phosphate and zinc. None of the isolates demonstrated potassium solubilizing activity (Table 4).

S.	Selected isolates	Indole acetic acid (IAA) assay	Insoluble minerals solubilization assay					
No.	Selected Isolates	(µg/ml)	Potassium	Phosphorous	Zinc			
1	Stenotrophomonas sp.	28.70	-	-	-			
2	Paenibacillus sp. (isolate 1)	15.60	-	-	-			
3	Ochrobactrum sp.	47.40	-	+	+			
4	Paenibacillus sp. (isolate 2)	30.75	-	-	-			
5	Burkholderia cepacia (isolate 1)	14.80	-	-	-			
6	Burkholderia cepacia (isolate 2)	11.90	-	-	-			
7	Xanthomonas sacchari	38.50	-	+	+			
8	Rhizobium sp.	19.91	-	-	-			

Table 4: IAA production and mineral solubilizing capacity of promising isolates

+ (Positive) - Showing solubilization, - (Negative) - Not showing solubilization

Leinhos (1994) reported bacterial biosynthesis of IAA in many rhizobacteria and it has been assumed that approximately 80% of rhizospheric bacteria can secrete IAA. However, Joseph et al. (2007) reported that the ability of bacteria to produce IAA in the rhizosphere depends on the availability of precursors and uptake of microbial IAA by the plant. In the present study, all the eight promising N-fixing bacteria are capable of producing the IAA similar to earlier studied reports (Reetha et al., 2014, Oteino et al., 2015). The capacity to produce IAA is widespread among soil plant growth-promoting bacteria such as Azospirillum sp., Enterobacter cloacae and Klebsiella sp. (Spaepen et al., 2007). Furthermore, IAA production has been reported in P. stutzeri strain A15 group of bacteria (Mehnaz et al., 2009) wherein the strain A15 was reisolated from inoculated rice roots (Lalucat et al., 2006). Also, Pseudomonas sp. have been reported to enhance the growth of onion crop (Reetha et al., 2014, Oteino et al., 2015). Pseudomonas fluorescens has shown indole acetic acid (IAA) production resulting in enhanced growth of onion as well as phosphate solubilization (Reetha et al., 2014, Oteino et al., 2015).

Phosphate solubilizing bacteria (PSB) provides available form of phosphorus (P) to the plants and is hence a viable substitute to chemical phosphatic fertilizers (Khan *et al.*, 2009). Our results are similar to the previous reports on phosphate solubilizing bacterial genera viz. Azotobacter, Bacillus, Burkholderia, Erwinia. Enterobacter. Pseudomonas and Rhizobium (Bhattacharyya and Jha, 2012). Current results in relation to phosphate solubilization also correlate with earlier studies on plant growthpromoting abilities of Enterobacter species (Ahemad and Khan, 2010, Khalifa et al., 2016). Enterobacter asburiae has shown phosphate solubilization, IAA and ammonia as well as siderophore production (Ahemad and Khan, 2010). Similarly, Rhizobium sp. and E. cloacae have been found to possess phosphate solubilization and ability for phytohormone production like acetoin, which leads to significant growth and development of the pea (Pisum sativum) (Khalifa et al., 2016).

Our results on zinc solubilization are correlated with the earlier reports on identified zinc solubilizing bacterial genera belonging to *Pseudomonas, Bacillus, Enterobacter, Xanthomonas, Stenotrophomonas* and *Acinetobacter* (Saravanan *et al.*, 2003, Gandhi and Muralidharan 2016; Sunithakumari *et al.*, 2016). Zinc solubilizing ability has been proven for *Bacillus sp.* and *Pseudomonas sp.* which was observed as production of visible halo zones on the zinc oxide-amended media (Saravanan *et al.*, 2003).



In summary, from our investigation, we have isolated and identified eight promising N-fixing bacteria *viz*. *Stenotrophomonas sp.* (IIRR A3), *Paenibacillus sp.* (isolate 1) (IIRR C4), *Burkholderia cepacian.* (isolate 1) (IIRR J3), *Burkholderia cepacian* (isolate 2) (IIRR J4), *Ochrobactrum sp.* (IIRR E3), *Paenibacillus sp.* (isolate 2) (IIRR F4), *Xanthomonas sacchari* (IIRR M4) and *Rhizobium sp.* (IIRR N) with additional plant growth promoting traits with a potential for enhancing rice plant growth.

Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful to ICAR (Plan Scheme network project entitled-Incentivizing Research Project III-"Genetic modifications to improve biological nitrogen fixation for augmenting nitrogen needs of rice") and Director, ICAR -IIRR for providing financial assistance and necessary facilities for research.

References

- Ahemad M and Khan MS. 2010. Plant growth promoting activities of phosphate-solubilizing *Enterobacter asburiae* as influenced by fungicides. *EurAsian Journal of Biosciences*, 4: 88-95.
- Alam S, Khalil S, Ayub N and Rashid M. 2002. In vitro solubilization of inorganic phosphate by phosphate solubilizing microorganism (PSM) from maize rhizosphere. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 4: 454-458.
- Alexander M. 1985. Introduction to Soil Microbiology. John
- Wiley and Sons Inc., NewYork, USA, pp 382-385.
- Atlas RM. 2004. Handbook of microbiological media, 3rd Edition, 1483 pp. Washington DC: CRC press.
- Bhattacharyya PN and Jha DK. 2012. Plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): emergence in agriculture. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 28(4): 1327-1350.
- Bradford MM. 1976. A rapid sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilising the principle of protein-Dye Binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 72: 248-254.
- Chi F, Shen SH, Cheng HP, Jing YX, Yanni YG and Dazzo FB. 2005. Ascending migration of endophytic rhizobia, from roots to leaves inside rice plants and assessment of benefits to rice growth physiology. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*,71: 7271-7278.

- De Salamone IEG, Hynes RK and Nelson LM. 2005. Role of cytokinins in plant growth promotion by rhizosphere bacteria. *In:* Siddiqui ZA (ed.) PGPR: Biocontrol and Biofertilization. *Springer, The Netherlands*. pp. 173-195.
- Dobereiner J. 1997. Biological nitrogen fixation in the tropics: social and economic contributions. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29: 771-774.
- Gandhi A and Muralidharan G. 2016. Assessment of zinc solubilizing potentiality of *Acinetobacter* sp. isolated from rice rhizosphere. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 76: 1-8.
- Hardy RWF, Burns RC and Parshall GW. 1971. The biochemistry of N2 fixation. *In:* Bioinorganic chemistry. *Advance in Biochemistry Series*, 100: 219-247.
- Hartmann A, M Singh and W Klingmuller. 1983. Isolation and characterization of *Azospirillum* mutants excreting high amounts of indoleacetic acid. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 29: 916-923.
- Joseph B, Ranjan Patra R and Lawrence R. 2007. Characterization of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria associated with chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *International Journal of Plant Production*,1(2): 141-152.
- Khalifa AYZ, Alsyeeh AM, Almalki MA and Saleh FA. 2016. Characterization of the plant growth promoting bacterium, *Enterobacter cloacae* MSR1, isolated from roots of non-nodulating *Medicago sativa*. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 23: 79-86.
- Khan AA, Jilani G, Akhtar MS, Naqvi SMS and Rasheed M. 2009. Phosphorus solubilizing bacteria: occurrence, mechanisms and their role in crop production. *Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences*, 1(1): 48-58.
- Lalucat J, Bennasar A, Bosch R, García-Valdés E and Palleroni NJ. 2006. Biology of *Pseudomonas stutzeri*. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 70: 510-547.
- Leinhos V. 1994. Effects of pH and glucose on auxin production by phosphate-solubilizing rhizobacteria *Invitro. Microbiological Research*, 194:135-138.
- Liu X, Li Q, Li Y, Guan G and Chen S. 2019. *Paenibacillus* strains with nitrogen fixation and multiple beneficial properties for promoting plant growth. *Peer Journal*, 7: e7445.



- Majeed A, Kaleem Abbasi M, Hameed S, Imran A and Rahim N. 2015. Isolation and characterization of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria from wheat rhizosphere and their effect on plant growth promotion. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6: 198.
- Mehnaz S, Weselowski B, Aftab F, Zahid S, Lazarovits G and Iqbal J. 2009. Isolation, characterization, and effect of fluorescent *Pseudomonas* on micropropagated sugarcane. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 55(8): 1007-1011.
- Meng X, Yan D, Long X, Wang C, Liu Z and Rengel Z. 2014. Colonization by endophytic *Ochrobactrum anthropi* Mn1 promotes growth of *Jerusalem artichoke*. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 7: 601-610.
- Niu B, Rueckert C, Blom J, Wang Q and Borriss R. 2011. The genome of the plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium *Paenibacillus polymyxa* M-1 contains nine sites dedicated to non-ribosomal synthesis of lipopeptides and polyketides. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 193: 5862-5863.
- Normand PB, Cournoyer S, Nazaret and P Simonet. 1992. Analysis of a ribosomal RNA operon in the actinomycete *Frankia*. *Gene*, 111:119-124.
- Oteino N, Lally RD, Kiwanuka S, Lloyd A, Ryan D, Germaine K J and Dowling DN. 2015. Plant growth promotion induced by phosphate solubilizing endophytic Pseudomonas isolates. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6: 1-9.
- Pikovskaya, RI. 1948. Mobilization of phosphorus in soil in connection with the vital activity of some microbial species. *Microbiology*, 17: 362-370.
- Rajendhran J and Gunasekaran P. 2008. Strategies for accessing soil metagenome for desired applications. *Biotechnology Advances*, 26: 576-590.
- Reetha S, Bhuvaneswari G, Thamizhiniyan P and Mycin TR. 2014. Isolation of indole acetic acid (IAA) producing rhizobacteria of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and *Bacillus subtilis* and enhance growth of onion (*Allim cepa*. L). *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 3: 568-574.

- Rodriguez H, R Fraga, T Gonzalez and Y Bashan. 2006. Genetics of phosphate solubilization and its potential applications for improving plant-growth-promoting bacteria. *Plant and Soil*, 287: 15-21.
- Rogers C and Oldroyd GED. 2014. Synthetic biology approaches to engineering the nitrogen symbiosis in cereals. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 65: 1939– 1946.
- Saravanan VS, Subramoniam SR and Raj SA. 2003. Assessing in vitro solubilization of different zinc solubilizing bacterial (ZBS) isolates. *Brazilian Journal* of Microbiology, 34: 121-125.
- Sharma SK, Sharma MP, Ramesh A and Joshi OP. 2012. Characterization of zinc solubilizing Bacillus isolates and their potential to influence zinc assimilation in soybean seeds. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 22: 352-359.
- Spaepen S, J Vanderleyden and R Remans. 2007. Indole-3 acetic acid in microbial and micro0rganism plant signalling. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 31: 425-448.
- Sunithakumari K, Padma Devi SN and Vasandha S. 2016. Zinc solubilizing bacterial isolates from the agricultural field of Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India. *Current Science*, 110: 196-205.
- Trujillo ME, Willems A, Abril A, Planchuelo AM, Rivas R, Ludena D, Mateos PF, Martinez-Molina E and Velázquez E. 2005. Nodulation of *Lupinus albus* by strains of *Ochrobactrum lupini sp.* nov. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71: 1318-1327.
- Vadakattu G and Paterson J. 2006. Free-living bacteria lift soil nitrogen supply. *Farming Ahead*, 116: 40.
- William S, Helene Feil and A Copeland. 2012. Bacterial genomic DNA isolation using CTAB. *Sigma*, 50: 6876.
- Yao LJ, Wang Q, Xue-Chi FU and Mei RH. 2008. Isolation and identification of endophytic bacteria antagonistic to wheat sharp eyespot disease. *Chinese Journal of Biological Control*, 1: 53-57.



ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

OPEN ACCESS

Effect of seaweed extract as biostimulant on crop growth and yield in rice (*oryza sativa* l.) under transplanted condition

Arun MN^{1*}, Mahender Kumar R¹, Sailaja Nori², Aarthi Singh¹, Mangal Deep Tuti^{1,} Srinivas D¹, Venkatanna B¹, Surekha K¹, Padmavathi Ch¹ and Prasad MS¹

> ¹ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research Hyderabad-500030 Telangana, India ²Sea6 Energy Private Limited Bangalore-560065 Karnataka, India *Corresponding author (e - mail: arun_tulasi2011@yahoo.in)

Received: 10 October 2019; Accepted: 21 December 2019

Abstract

Enhancing productivity through integrated nutrient management is pertinent to sustainable intensification of agricultural ecosystems. Field experiments were conducted during *kharif* and *rabi* 2016 at the research farm of Indian Institute of Rice Research, Hyderabad, Telangana in a clay loam soil to study the effect of sea weed extract (Liquid Bio-stimulant6, LBS6_S, LBS8, LBS9 and LBS10) with various concentrations on growth, yield of rice under transplanted condition. Positive effects and significant variation was observed on the plant height (98.9 cm) at harvest stage of rice when LBS6_S bio-stimulant (T₃) was sprayed when compared to other bio-stimulant application while least plant height was recorded with recommended dose of fertilizer (120:60:40 NPK Kg/ha). Grain yield due to seaweed bio-stimulants application varied from 5.31 to 5.58 t/ha and significantly increased over recommended dose of fertilizer alone (T₇). Per centage increase of grain yield was 4.15 to 9.14 per cent over recommended dose of fertilizer. Hence, bio-stimulant LBS6_S can be applied for improving growth and grain yield of transplanted rice.

Keywords: Liquid Biostimulant, Seaweed Extracts, transplanted rice

Introduction

Rice is the most important staple food crop for more than half of the global population and is grown extensively in the world. India occupies first position in area (44.2 M ha) and second position in production after China (140.8 million tonnes) in the world. In India, rice production has increased by fivefold from 20.51 mt during 1950 - 1951 to more than 108.86 mt in 2016 -17 and this increase in rice production can be attributed to the development of fertilizer responsive high yielding rice varieties which made nearly 50 per cent contribution in tapping the high yield potential of varietal technology (Anonymous, 2017). Indiscriminate use of fertilizers had resulted in imbalanced use which gradually decreased the productivity of the soil over the years and balanced fertilizer use is a pre-requisite for sustaining rice production. Seaweeds are one of the most important marine resources of the world and derived products have been widely used as amendments in crop production system due to the presence of number of plant growth- stimulating compounds such as cytokinin, auxins, gibberellins, betaines, as well as presence of macronutrients

such as Ca, K, P, and micronutrients like Fe, Cu, Zn, B, Mn, Co and Mo, which are necessary for plant growth and development (Mahima Begum, 2018). Seaweeds, particularly brown algae, have been used in agriculture since the twelveth century with much success (Temple and Bomke, 1988). They were added either directly to the soil as seaweed compost or dried and ground and added to the soil as seaweed meal. Both the seaweed compost and meal serve as a slow release fertilizer and act as soil conditioner. improving aeration and aggregate stability. However, the bio-stimulatory potential of many of these products has not been fully exploited due to the lack of scientific data on growth factors present in sea weeds and their mode of action in affecting plant growth. The seaweed bio-product is a bio-stimulant formulation that is a mixture of micro and macro nutrients, amino acids, carbohydrates, plant growth regulators and other plant growth elicitors emerging as commercial formulations for use as plant growth-promoting factors and a method to improve tolerance to salinity, heat, and drought due to presence of plant hormones (Kavipriya



et al, 2011). Modern agriculture is searching for new technologies that would allow for a reduction in the use of chemical inputs without negatively affecting crop yield or the farmers' income. In recent years, the use of natural seaweed as fertilizer has allowed for partial substitution of conventional inorganic fertilizer (Zodape *et al.*, 2010). One of the most consistent effects of sea weed concentrate (SWC) application is the development of a vigorous root system if applied during the early vegetative growth phase (Metting *et al.*, 1990).

In this connection it is essential to utilize the different biostimulants which indirectly enhances the plant to assimilate more nutrients from the soil and also translates into increase yield. Hence, the present investigation was conducted to study the response of different concentration seaweed biostimulant LBS6, LBS6_S, LBS8, LBS9 and LBS10 as foliar application in addition to recommended fertilizer dose on growth, yield and productivity of the system.

Materials and Methods

A field experiment was conducted during kharif and rabi 2016 with rice variety RP Bio-226 (Improved Samba Mahsuri) of 135 days duration (latitude - 17°23' N, longitude - $78^{\circ}25$ 'E and altitude - 508 M) at the research farm of Indian Institute of Rice Research Rajendranagar Hyderabad. The soil of the experimental field was clay loam in texture with a pH 7.9, organic carbon (0.37%), low in available nitrogen (206 kg / ha), medium in available phosphorous (22.3 kg / ha) and high in available potassium (304 kg / ha). Entire dose of phosphorus and potassium (60 and 40 K Kg/ha) and one third dose of nitrogen (40 Kg/ha)was applied as basal. The remaining nitrogen (80 Kg / ha) was top dressed equally at tillering and panicle initiation stage. The experiment consisted of seven treatments viz.,T₁ – LBS6 @ 1ml / Litre of water – one spray during nursery transplanting + two sprays (30 and 60 days after transplanting) T₂ - LBS6 @ 1.0 ml / Litre of water - one spray during nursery transplanting + two sprays during vegetative stage (30 and 60 days after transplanting) (20% Less NPK fertilizer dose) T₂- LBS6_S @ 1.0 ml / Litre of water - one spray during nursery transplanting + two sprays during vegetative stage (30 and 60 days after transplanting) T₄- LBS8 @ 1.0 ml / Litre of water - one spray during nursery transplanting + two sprays during vegetative stage (30 and 60 days after transplanting), T_{5} -LBS9 @ 1.0 ml / Litre of water – one spray during nursery

transplanting + two sprays during vegetative stage (30 and 60 days after transplanting) T_6 - LBS10 @ 1.0 ml / Litre of water - one spray during nursery transplanting + two sprays during vegetative stage (30 and 60 days after transplanting) T_{7} - Recommended NPK (120: 60: 40 NPK kg /ha) (Nitrogen -1/3 basal 1/3 tillering and 1/3 panicle initiation stage). The experiment was laid out in randomized block design with three replications. Twenty five days seedlings of rice were transplanted manually with a spacing of 20 x 15 cm. Recommended agronomic practices such as gap filling, weeding and pest and disease control were carried out uniformly as and when needed. Two hand weeding at 25 and 45 DAT were done for weed control. The growth attributes like plant height and dry matter production were recorded from randomly selected five plants in each plot (30, 60, 90 DAT and at harvest). The yield parameters (panicles hill⁻¹, effective grains panicle⁻¹ and test weight) were measured at maturity from randomly selected five hills in each plot. The post harvest data on grain and straw yields and harvest index (HI) were recorded from the net plot yield 6 x 2.0 m. and data were statistically analyzed using variance for randomized block design (Gomez and Gomez, 1984).

Results and Discussion

Growth and physiological attributes in rice

Crop growth attributes showed significant improvement with application of various sea weed liquid bio-stimulant formulations over recommended dose of fertilizer. All the growth and yield parameters such as plant height, number of leaves per hill, number of tillers / m² and SPAD reading recorded at 30 DAT and 60 DAT increased with the application of various seaweed bio-stimulants as compared to recommended dose of fertilizer (Table 1 & 2). The growth parameters were higher in Seaweed biostimulants (LBS6, LBS6_S, LBS-8, LBS-9 and LBS-10) over recommended dose of fertilizer (T_{7}) at 90 days after transplanting (Table 3). SPAD meter reading was highest in all the seaweed liquid bio-stimulant treatment compared to recommended dose of fertilizer (T_{z}) at 30, 60 and 90 days after transplanting. The organic constituents of seaweed extract include plant hormones which elicit strong physiological responses in low doses. The seaweed extracts helps in meristematic growth, translocation of photosynthates, enzyme activation, cell elongation and cell stability (Pramanick et al., 2013).



Positive effects and significant variation was observed on the plant height of rice when LBS6_S bio-stimulant (T₃) (81.3 cm and 80.3 cm, respectively) was sprayed when compared to other bio-stimulant application and the least plant height was recorded in recommended dose of fertilizer (72.1 cm and 71.0 cm) (Table 3). More number of tillers was obtained from LBS6_S (T₃) (562 tillers / m²) followed by LBS6 (T₁) (554 tillers/ m²) (Pooled data). Days to 50 per cent flowering was minimum in LBS6 S (91.7 days) and maximum in recommended dose of fertilizer (99.1 days) (T₇) (Figure 1). Layek *et al* (2018) reported that foliar spray sea weed sap of *Kappaphycus* and *Gracilara* species at 5 per cent and above concentration increased plant height, dry matter accumulation, chlorophyll index and crop growth rate as compared to recommended dose of fertilizer.

Yield attributes

All the yield parameters such as number of panicles/ m^2 , panicle weight, grains per panicle, test weight,

grain yield (t/ha) and harvest index increased with the application of various seaweed bio-stimulants as compared to recommended dose of fertilizer (Figure 1 & 2). Highest number of panicles was recorded in LBS6_S (T_2) (508 and 478 number of panicles / m²) followed by LBS10 (T_c) (489 and 449 panicles $/ m^2$) and LBS6 (T_1) (484 and 454 panicles / m²) during *kharif* and *rabi* season. Number of grains per panicle was highest in LBS6 S (197 and 193 grains/ panicle kharif and rabi season, respectively) when compared to all treatments The increase in yield attributes in rice crop is due to efficient utilization of native as well as applied nutrients through roots and foliar application of seaweed biostimulants. The spraying of seaweed extract at 30 and 60 days interval after planting recorded higher tuber yield, improved nitrogen, total soluble solids and protein contents of the potato tubers (Haider et al. 2012).

Table 1: Effect of Sea6 – Bio-stimulant on the plant growth of rice under puddled condition at 30 days after transplanting

Treatment	Plan	t Height	(cm)	Number of leaves / hill		Tillers/ m ²			SPAD Meter Reading			
Ireatinent	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled
T ₁	33.6	31.3	32.5	16.0	15.5	15.8	187	179	183	32.30	30.40	31.35
T ₂	31.0	30.7	30.8	13.9	13.2	13.55	189	173	181	32.60	30.26	31.43
T ₃	34.9	33.8	34.4	19.3	17.9	18.6	201	190	196	33.93	32.49	33.21
T ₄	31.6	31.9	31.8	17.4	16.6	17.0	197	177	187	33.17	31.20	32.19
T ₅	33.9	32.6	33.3	15.1	14.4	14.75	181	169	175	32.63	30.60	31.62
T ₆	34.5	33.1	33.8	15.8	15.2	15.5	183	171	177	33.59	31.92	32.76
T ₇	27.7	28.5	28.1	13.7	12.1	12.9	167	159	163	31.23	30.12	30.68
CD (0.05)	1.86	1.82	1.84	2.81	2.70	2.78	28.13	26.34	27.25	2.09	2.01	2.06
CV	3.41	3.36	3.38	10.53	10.41	10.46	8.93	8.43	8.69	4.67	4.45	4.59

 Table 2: Effect of Sea6 - Bio-stimulant on the plant growth of rice under puddle condition at 60 days after transplanting

Treatment	Plant Height (cm)			Number of leaves / hill			Tillers/ m ²			SPAD Meter Reading		
	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Mean	Kharif	Rabi	Mean
T ₁	63.1	61.9	62.5	34.1	33.3	33.7	289	284	286.5	37.8	36.07	36.93
T ₂	60.8	61.7	61.3	36.3	33.7	35.0	321	310	315.5	38.5	35.63	37.07
T ₃	63.9	63.5	63.7	38.1	37.1	37.6	324	304	314	38.9	36.65	37.78
T ₄	61.6	60.8	61.2	36.0	35.6	35.8	302	288	295	37.1	37.18	37.14
T ₅	62.9	61.4	62.1	34.3	33.5	33.9	309	300	304.5	37.4	35.49	36.45
T ₆	63.5	61.1	62.3	32.4	31.9	32.1	293	281	287	36.3	35.90	36.1
T ₇	57.7	52.9	55.3	30.3	29.1	29.7	230	252	241	35.2	33.47	34.34
CD (0.05)	4.39	3.85	4.12	2.91	2.83	2.87	41.01	38.03	39.52	3.38	3.04	3.21
CV	3.41	4.31	3.86	7.92	8.7	8.31	8.89	8.22	8.56	5.3	5.12	5.21

 T_1 - LBS6@ 1ml/lts (1spray at seedling transplantation +2 spray (30 and 60 DAS) + Recommended Dose of Fertilizer); T_2 - LBS6@ 1ml/lts (1 spray transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60DAS 20% lower Recommended Dose of Fertilizer); T_3 - LBS6_S ml/lts (1 spray at seedling transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60DAT); T_4 - LBS8 @ 1ml/lts 1 spray at seedling transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60 DAT); T_5 - LBS10 1ml/lts (1 spray at seedling transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60 DAT); T_7 - Recommended Dose of Fertilizer (100 per cent).



Tuestments	Plant height (cm)			No of leaves / hill			Tillers / m ²			SPAD Meter Reading		
Treatments	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled	Kharif	Rabi	Pooled
T ₁	75.8	74.1	74.9	42.3	43.0	42.7	557	551	554	39.77	39.9	39.83
T ₂	76.3	75.2	75.8	43.1	41.3	42.2	509	503	506	35.97	35.8	35.9
T ₃	81.3	80.3	80.8	46.3	45.8	46.1	565	560	562	37.50	37.6	37.6
T ₄	76.5	75.5	76.0	42.3	42.1	42.2	513	506	509	38.03	38.5	38.27
T ₅	77.4	76.3	76.9	40.3	42.6	41.5	545	540	542	40.13	40.7	40.42
T ₆	77.5	75.0	76.3	39.0	39.3	39.1	547	541	544	39.23	39.3	39.27
T ₇	72.1	71.0	71.6	35.7	37.0	36.4	503	499	501	37.67	37.1	37.39
CD (0.05)	4.49	4.52	4.50	4.89	4.92	4.90	65.51	65.65	65.57	5.03	5.06	5.04
CV	3.43	3.47	3.45	6.78	6.83	6.80	7.32	7.38	7.35	7.74	7.79	7.76

Table 3: Effect of Sea6 – Bio-stimulant on the plant growth of rice under puddle condition at 90 days after transplanting

 T_1 - LBS6@ 1ml/lts (1spray at seedling transplantation +2 spray (30 and 60 DAS) + Recommended Dose of Fertilizer); T_2 - LBS6@ 1ml/lts (1 spray transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60DAS 20% lower Recommended Dose of Fertilizer); T_3 - LBS6_S ml/lts (1 spray at seedling transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60DAT); T_4 - LBS8 @ 1ml/lts 1 spray at seedling transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60 DAT); T_5 - LBS9 1Ml/lts (1 Spray at seedling transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60 DAT); T_6 - LBS10 1ml/lts (1 spray at seedling transplantation + 2 spray (30 and 60 DAT); T_7 - Recommended Dose of Fertilizer (100 per cent).



Figure 1: Effect of Sea6 – Bio-stimulant on number of panicles /m², number of grains / panicle and days to 50 per cent flowering in rice



Figure 2: Effect of Sea6 – Bio-stimulant on panicle weight and panicle length in rice crop

Test Weight and Grain Yield (Kg /ha)

The highest test weight was recorded in LBS6_S (T_2) (21.68 g) followed by LBS6 (21.4 g) (pooled data). Grain yield due to seaweed bio-stimulants application varied from 5.31 t/ha to 5.58 t/ha (pooled) and significantly increased over recommended dose of fertilizer alone (T_{2}) Per centage increase of grain yield was 3.51 to 11.62 per cent in kharif and 2.05 per cent to 6.65 per cent during rabi season over recommended dose of fertilizer (Fig. 3). Favourable response to yield might be attributed to the better availability of plant nutrients throughout the growth period and especially in critical growth period of rice crop which resulted into better plant vigour and superior yield attributes. This is due to rapid growth caused by adequate nutrient supply to the rice crop which resulted in increase in various metabolic processes and better mobilization of synthesized carbohydrates in amino acids and protein which in turn stimulated the rapid cell division and cell elongation thus allowed the plant to grow faster (Anil et al., 2014). The positive effect of seaweed extracts application on soybean yield was also investigated. Foliar application of extracts in different concentrations resulted in higher yield, more intensive growth and better nutrients absorption of soybean (Rathore et al., 2009). Seaweed extracts can act by increasing plant vigor and vitality due to the presence of several bioactive substances that are important for plants and also they can improve nutrient uptake from soil. There are many advantages of using seaweed extracts as stimulants of plant growth, including higher germination rates, root-system development, increased leaf area, fruit quality and plant vigor. Besides this, plants treated with seaweed extracts have a higher content of biochemical constituents such as chlorophyll, carotenoids, protein, and amylases (Rosalba Mireya Hernández-Herrera et al., 2018). Layek et al (2018) reported that foliar spray of sea weed sap of Kappaphycus and Gracilara species at 5 per cent and above concentration increased yield attributes and yield of rice 5.4 to 18.4 per cent higher as compared to control.



Fig. 3: Effect of Sea6 - Bio-stimulant on Test weight, Grain yield and per centage grain yield in rice

Conclusion

Seaweeds provide an abundant source of natural growth substances that can be used to enhance plant growth. Seaweed liquid bio-stimulants are complex and diverse in nature and yet have great potential for enhancing crop productivity and offer novel biological mechanisms to exploit to ensure farmers for improving yield. It improves plant growth and yield with increased crop resistance to certain pests allowing for lower amounts of synthetic fertilizers and pesticides to be used. Escalating costs and increased awareness of the negative effects of using synthetic agrochemicals makes the use of sea weed extracts an attractive alternative. The results of the present study showed that the application of liquid biostimulant LBS6_S was found superior to all other biostimulants along with recommended dose of fertilizer which helped in the balance availability of nutrients to the plant and maintenance of organic and inorganic nutrient in soil and hence increased rice productivity by 3.51 to 11.62 per cent in *kharif* and 2.05 to 6.65 per cent during *rabi* season. In places where inorganic fertilizer effects are limited, liquid bio-stimulant may provide



a powerful and environmentally friendly approach to nutrient management and enhance the sustainability of rice productivity.

References

- Anil K, Yakadri M and Jayasree G. 2014. Influence of Nitrogen Levels and time of application on growth parameters of aerobic rice. *International Journal* of Plant Animal and Environmental Sciences, 4(3): 231 - 234.
- Anonymous. 2017. Government of India, Ministry of Agriculture, Directorate of Economics and Statistics (GOI-MOA). Cost of Cultivation of Principal Crops in India. New Delhi: GOI-MOA.
- Gomez KA and Gomez AA. 1984. Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research. Second Edition. (IRRI John Wiley & Sons Publication: New York).
- Haider W, Chaudhary MA, Muhammad AP, Habat UA, Abdul M, Syed AR and Irfan A. 2012. Impact of foliar application of seaweed extract on growth, yield and quality of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.). *Soil and Environment*, 31(2): 157-162.
- Layek J, Das A, Ramkrushna GI, Sarkar D, Ghosh A, Zodape ST, Lal R, Yadav GS, Panwar AS, Ngachan S and Meena RS. 2018. Seaweed extract as organic biostimulant improves productivity and quality of rice in eastern Himalayas. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 30: 547-558.
- Kavipriya R, Dhanalakshmi PK, Jayashree S and Thangaraju N. 2011. Seaweed extract as a biostimulant for legume crop, green gram *Journal of Ecobiotechnology*, 3(8): 16-19.

- Mahima Begum, Bijnan Chandra Bordoloi, Dhiman Dev Singha and Nayan Jyoti Ojha. 2018. Role of Seaweed extract on growth, yield and quality of some agricultural crops-A review. *Agricultural Reviews*, 39(4): 321-326.
- Metting B, Zimmerman WJ, Crouch IJ and Van Staden J. 1990. Agronomic uses of seaweed and micro-algae. In: Akatsuka I (Ed). Introduction to Applied Phycology SPB Academic Publishing, The Hague, Netherlands. 589-627.
- Pramanick B, Brahmachari K and Ghosh A. 2013. Effect of seaweed saps on growth and yield improvement of green gram. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8: 1180-1186.
- Rathore SS, Chaudhary DR, Boricha GN, Ghosh A, Bhatt BP, Zodape ST and Patolia JS. 2009. Effect of seaweed extract on the growth, yield and quality of soybean (*Glycine max*) under rainfed conditions. *South African Journal of Botany*, 75: 351-355.
- Rosalba Mireya Hernández-Herrera, Fernando Santacruz-Ruvalcaba1, Diego Ramón Briceño-Domínguez, Dania Andrea Di Filippo-Herrera and Gustavo Hernández-Carmona. 2018. Seaweed as potential plant growth stimulants for agriculture in Mexico. *Hidrobiológica*, 28 (1): 129-140.
- Temple WD and Bomke AA. 1988. Effects of kelp (*Macrocystis integrifolia*) on soil chemical properties and crop responses. *Plant and Soil*, 105: 213-222.
- Zodape ST, Mukhopadhyay S, Eswaran K, Reddy MP and Chikara J. 2010. Enhanced yield and nutritional quality in green gram (*Phaseolus radiata* L.) treated with sea weed (*Kappaphycus alvarezii*) extract. *Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research*, 69: 468–471.



ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

OPEN ACCESS

Efficacy of azoxystrobin 25 SC against rice sheath blight and glume discoloration diseases of rice

Surendran M*, Anet K Thomas, Nimmy Jose and Vandana Venugopal

Rice Research Station, Moncompu 688 503, Thekkekara P.O., Alleppey (D.T), Kerala *Corresponding author (Email: surenpath@yahoo.co.in)

Received: 15 October 2019; Accepted: 12 December 2019

Abstract

Field experiments were conducted at Rice Research Station, Kerala Agricultural University, Moncompu during *Kharif* 2012, *Kharif* 2013 and *Rabi* 2013-14 to evaluate the fungicides against sheath blight and glume discoloration. The six fungicides evaluated were trifloxystrobin25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (Nativo), kresoxim methyl (Ergon 44.3 SC), azoxystrobin 25 SC (Amistar), tricyclazole 75 WP (Beam), carbendazim 50 WP (Bavistin) and propiconazole 25 EC (Tilt). The pooled analysis of three seasons data showed that trifloxystrobin 25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG @ 0.4 g/l and azoxystrobin 25 SC @ 1 ml/l were found equally effective against the sheath blight and glume discoloration than other molecules. It was promoted as farm trials at 7 different farmers field during *Rabi* 2014-15, and proved that the azoxystrobin 25 SC @ 1 ml/l and trifloxystrobin 25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG @ 0.4 g/l restricted the incidence of sheath blight (18.12 and 21.52 %) and glume discoloration panicles (12.16 and 12.01 %) and spikelets (8.97 and 9.56%) than standard check fungicide carbendazim @ 1g/l (28.26, 12.69 and 9.76 %). Highest yield (6930 kg/ha) was recorded by the azoxystrobin 25 SC followed by trifloxystrobin 25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (6732 Kg/ha).

Key words: Rice, sheath blight, glume discoloration, fungicide

Introduction

Rice (Oryza sativa L.) is the most widely cultivated food crop in the world. It is the staple food grain for the people living in humid and sub-humid regions Asia. Ever growing population in India is further demanding more rice production and productivity. Under field condition, the productivity of rice is affected by many biotic and abiotic factors. Sheath blight of rice (Rhizoctonia solani - AGA1-IA) is an important location specific disease in Kuttanad region of Kerala causing 35 to 50 per cent yield loss. The weather and soil conditions such as high relative humidity, temperature and extremely acidic soil pH prevailing during Rabi season in Kuttanad region are conducive for the occurrence of sheath blight and glume discoloration diseases. Sheath blight is a destructive disease worldwide that causes significant yield loss and quality degradation (Savary et al., 2006). Grain discoloration is caused by complex of fungal species such as Sarocladium oryzae, Bipolaris oryzae (Cochliobolus miyabeanus), Pyricularia grisea (Magnaporthe grisea) Curvularia lunata, Phoma sp., Microdochium sp., Nigrospora sp., and Fusarium

sp. It is an important constraint for lowland and upland rice production and becoming serious under changing climatic conditions. Of late, the disease was found to be very severe in all over the Kerala causing 5 to 10 per cent yield loss (Surendran et al., 2016). If most of the pathogens appear simultaneously, the total devastation of the rice crop may take place. Earlier, it was reported that the grain discoloration pathogens increased due to low soil amendments (Kaur and Padmanadhan, 1974; Datnoff et al., 1991 and Dallagnol et al., 2009). Use of suitable fungicide is the primary one for the effective management of the rice diseases. In the present study, considering the severity of diseases and its economic importance, the field experiments were conducted using different fungicides available in the market for the control of sheath blight and glume discoloration of rice.

Materials and Methods

Field experiments were conducted at Rice Research Station, Moncompu, Alappuzha during *Kharif* 2012, *Kharif* 2013 and *Rabi* 2013-14 under AICRIP programme for evaluating the fungicides against location specific



rice disease management viz., sheath blight and glume discoloration. Three different fungicides viz., trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% (Nativo 75 WG) @ 0.4g/l, kresoxim methyl (Ergon 44.3 SC)@ 1.0 ml/l and azoxystrobin 25 SC(Amistar) @ 1ml/l with three standard fungicides were tested against sheath blight and glume discoloration. The standard check fungicides were tricyclazole 75 WP(Beam), carbendazim 50 WP(Bavistin) and propiconazole 25 EC (Tilt). The experiments were laid out in randomized block design with 4 replications in $5x2 \text{ m}^2$ plots using the locally popular susceptible variety, Uma (MO 16). The NPK fertilizers were applied as per the recommendations (90:45:45 kg/ha) of Kerala Agricultural University. The chemicals were applied as foliar spray at the time of appearance of the above diseases under natural conditions. Three sampling units of 1 m² area were fixed in each plot at random. A single spray was given at the time of panicle emergence. Observations on sheath blight disease severity were recorded just before the spray and 15-20 days after the spray. Degree of severity was graded based on height of the plant portions affected by the disease and expressed as percentage of the total area as per the SES scale of rice (IRRI, 2013). Glume discoloration was measured based on the percentage of panicles and spikelet's infection at 15 days before harvest. The per cent panicle infection was calculated based on the number of panicles affected from the total number of panicles present in the sampling area. The spikelet infection per cent was recorded by counting the infected grains from each panicle. Grain yield of the each plot was recorded and expressed in Kg/ ha at 14 per cent moisture. Data on percentages were transformed and analysis of variance was performed with transformed values. Significance among mean treatments was determined according to Duncan's multiple range tests (Gomez and Gomez, 1984).

The confirmatory farm trials were conducted for testing the effective molecules during *Rabi* 2014-15 at seven locations *viz.*, Kavalam, E-block 24000 kayal, Venattukadu, Peringara, Nedumudy, Veeyapuram and Punnapra area of Kuttanad region. The four treatments were trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG @ 0.4g/l, azoxystrobin 25 SC @ 1.0 ml/l, standard Kerala Agricultural University Package of Practice (KAU POP)

recommended fungicide, carbendazim 50 WP @ 1.0 g/l and untreated check. The seven locations were considered as replication of the farm trial. The farm trial was laid out in a randomized complete block design (RBD), using MO 16 (Uma) as the test variety in the farmers field. Pregerminated seeds were used for direct sowing with the plot size of 20x10 m². Fertilizers were applied @ 90:45:45 NPK Kg/ha as per the KAU POP. The sheath blight severity was recorded at 15-20 days after spray. Grain discoloration observations on panicles and spikelets infection were recorded at 25-30 days after spray or 15 days before harvest. Percentage of panicles and spikelets affected was calculated on 25 plants per sampling unit, by counting the number of infected panicles/spikelets.

Results and Discussion

The results of station trial at Rice Research Station, Moncompu during KHARIF 2012 (Table 1) revealed that the plots treated with fungicide azoxystrobin 25 SC recorded lower sheath blight severity (15.17%). This was followed by tebuconazole 50% +trifloxystrobin 25% 75 WG (16.48%) and check fungicides, tricyclazole 75 WP (18.13%) and propiconazole 25 EC (19.05%). The maximum yield was obtained from kresoxim methyl 44.3 SC (5820 Kg ha⁻¹) followed by azoxystrobin 25 SC (5780 Kg ha⁻¹) and trifloxystrobin 25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (5630 Kg ha⁻¹). The control plot recorded lowest yield of 4660 Kg ha⁻¹.

During *Kharif* 2013, the systemic fungicide, azoxystrobin 25 SC was found superior in restricting sheath blight disease severity (17.28%) followed by tricyclazole 75WP (18.46%) and carbendazim 50 WP (19.10%). The systemic standard check fungicide tricyclazole 75 WP was found most effective against sheath blight disease during *Rabi* 2013-14 and followed by azoxystrobin 25 SC, carbendazim 50 WP and kresoxim methyl 44.3 SC. There were significant differences in the grain yield among the treatments. The pooled data of station trial results showed that the azoxystrobin 25 SC gave the maximum reduction in disease severity (19.10%) followed by tricyclazole 75 WP (19.42%), carbendazim 50 WP (20.11%), kresoxim methyl 44.3 SC (23.31%) and tebuconazole +trifloxystrobin 75 WG (23.49) (Table 1).



Table 1: Influence of different fungicides on sheath blight disease severity

*Figures given in parentheses are arcsine transformed values

The fungicide azoxystrobin 25 SC gave maximum yield of 5588 kg/ha and on par with standard fungicide propiconazole 25 EC(5598 kg/ha), kresoxim methyl 44.3 SC (5572 kg/ha), tricyclazole 75 WP (5510 kg/ha) and tebuconazole + trifloxystrobin 75 WG (5468 kg/ha) (Table

2 and Figure 1). The present findings are in corroboration with several workers who also reported on the possibility of controlling sheath blight disease by application of fungicides like carbendazim (Bavistin), mancozeb (Dithane M-45) and validamycin A (Dev and Mary 1986).

Table 2: Influence of different fungicides on grain yield

S.	Fungicides	Dose/	Grain Yield (Kg/ha)						
No.		Liter water	Kharif 2012	Kharif 2013	Rabi 13-14	Mean			
1	Trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (Nativo)	0.4g	5630	5461	5913	5668			
2	Kresoxim methyl (Ergon 44.3 SC)	1.0ml	5820	5354	5543	5572			
3	Azoxystrobin 25 SC (Amistar)	1.0ml	5780	5289	5695	5588			
4	Tricyclazole 75 WP (Beam)	0.6g	5440	5655	5435	5510			
5	Carbendazim 50 WP (Bavistin)	1.0g	4860	5311	5050	5074			
6	Propiconazole 25 EC (Tilt)	1.0ml	5400	5999	5395	5598			
7	Control		4660	3806	4445	4304			
	LSD (P= 0.05)		NS	884.77	610.7				
	CV(%)		10.57	11.30	7.67				





Figure 1: Effectiveness of different fungicides on sheath blight disease severity and grain yield

Grain discoloration

The data on grain discoloration, panicles and spikelets infection indicated that standard fungicide carbendazim 50 WP reduced disease effectively (1.96 and 1.01 %) when compared with fungicides viz., azoxystrobin 25 SC (2.00 and 1.12 %), trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (2.22 and 1.15 %) and kresoxim methyl 44.3 SC (2.19 and 1.16 %) during Kharif 2012. During Kharif 2013, carbendazim @ 1g/l was found to be effective in limiting the glume discoloration and the maximum yield was obtained from carbendazim 50 WP treated plot (2645 kg ha⁻¹) followed by kresoxim methyl 44.3 SC (2623 kg ha-1) and azoxystrobin 25 SC 2430 kg ha-1. Out of six commercially available fungicides tested, the standard check fungicide carbendazim 50 WP was found superior against the glume discoloration followed by azoxystrobin 25 SC and trifloxystrobin 25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG during Rabi 2013-14. The highest yield was recorded in the trifloxystrobin 25%+ tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (5913 kg ha⁻¹) treated plot followed by azoxystrobin 25 SC(5695 kg ha⁻¹). The pooled data of three season station trials showed that the standard check fungicide carbendazim 50 WP was very effective in restricting glume discolored panicle and spikelets incidence followed by azoxystrobin 25 SC and trifloxystrobin 25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG. The analysis of pooled data on panicle percentage affected showed that carbendazim 50 WP (3.09 %) and azoxystrobin 25 SC (3.26 %) were found equally effective than other fungicides (Table 3).

S.	Fungicides	Dose/	Pa	nicle aff	ected (%	(0)
No.		Liter water	Kharif 2012	Kharif 2013	Rabi 13-14	Mean
1	Trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (Nativo)	0.4g	2.22	5.14	6.07	4.47
2	Kresoxim methyl (Ergon 44.3 SC)	1.0ml	2.19	5.19	7.36	4.91
3	Azoxystrobin 25 SC (Amistar)	1.0ml	2.00	5.14	2.63	3.25
4	Tricyclazole 75 WP (Beam)	0.6g	2.37	5.24	5.60	4.40
5	Carbendazim 50 WP (Bavistin)	1.0g	1.96	4.95	2.37	3.09
6	Propiconazole 25 EC (Tilt)	1.0ml	2.19	5.13	5.45	4.25
7	Control		2.90	7.94	8.92	6.58
	LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)		NS	0.34	0.04	
	CV (%)		16.52	9.78	1.23	

 Table 3: Influence of different fungicides on glume

 discoloration panicles

*Figures given in parentheses are square root transformed values



The data on spikelets affected indicated that carbendazim 50 WP (2.36 %), trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50%

75 WG (2.43 %) and azoxystrobin 25 SC (2.44 %), were significantly superior to all other fungicides tried (Table 4).

G		Decel	Spikelets affected (%)					
S. No.	Fungicides	Liter water	Kharif 2012	Kharif 2013	Rabi 13-14	Mean		
1	Trifloxystrobin25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (Nativo)	0.4g	1.15	2.35	3.80	2.43		
2	Kresoxim methyl (Ergon 44.3 SC)	1.0ml	1.16	2.41	4.26	2.61		
3	Azoxystrobin 25 SC (Amistar)	1.0ml	1.12	2.23	3.98	2.44		
4	Tricyclazole 75 WP (Beam)	0.6g	1.20	2.22	4.01	2.47		
5	Carbendazim 50 WP (Bavistin)	1.0g	1.01	2.40	3.68	2.36		
6	Propiconazole 25 EC (Tilt)	1.0ml	1.30	2.48	3.74	2.50		
7	Control		1.82	2.48	4.66	2.98		
	LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)		0.07	NS	0.01			
	CV (%)		4.73	4.16	0.48			

Table 4: Influence of different fungicides on glume discoloration spikelets

*Figures given in parentheses are square root transformed values

Table 5: Influence of different fungicides on grain yield (Kg/ha)

G		Dece/	Grain Yield (Kg/ha)						
S. No.	Fungicides	Dose/ Liter water $Kharif 2012$ $Kharif 2013$ $Kharif 2013$ 0.4g 5890 1978 5 1.0ml 4710 2623 5 1.0ml 5610 2430 5 0.6g 5570 1892 5 1.0g 5810 2645 5 1.0ml 5050 2288 5 1.0ml 5050 2645 5 1.0ml 5050 2288 5 1.0ml 5050 2810 4 1.0ml 5050 288 5 1.0ml 5050 1657 4 1.0 12.02 18.05 1	Rabi 13-14	Mean					
1	Trifloxystrobin25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (Nativo)	0.4g	5890	1978	5913	4594			
2	Kresoxim methyl (Ergon 44.3 SC)	1.0ml	4710	2623	5543	4292			
3	Azoxystrobin 25 SC (Amistar)	1.0ml	5610	2430	5695	4578			
4	Tricyclazole 75 WP (Beam)	0.6g	5570	1892	5435	4299			
5	Carbendazim 50 WP (Bavistin)	1.0g	5810	2645	5050	4502			
6	Propiconazole 25 EC (Tilt)	1.0ml	5050	2288	5395	4244			
7	Control		4320	1657	4445	3474			
	LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)		942.47	594.78	262.05				
	CV (%)		12.02	18.07	15.17				

The maximum yield was obtained from trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (4593 kg ha⁻¹) treated plot followed by azoxystrobin 25 SC (4578 kg ha⁻¹). The control plot recorded with lowest yield of 3474 kg ha⁻¹(Table 5 and Figure 2). Several workers have reported on the scope

for controlling grain discoloration disease by application of fungicides like edifenphos and copper oxychloride (Govindarajan and Kannaiyan,1982), propiconazole (Lore *et al.*, 2007) and captan 70% + hexaconazole 5% (Kumar and Kumar, 2011).





Figure 2: Effectiveness of fungicides on glume discoloration

Farmers field trials

The farm trial results showed that the azoxystrobin 25 SC @ 1 ml/l gave the minimum of sheath blight (18.12%), glume discoloration panicles (12.16%) and spikelets (8.97%) incidence, followed by combination molecule of trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG @ 0.4

g/lit (21.52, 12.01 and 9.56 %, respectively) (Table 6, 7 and 8). Similar results were reported by Surendran *et al.*, (2019) who reported that the application of trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% WG effectively controlled the sheath blight disease.

Table 6: Efficacy of trifloxystrobin 25 % + tebuconazole 50 % 75 WG and azoxystrobin 25 SC on sheath blight severity in rice

S.	Euncicidae	Rate	Locations 1 2 3 4 5 6 24.35 18.24 19.55 17.66 18.15 24.95 27 19.09 14.06 15.68 15.00 15.89 24.58 22 42.30 26.64 20.44 32.90 25.84 22.71 26 20.40 28.20 26.02 23.58 23.02 25.24 21					Locations							Mean
No.	Fullgicides	g/l	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	(%)					
1	Trifloxystrobin 25 % + tebuconazole 50 % 75 WG	0.4 g	24.35	18.24	19.55	17.66	18.15	24.95	27.76	21.52					
2	Azoxystrobin 25 SC		19.09	14.06	15.68	15.00	15.89	24.58	22.54	18.12					
3	Carbendazim 50 WP	1.0 g	42.30	26.64	20.44	32.90	25.84	22.71	26.99	28.26					
4	Control		29.40	28.39	36.03	32.58	33.02	35.24	31.24	32.27					
	LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	5.34													
	CV(%)	10.28	0.28												

*Figures given in parentheses are arcsine transformed values

Table 7: Effect of trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG and azoxystrobin 25 SC on glume discoloration of panicles

S.	Encoderation	Rate			I	Location	s			Mean
No.	rungicides	g/l	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	(%)
1	Trifloxystrobin 25 % +tebuconazole 50 % 75 WG	0.4g	13.18	11.97	7.49	13.31	14.06	11.97	12.11	12.01
2	Azoxystrobin 25 SC	1.0ml	10.63	12.11	11.24	13.31	16.64	9.97	11.24	12.16
3	Carbendazim 50 WP	1.0g	10.94	12.79	12.38	14.89	12.52	12.79	12.52	12.69
4	Control		13.44	15.68	15.23	14.77	14.06	14.42	14.65	14.61
	LSD ($P = 0.05$)	1.75								
	CV(%)	6.35								

*Figures given in parentheses are square root transformed values



S.	Function	Rate	Locations						Mean (%) 9.80 9.56 9.46 8.97 10.47 9.76 11.54 11.01			
No.	rungiciues	Rate g/l 0.4g 1.0ml 1.0g	1	1 2 3 4 5 6 7								
1	Trifloxystrobin 25 % +tebuconazole 50 % 75 WG	0.4g	7.92	9.97	9.80	9.80	9.80	9.80	9.80	9.56		
2	Azoxystrobin 25 SC	1.0ml	7.49	9.46	9.10	9.10	8.91	9.28	9.46	8.97		
3	Carbendazim 50 WP	1.0g	7.71	10.30	10.47	9.46	9.63	10.30	10.47	9.76		
4	Control		8.13	11.24	11.24	11.39	11.97	11.54	11.54	11.01		
	LSD (<i>P</i> = 0.05)	0.43										
	CV (%)	1.84										

Table 8: Efficiency of trifloxystrobin 25 % + tebuconazole 50 % 75 WG and azoxystrobin 25 SC on glumediscoloration of spikelets

*Figures given in parentheses are square root transformed values

The grain yield data indicated that the highest yield (6930 kg/ha) was recorded by the treatment azoxystrobin 25 SC (Table 9) and on par with combination fungicide trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG (6732 kg/ha) and standard check carbendazim 50 WP (6464 kg/ha). The lowest yield was recorded in the untreated control plot (3679 kg ha⁻¹). Surendran et al., (2016) proved that the contact and systemic action fungicide carbendazim 12%+mancozeb 63% was promising molecule against glume

discoloration when compared with individual molecule. Hossain et al., (2011) reported that the systemic fungicides azoxystrobin and propiconazole were found to be effective against rice glume discoloration and increase the yield. The present study also proved the effectiveness of azoxystrobin 25 SC and trifloxystrobin 25%+tebuconazole 50% 75 WG were best molecules for the sheath blight and grain discoloration than other systemic fungicides.

S.	Funcicidas	Rate		Locations						
No.	rungicides	g/l	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	(%)
1	Trifloxystrobin 25 % +tebuconazole 50 % 75 WG	0.4g	7250	4000	5500	3500	8125	10000	8750	6732
2	Azoxystrobin 25 SC		8125	8250	7250	6125	6188	6325	6250	6930
3	Carbendazim 50 WP	1.0g	4750	8000	7250	8000	3000	6250	8000	6464
4	Control		4750	4000	3500	4000	3250	3250	3000	3679
	LSD @5% (P=0.05)		2053							
	CV(%)	30.72								

Table 9:	Influence of trifloxystrobin 25	%+tebuconazole 50 % 75 W	'G and azoxystrobin 25 SC	on grain yield
----------	---------------------------------	--------------------------	---------------------------	----------------

Conclusion

Systemic fungicide azoxystrobin 25 SC @ 1 ml/l was found most effective against the sheath blight and glume discoloration and trifloxystrobin 25% + tebuconazole 50% 75 WG @ 0.4 g/l treatment was on par. The strobilurin fungicide azoxystrobin 25 SC @ 1 ml/l can be recommended for the management of sheath blight and grain discoloration and improve the quality of seeds in Kuttanad region.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the Director of Research, Kerala Agricultural University, Vellanikkara and Professor and Head, Rice Research Station, Moncompu for their support and encouragement during the course of this study. Authors are also thankful to The Director, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad and Principal Investigator, AICRIP-Rice Pathology, for their help during the formulation and execution of the trial.



References

- Dallagnol LJ, Rodrigues FÁ, Mielli MVB, Ma JF and Datnoff LE. 2009. Defective active silicon uptake affects some components of rice resistance to brown spot. *Phytopathology*, 99:116-121.
- Datnoff LE, Raid RN, Snyder GH and Jones DB. 1991. Effect of calcium silicate on blast and brown spot intensities and yields of rice. *Plant Diseases*, 75:729-732.
- Dev VPS and Mary CA. 1986. Sheath blight control. International Rice Research Newsletter, 11(1):22.
- Gomez KA and Gomez AA. 1984. Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research. John Willey and Sons, New York, USA, 640p.
- Govindarajan K and Kannaiyan S. 1982. Fungicide control of rice grain infection. *International Rice Research Newsletter*, 7(1): 10.
- Hossain KS, Miah MAT and Bashar MA. 2011. Preferred rice varieties, seed source, disease incidence and loss assessment in bankane disease. *Journal of Agroforestry and Environment*, 5: 125-128.
- IRRI. 2013. Standard Evaluation Systems for Rice, International Rice Research Institute, Manila, Philippines, pp 25-26.

- Kumar N and Kumar MK. 2011. Potentiality of new fungicide formulation Captan 70% + Hexaconazole 5% WP against sheath blight and brown leaf spot of rice. In: Nat. Symp. on Integrated disease management strategies in relation to climate change in South India. IPS (south zone), India. p. 27 (Abstr.).
- Lore JS, Thind TS, Hunjan MS and Goel RK. 2007. Performance of different fungicides against multiple diseases of rice. *Indian Phytopathology*, 60: 296-301.
- Kaur P and Padmanadhan SY. 1974. Control of *Helminsthosporium* disease of rice with soil amendments. *Current Science*, 43:78-79.
- Savary S, Teng PS, Willocquet L and Nutter FW Jr. 2006. Quantification and modeling of crop losses: a review of purposes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 44: 89-112.
- Surendran M, Reeny Mary Zacharia, Leenakumary S, Sheeja VR, Anju Haridas, Vipitha, KP, Remya Remanan, Ashamol PK, Dhanya MP and Ranjana TS. 2016. Systemic and contact combi fungicides for rice grain discolouration disease control in Kuttanad. *Journal of Rice Research*, 9(1): 58-61.
- Surendran M, Reena Mathew, Sheeja VR, Anet K Thomas and Aswathy Muraleedharan. 2019. Management of rice sheath blight disease using commercially available fungicides in Kuttanad. *Journal of Plant Disease Sciences*, 14(1):55-58.



ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLE

OPEN ACCESS

A bio-intensive insect pest management module for samba organic rice cultivation in new cauvery delta zone

Nalini R* and S Porpavai

Soil and Water Management Research Institute, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University Thanjavur 613 501, Tamil Nadu, India *Corresponding author (Email: naliniento@gmail.com)

Received: 25 October 2019; Accepted: 20 December 2019

Abstract

Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module (BOIPM) and Farmers organic module (FOM) were compared for the pest intensity, natural enemy abundance and grain yield. In BOIPM, the interventions were incorporation of leaves of Calotropis + Neem into the nursery soil. Freshly prepared neem seed kernel extract 5% / Pseudomonas fluorescens 0.2% was used to manage insect pest / diseases respectively in nursery. While in the main field, Daincha was raised in situ; basal application of Azospirillum + Phosphobacteria + silica solubilizing bacteria + Pseudomonas fluorescens was done. During the last ploughing, neem cake was added to the soil. Seed treatment done with *Pseudomonas fluorescens* @ 10g/ kg of seed. Solar light trap was installed to monitor the insect pest activity. Trichogramma japonicum and T. chilonis were released at weekly interval thrice. Bird perches were set up at 2-3 ft height in vegetative stage. To enhance natural enemies' activity floral plants (cowpea, gingelly, sunflower, maize, black gram) were raised in the bunds all around the field. The FOM practices included incorporation of Tephrosia purpurea / Calotropis in nursery. Neem cake or crushed neem seed was added to the soil during the last ploughing. Panchagavya 3% was sprayed thrice during maximum tillering, panicle initiation and booting stage. The insect pest load was 2.05 to 2.15 times higher in the FOM as compared to the BOIPM. Population of the natural enemies was 1.96 to 2.88 times higher in the BOIPM as compared to the FOM. The mean pest defender ratio in BOIPM was 1: 2.46 compared to 1: 0.75 in the FOM. The profit earned from the BOIPM ranged from Rs. 70109/- to Rs. 77389/- per ha. There was a 10.38 per cent increased yield in Samba, 2018 over Samba, 2017 trial in BOIPM. Conversely, the profit earned form -FOM ranged from Rs. 68849/- to Rs. 56529/- per ha. There was a decreased yield trend of -17.89 per cent in Samba, 2018 over Samba, 2017 trial.

Key words: Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module, Farmers organic module, pest intensity, natural enemy abundance, pest defender ratio

Introduction

FAO/WHO defined "organic agriculture" as holistic food production management system, which promoted and enhanced agro-ecosystem health, including biodiversity, biological cycles and soil biological activity". The use of pesticides had led to enormous levels of chemical buildup in our environment, soil, water, air, animals and even in our own bodies. Fertilizers have a short-term effect on productivity but a long-term negative effect on the environment where they remain for years after leaching and run off, contaminating ground water and water bodies. The principal interventions included crop rotation, addition of green manures and compost, biological pest management and mechanical cultivation. These measures use the natural environment to enhance agricultural productivity; legumes were planted to fix nitrogen into the soil, natural insect predators were encouraged, crops were rotated to confuse pests and renew soil.

Owing to the water shrinkage in the New Cauvery Delta zone in the double cropped paddy area the alternative cropping system proposed particularly for organic rice cultivators was to go for green manure crop (*Dhaincha / Sunnhemp*) with the summer showers and in situ incorporation before the Samba paddy crop. Organic matter enrichment enhanced the association of above and below ground food



chains and augmented natural plant defense mechanism. Strengthening of the food webs and natural plant defense mechanism would naturally sustain the biological insect pest control and increase rice productivity over years. In this context, the present study was taken up "To develop a bio-intensive insect pest management module for Samba organic rice cultivation in New Cauvery Delta Zone" with a long term goal to enhance the pest defender ratio and sustain the productivity.

Materials and Methods

Field experiments were taken up in the organically maintained block for 10 years at Soil and Water Management Research Institute, Thanjavur, Tamil Nadu, India during Samba season (2017 and 2018) with cultivar Improved White Ponni. Two treatments viz., Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module and Farmers organic module were compared for the insect pest intensity, natural enemy abundance and grain yield.

In Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module, leaves of *Calotropis* @ $200 \text{ kg} + \text{Neem } 300 \text{ kg} / 800 \text{ m}^2 \text{ were}$ incorporated into the nursery soil. Freshly prepared neem seed kernel extract 5% / Pseudomonas fluorescens 0.2% was used to manage insect pest / diseases respectively in nursery. In the main field, green manure Daincha @ 50 kg seed/ha was raised in situ and incorporated to a depth of 15 cm. Basal application of Azospirillum + Phosphobacteria + silica solubilizing bacteria @ each 2 kg/ha + Pseudomonas fluorescens (Pf 1) at 2.5 kg/ha was done. Neem cake @ 1500 kg/ha was added to the soil during the last ploughing. Wet seed treatment with Pseudomonas fluorescens @ 10 g/kg of seed. Solar light trap was installed to monitor the insect pest activity. When the stem borer and leaf folder moth activity was noticed, Trichogramma japonicum and Trichogramma chilonis @ 1,00,000 (5 cc) /ha each, were released thrice. Bird perches were set up at 2-3 ft height in vegetative stage @ 50 /ha. To enhance natural enemies' activity floral plants (cowpea, gingelly, sunflower, maize, black gram) were raised in the bunds all around the field. With regard to water management, alternate wetting and drying was maintained and submergence recommended during critical periods only. Need based application of freshly prepared Neem Seed Kernel Extract 5% as well as foliar spray of Pseudomonas fluorescens 0.2% if insect and disease incidence crossed ETL.

The farmers' organic module practices included incorporation of green leaf manure, Wild indigo (*Tephrosia purpurea*) / *Calotropis* in nursery @ 50 kg / 800 m². Neem cake or crushed neem seed @ 100 kg/ha was added to the soil during the last ploughing. Panchagavya 3 per cent was sprayed thrice during maximum tillering, panicle initiation and booting stage. Need based application of neem commercial formulation (Neem Azal/Achook) was done when insect and disease incidence crossed ETL. Each trial was taken up in one acre plot with Exploded block design (Rothamsted, 1974; Ramachander *et al.*, 1989). In each one acre plot, five micro-plots were maintained and observations were made at this point.

Profitability and sustainability of Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module and farmers organic module were determined in terms of net profit per ha and cost benefit ratio. A t-test carried out to know whether there was a significant difference between the Biointensive organic insect pest management module and farmer's organic module.

Results

Herbivore population in the rice field

During Samba the herbivores that affected the rice crop included yellow stem borer (YSB), *Scirpophaga incertulas* (Walker), Crambidae, Lepidoptera; green leafhopper (GLH), *Nephotettix* spp., Cicadellidae, Hemiptera; Short horned grasshopper, *Acrida exaltata* (Walker), Acrididae, Orthoptera; Stink bug, *Menida versicolor* (Gmelin) and Black bug, *Scotinophora lurida*, Pentatomidae, Hemiptera; Earhead bug, *Leptocorisa* spp., Alydidae, Hemiptera.

In Samba 2017 field trial, the yellow stem borer damage in bio-intensive organic insect pest management module averaged 0.83 per cent as against 3.18 per cent in the farmers' organic module. The damage level was 3.83 times higher in the farmers' organic module as compared to the bio-intensive organic insect pest management module. With regard to leaf folder damage, the bio-intensive organic insect pest management module had 1.13 times lesser leaf damage compared to farmer's organic module (Table 1). In Samba 2017 field trial, the total insect pests in bio-intensive organic insect pest management module averaged 1.78 nos./ 5 sweeps as against 3.83 nos./ 5 sweeps in the farmers organic module. The insect pest load was 2.15 times higher in the farmers' organic module as compared to the Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module.



In the *Samba* 2018 trial the total insect pests in bio-intensive organic insect pest management module averaged 3.37 nos./ 5 sweeps as against 6.91 nos./ 5 sweeps in the farmers organic module. In the second year trial also the insect pest load was 2.05 times higher in the farmers' organic module as compared to the Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module (Table 2).

Natural enemies' population in the rice field

Assassin bug, *Polytoxus* sp., Reduviidae, Hemiptera; Long horned grasshopper, *Conocephalus* sp., Tettigoniidae, Orthoptera; Tachinid fly, *Argyrophylax* sp., Tachinidae, Diptera; Rove beetle, *Paederus fuscipes*, Staphylinidae, Coleoptera; Ground beetle, *Ophionea nigrofasciata*, Carabidae, Coleoptera; Coccinellids, *Micraspis* sp., and *Menochilus sexmaculatus*, Coccinellidae Coleoptera; Damselfly, *Agriocnemis* sp., Coenagrionidae, Odonata; Dragonfly, *Diplacodes* sp., Libellulidae, Anisoptera, Odonata; Owl fly, Ascalaphidae, Neuroptera; Braconid wasps, *Stenobracon nicevillei* and *Macrocentrus* sp., Braconidae, Hymenoptera and Ichneumonids, *Trichomma cnaphalocrocis* and Xanthopimpla sp. lchneumonidae, Hymenoptera. Of the spiders, *Oxyopes* sp., Oxyopidae; *Argiope* sp., Araneidae; *Araneus* sp., Araneidae; *Tetragnatha* sp., Tetragnathidae and *Lycosa*, Lycosidae, Araneae were recorded.

Table 1: Insect pest and natural enemies in bio-intensiv	e organic insect pest management module compared to
farmers organic module, Samba season 2017	

			Insec	et pests (1	no./5 swe	eeps)		Natura (no./5	l enemies sweeps)	8	
Period	YSB (% DH/WE)	Leaf folder (% LD)	YSB moth	GLH	Namavandu	Total	Coccinellids	Damselfly	Spiders	Total	P:D ratio
	T1 – Bio-inte	nsive orgar	nic insect	pest ma	nagemer	ıt modul	e				
I Oct, 2017	1.54	1.61	0.00	1.67	0.00	1.67	3.00	2.67	3.33	9.00	1: 5.40
II Oct 2017	1.00	1.51	0.00	2.00	0.00	2.00	2.00	2.67	3.00	7.67	1: 3.83
I Nov,2017	0.92	1.30	0.33	1.00	0.00	1.33	2.67	3.00	4.33	10.00	1: 7.50
IINov,2017	0.48	1.05	0.00	0.00	1.33	1.33	2.00	2.00	2.00	6.00	1: 4.50
I Dec, 2017	0.51	0.82	0.00	0.00	2.33	2.33	2.00	1.33	2.67	6.00	1: 2.57
II Dec, 2017	0.44	1.21	0.33	0.00	1.67	2.00	0.33	0.00	0.33	0.66	1: 0.33
I Jan, 2017	0.95	0.86	0.00	0.00	2.33	2.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1:0.00
Mean	0.83	1.19	0.09	0.67	1.09	1.86	1.71	1.67	2.24	5.62	
	T2 – Farmers	organic m	odule								
I Oct., 2017	3.19	2.07	1.00	2.33	0.33	2.66	1.67	1.67	2.67	6.01	1: 1.64
II Oct 2017	4.70	1.79	0.33	4.00	0.00	4.00	1.33	0.67	1.00	3.00	1: 0.69
I Nov, 2017	3.70	1.13	0.67	2.33	0.00	2.33	0.00	1.67	1.33	3.00	1: 1.00
II Nov, 2017	4.05	1.07	0.33	1.33	2.33	3.66	0.00	0.67	0.67	1.34	1: 0.33
I Dec, 2017	2.81	1.18	0.33	1.00	3.67	4.67	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	1: 0.07
II Dec, 2017	2.26	0.83	0.67	0.33	5.33	5.66	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1:0.00
I Jan, 2017	1.54	1.39	0.00	0.00	4.67	4.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1: 0.00
Mean	3.18	1.35	0.48	1.62	2.33	3.95	0.48	0.67	0.81	1.95	
t value	-5.60	-1.22	-3.37	-3.70	-2.42		3.42	3.55	3.23		

* Mean of five replications t critical value (one-tail) - 1.94; t critical value (two-tail) - 2.45



Table 2: Insect pests and natural enemies in bio-intensive organic insect pest management and farmer's organic module, Samba season 2018

		Insec	t pests (no./5 sv	veeps)				Natu	ral ener	nies (n	o./5 sv	veeps)			
Period	Black bug	НЛЭ	Earhead bug	SHG	Namavandu	Total	Coccinellids	Damselfly	Dragonfly	Dipteran	Ground beetle	Wasp	LHG	Spiders	Total	P:D ratio
Bio-intensive or	ganic i	insect p	oest mai	nageme	nt mod	lule										
I Oct., 2018	1.00	1.67	0.00	0.00	3.00	5.67	7.67	1.00	0.33	0.33	2.67	0.33	0.33	6.00	18.67	1:3.29
II Oct., 2018	0.33	4.33	0.00	0.33	2.00	7.00	6.00	1.33	0.00	0.67	1.67	0.00	0.33	8.67	18.67	1:2.67
I Nov., 2018	0.00	3.00	0.00	0.00	3.33	6.33	4.33	3.00	0.33	1.00	2.00	1.33	0.00	4.00	16.00	1:2.53
II Nov., 2018	1.00	0.00	0.0	0.00	1.00	2.00	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.67	3.33	1:1.67
I Dec., 2018	0.00	0.00	2.67	0.00	2.00	4.67	4.33	5.00	0.33	0.00	2.33	2.00	0.00	7.33	11.67	1:2.50
II Dec., 2018	0.00	0.00	2.33	0.00	3.33	5.67	2.67	5.00	1.00	0.00	3.67	2.67	0.00	5.67	12.00	1:2.12
Farmers organi	c mod	ule			·											
I Oct., 2018	4.67	3.33	0.00	0.00	1.33	9.33	3.00	1.00	0.33	0.33	0.67	0.33	0.00	4.00	9.67	1:1.04
II Oct., 2018	0.00	10.67	0.00	0.00	1.00	11.67	3.67	0.33	0.33	0.00	1.67	0.67	0.00	4.00	10.67	1:0.91
I Nov., 2018	0.00	5.00	1.00	0.00	5.67	11.67	2.33	1.67	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.33	0.00	3.67	10.00	1:0.86
II Nov., 2018	0.00	3.67	0	1.33	2.33	7.33	1.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00	0.00	1.00	3.33	1:0.45
I Dec., 2018	0.00	0.00	0.33	6.33	5.33	12.00	2.67	4.00	0.00	0.00	2.67	0.33	0.00	4.00	7.00	1:0.58
II Dec., 2018	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.67	6.33	11.00	1.33	3.33	0.33	0.00	2.33	0.33	0.00	5.00	7.67	1:0.70
	-0.58	-2.31	1.08	-1.74	-1.42		2.25	2.95	1.17	1.46	1.29	1.55	1.58	3.15		

*Mean of five replications t critical value (one-tail) – 2.02; t critical value (two-tail) – 2.57

The mean natural enemies population in *Samba*, 2017 bio-intensive organic insect pest management module was 6.56 nos./ 5 sweeps as against 2.28 nos./ 5 sweeps in the farmers organic module. Population of the natural enemies was 2.88 times higher in the Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module as compared to the farmers' organic module. In *Samba* 2018, the mean natural enemies in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module was 9.71 nos./ 5 sweeps as against 4.95 nos./ 5 sweeps in the farmers organic module. Population of the natural enemies was 1.96 times higher in the bio-intensive organic insect pest management module as compared to the farmers' organic module.

Pest defender ratio

In Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module, the pest-defender ratio was highest 1:7.50 during the first fortnight of November, 2017 as against 1:1.00 in the farmers' organic module during *Samba* 2017. The mean

pest defender ratio in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module was 1: 4.02 compared to 1: 1.24 in the farmers' organic module during *Samba*, 2017. In *Samba* 2018, Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module the highest pest-defender ratio was 1:3.29 during the first fortnight of October, 2018 compared to farmers' organic module (1:1.04). The mean pest defender ratio in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module was 1: 2.46 compared to 1: 0.75 in the farmers' organic module during *Samba*, 2018.

Grain yield

In *Samba* 2017 field trial, the grain yield recorded was 4080 kg/ha in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module as compared 3880 kg/ha in farmers' organic module. During Samba, 2018 grain yield recorded was 4340 kg/ha in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module as compared 3440 kg/ha in farmers' organic module.



Profitability and sustainability

The total production cost for organic paddy accounted to Rs. 33041/- per ha in both Bio-intensive organic IPM module and farmers' organic module as uniformity was maintained in cultivation aspects. However with regard to the plant protection aspects it varied between Bio-intensive organic IPM module and farmers' organic module. The expenditure towards IPM (Rs.) was Rs. 11090/- per ha in bio-intensive organic IPM module as compared to Rs. 6750/- per ha in Farmers organic module. The profit earned form the bio-intensive organic IPM module was Rs. 70109/- during Samba, 2017 and Rs. 77389/- during Samba, 2018. There was a 10.38 per cent increased yield in Samba, 2018 over Samba, 2017 trial. Conversely, the profit earned form the Farmers organic module was Rs. 68849/- during Samba, 2017 and Rs. 56529/- during Samba, 2018. There was a decreased yield trend of -17.89 per cent in Samba, 2018 over Samba, 2017 trial.

Table 3: Profitability and sustainability of bio-intensiveorganic insect pest management module and farmersorganic module

Parameter	Bio-int IPM n	tensive nodule	Farmers mod	armers organic module		
	2017-18	2018-19	2017-18	2018-19		
Yield (kg/ha)	4080	4340	3880	3440		
Net return (Rs./ha)	114240	121520	108640	96320		
Total production cost (Rs./ha)	33041	33041	33041	33041		
Expenditure towards Plant Protection (Rs./ha)	11090	11090	6750	6750		
Profit (Rs./ha)	70109	77389	68849	56529		
% increase yield over 2017 trial		10.38		-17.89		
Cost benefit ratio	1:1.59	1:1.73	1:1.75	1:1.42		

Discussion

Enhancing natural pest control in organic systems could help reduce costs, stabilize production, and increase the ability of organic practices to meet global demand. Decreased insect pests on long term organic farms have largely been attributed to practices that limit pest build-up, increase predator biodiversity, and increase the numbers of beneficial insects (Hole, 2005; Crowder *et al.*, 2010, Garratt *et al.*, 2011). The green manure *Daincha* incorporated in the soil promoted soil microbes, the nutrient availability to plants and increased plant immunity against insect. Organic management strategies can increase microbial activity and biomass in soils, alter microbial communities, and in some cases enhance plant associations with beneficial microbes in the rhizosphere. Microorganisms that associate with plant roots play a critical role in resistance to abiotic and biotic stress (Vannette and Hunter, 2009).

In our study, the insect pest load was 2.15 times lesser in the bio-intensive organic insect pest management module as compared to the farmers' organic module. Lyashenko et al., 1982 reported that organic matter is mainly supplemented through Farm Yard Manure (FYM) in rice fields that increased levels of leucoanthocyanins, catechins, flavanol glycosides and phenol carboxylic acids in plants and this would be responsible for lesser incidence of many rice insect pests. Mohankumar et al. (1995) reported that organic manure application lowered gall midge incidence than inorganic fertilizer application. Basal application of Azospirillum + Phosphobacteria + silica solubilizing bacteria + Pseudomonas fluorescens (Pf 1) reduced the insect pest load. The total insect pests in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module averaged 3.37 nos./ 5 sweeps as against 6.91 nos./ 5 sweeps in the farmers organic module. Earlier reports also revealed that incorporation of Azospirillum significantly decreased the incidence of BPH, GLH and leaf folder in rice (Anuradha, 1989). The combined application of Azospirillum with organic manure decreased the feeding rate of BPH and adversely affected its growth and development (Athisamy and Venugopal, 1995). Mohan et al. (1988) reported that Azospirillum would have favourably activated Phenyl Ammonia Lyase enzyme concerned in the biosynthesis of phenolics resulting in increased plant phenolics in plants which are responsible for lower damage. Azospirillum promotes growth of plant mainly by the production of phytohormornes viz., auxins, gibberlins and cytokinins in addition to biological nitrogen fixation (Cicciari et al., 1989). Neem cake soil application during the last ploughing increased the plant phenol contentwhich in turn had negative effect on the insect multiplication and development (Krishnaiah and Kalode, 1985). The role of neem cake in reducing the incidence of planthoppers and leaf hoppers, gall midge, stem borer and leaf folder has been reported by Athisamy (1994) and Ambethgar (1996).



The mean natural enemies in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module was 9.71 nos./ 5 sweeps as against 4.95 nos./ 5 sweeps in the farmers organic module. Population of the natural enemies was 1.96 times higher in the Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module as compared to the farmers' organic module. Ragini *et al.* (1995) observed that organic farming supported more *Ophionea*, *Paederus*, coccinellid beetles, mirids and spiders. In organic paddy ecosystem also the grain yield recorded was 4340 kg/ha in Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module as compared 3440 kg/ha in farmers' organic module.

In Bio-intensive organic insect pest management module there was a 10.38 per cent increased yield in *Samba*, 2018 over *Samba*, 2017 trial. Conversely, in farmers' organic module there was a decreased yield trend of -17.89 per cent in *Samba*, 2018 over *Samba*, 2017 trial. It could be concluded that organic matter enrichment and increased biocontrol agents activities in bio-intensive organic insect pest management module enhanced the association of above and below ground food chains and augmented natural plant defense mechanism furthermore would reflect in the increased rice productivity over years.

References

- Ambethgar V. 1996. Effectiveness of neem (Azadiracta indica A. Juss) products and insecticides against the leaf folder, Cnaphalocrocis medinalis (Guenee). Journal of Entomological Research, 20 (1): 83-85.
- Anuradha S. 1989. Effect of fertilizers and varieties on pest incidence inplant and ratoon rice. M.Sc. (Ag.) thesis, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Agricultural College and Research Institute, Madurai, India 102 p.
- Athisamy M. 1994. Effect of biofertilizer (*Azospirillum*) and organic amendments on major pests of rice. M.Sc. (Ag.) thesis, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Agricultural College and Research Institute, Madurai, India 102 p.
- Athisamy M and Venugopal MS. 1995. Effect of Azospirillum and organic amendments on the incidence of major pests of rice. In: National symposium on Organic Farming held on 27 – 28 October, Madurai, India. pp. 169 -172.
- Cicciari I, Lippi O, Pietrosanti T and Pietrosanti W. 1989. Phytohormone like substance produced by single and mixed diazotrophic cultures of *Azospirillum* and *Azatobacter*. *Plant and Soil*, 15: 151 – 153.

- Crowder DW, Northfield TD, Strand MR and Snyder WE. 2010. Organic agriculture promotes evenness and natural pest control. *Nature*, 466 (7302):109–112.
- Garratt MPD, Wright DJ and Leather SR. 2011. The effects 372 of farming system and fertilisers on pests and natural enemies: A synthesis of current research. *Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment*, 141(3):261–270.
- Hole DG. 2005. Does organic farming benefit biodiversity? *Biological Conservation*, 122(1):113–130.
- Krishnaiah NV and Kalode MB. 1985. Evaluation of neem (*Azadirachta indica*) oil neem cake and non edible oil cakes against rice pests. *Indian Journal of Plant Protection*, 12: 101-107.
- Lyashenko NI, Solody UKGD, Godovany AA, Verzhbitskii VI and Moskal Chuk NI. 1982 The effect of fertilizers on phenol metabolism and on plant resistance to aphids. *Fizlologiya Blokhimiya Turnyh Rastenil*, 14: 337 377.
- Mohan S, Purushothaman D, Jayaraj S and Rangarajan AV.
 1988 PALase activity in the roots of Sorghum bicolor (L.) inoculated with *Azospirillum*. *Current Science*, 57: 492 – 493.
- Mohankumar S, Sundara Babu PC and Venugopal MS. 1995. Effect of organic and inorganic forms of nutrients on the occurrence of rice gall midge and its parasitoid. In: National symposium on Organic Farming held on 27 – 28 October, Madurai, India. p.72.
- Ragini JC, Thangaraju D and David PMM. 1995. Effect of organic manures on some predators in the rice ecosystem. *International Rice Research Newsletter*, 24 (3): 15.
- Ramachander PR, Srinivasan K, Rao GSP and Krishna Moorthy PN. 1989. Evaluation of experimental designs to tackle interplot dispersal of insects. *Madras Agricultural Journal*, 76: 155- 162.
- Rothamsted. 1974. Rothamsted Experiment Station Report for 1973, Part I, pp.127-128.
- Vannette RL, Hunter MD. 2009. Mycorrhizal fungi as mediators of defence against insect pests in agricultural systems. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, 11(4):351–358.
- Visalakshmi V, Ranga Rao GV and Arjuna Rao P. 2005. Integrated pest management strategy against *Helicoverpa armigera* Hubner in chickpea. *Indian Journal of Plant Protection*, 33: 17-22.



Isolation of crude toxin, thin layer chromatography (TLC) and HPLC analysis of *Bipolaris oryzae*, inciting brown spot disease of rice

Valarmathi P^{1*}, Ladhalakshmi D², Kartar Singh³, Sapna Sharma³, Bashyal Bishnu Maya³ and Rashmi Aggarwal³

¹ICAR-Central Institute for Cotton Research (CICR), Coimbatore-641 003 ²Division of Plant Pathology, ICAR- Indian Institute for Rice Research (IIRR), Hyderabad-500 030 ³Division of Plant Pathology, ICAR- Indian Agricultural Research Institute (IARI), New Delhi-110012 *Corresponding author (email:valarpath@gmail.com)

Received: 22 April 2019; Accepted: 19 October 2019

Abstract

Brown spot disease (*Bipolaris oryzae*) has been associated with two major epidemics in India and one of the strongest yield reducers among rice diseases in recent years. The disease especially occurs in environment where water supply is scarce combined with nutritional imbalance particularly lack of nitrogen and hence often referred to as 'poor man's disease'. In the present study, six isolates of *B. oryzae* were used for extraction of toxin by solvent extraction procedure. Toxin profile of six isolates of *B. oryzae* on Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) plate showed a total of eight bands; five bands at Rf 0.93, 0.85, 0.77, 0.61 and 0.49 were distinct and all isolates produced a common dark band at Rf 0.61 in iodine chamber at 254 nm. The quantitative analysis of toxin produced by different isolates was carried out by Highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis. Six isolates of *B. oryzae* showed variation in their peak values at different retention time. In all isolates unique peak with retention time at 4.3 min was observed. This compound which was observed in all the isolates can further be characterized for its property of toxin by using distinct standards.

Keywords: Brown spot disease, *Bipolaris oryzae*, Thin-layer chromatography (TLC), High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Rice is one of the most important cereal crops and feeds more than one third of the world's population (Burgos et al., 2013). Rice is susceptible to several leaf spot diseases like blast and brown spot, which cause significant yield losses across the globe. The yield loss was upto 90% in epiphytotic form at leaf spot phase during the year 1942-43 of Great Bengal Famine (Ghose et al., 1960). When the disease was reported in 1919, extensive research has been carried due to which the disease was controlled. In recent years, because of the climate change and cultivation practices, disease was found to be severe in dry/ direct seeded rice in the states of Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh, Odisha, Assam, Jharkhand and West Bengal. It especially occurs in the environment where water is a scarce resource combined with nutritional imbalance particularly lack of nitrogen and hence often referred to as "Poor man's disease" (Baranwal et al., 2013).

The pathogen attacks the crop from seedling to milky stage. The symptoms appear as minute spots on the coleoptile, leaf blade, leaf sheath and glume, being most prominent on leaf blades and glumes. On leaves, typical spots are brown in colour with grey or whitish centre resembling sesame seed with typical yellow halo over the spot (Sunder *et al.*, 2005). Conidia are 5-10 septate with the oldest conidium towards base. Typically conidia are slightly curved and widest at the middle. The optimum temperature for growth and conidial germination has been found to be 27-30 °C and 25-30°C, respectively (Ou, 1985) wherein conidia are formed between 5-38 °C, optimum being 25 °C (Ou, 1985; Vinay Kumari *et al.*, 1997). Both light and dark periods were required for sporulation of *B. oryzae*. However, it was stimulated by near-ultra violet light and inhibited by blue light (Ou, 1985).

The pathogen is reported to produce phytotoxins in culture. Goto (1958) reported the toxic effect of the culture filtrate of *B. oryzae* on rice plants. Terashima *et al.* (1962) isolated ergosterol from the mycelium of the fungus. Cochliobolin extracted and purified from filtrate and ophiobolin detected



in diseased leaves inhibited the growth of roots, coleoptiles and leaves (Nakamura and Oku, 1960; Ou, 1985). Narain and Simhachalam (1976) claimed that the toxin was completely inactivated by copper oxychloride. Beside these, the pathogen has also been observed to produce host specific toxin, which elicited the characteristic brown spot symptoms (Vidhyasekaran et al., 1986) through suppression of defense mechanism by decreasing phenolic content and phenyalanine-ammonia lyase activity in rice leaves (Vidhyasekaran et al., 1992). Hegazy et al. (1992) reported that partially purified toxin (s) from the pathogen inhibited seed germination and reduced root and shoot length in rice cultivars. Ophiobolin A from Bipolaris oryzae perturbs motility and membrane integrities of porcine sperm and induces cell death on mammalian somatic cell lines (Bencsik et al., 2014).

Morpho-pathological and molecular characterization of B. oryzae has been carried out for fifty isolates in India (Kumar et al., 2011). Diversity and pathogenicity of the rice brown spot pathogen were investigated earlier by many workers using morphological characteristics as well as genetic fingerprint analysis in India as well as in other rice growing countries (Motlagh and Kaviani, 2008; Kamal and Mia, 2009; Motlagh and Anvari, 2010; Burgoss et al., 2013, Archana et al., 2014, Kandan et al., 2014 and Nazari et al., 2015). Morphological, molecular characterization and grouping of 27 isolates of Bipolaris oryzae from India were carried out by Singh et al., (2016). Morpho-molecular diversity for 116 isolates of Bipolaris oryzae from different rice growing areas of India was studied by Kumar et al., (2016). Morphological, molecular characterization and grouping of 17 isolates of Bipolaris oryzae from India were carried out by Valarmathi and Ladhalakshmi (2018). This paper mainly dealt with the isolation of crude toxin followed by TLC and HPLC studies.

The toxin was extracted from the six *B. oryzae* isolates using solvent extraction procedure. Each isolate inoculated into three replicated flasks (1 L) containing 200 ml PDA medium were incubated at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ for 3 weeks. The culture filtrate was extracted with chloroform taken in a separating funnel. The collected chloroform layer was evaporated by rotary evaporator (55 °C and 120 rpm) and the residue (crude toxin) dissolved in 1ml of methanol was stored at 4 °C. 10 µl of partially purified toxin isolated from all isolates was loaded on Silica-gel TLC plates and developed in Benzene: Acetone (1:1) solvent system. Air dried plates were visualized by iodine vapours in iodine chamber and under UV light (254 and 365 nm). Rf values of various compounds resolved on TLC plate were measured (Jahani *et al.*, 2013). The quantitative analysis of toxin produced by different isolates was carried out by High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) as per the protocol given by Jahani *et al.*, (2013).

Toxin profile of six isolates of *B. oryzae* on TLC plate showed a total of eight; bands of which, five bands at Rf 0.93, 0.85, 0.77, 0.61 and 0.49 were distinct (Fig. 1). All the isolates produced a common dark band at Rf 0.61 in iodine chamber at 254 nm. HPLC analysis of six isolates of B. oryzae showed variation in their peak values at different retention time (Fig. 2a-2f). In the isolate BO 1, four peaks were observed at 4.3, 5.2, 6.1 and 12.2 min, in BO 2 three peaks at 4.2, 5.5 and 12.2 min and in BO 3 three peaks at 4.2, 5.4 and 13.1 min were observed respectively. In the isolate BO 1319 and BO 5326 two peaks at 4.3 and 12.1 min were observed. In the isolate BO 23, various peaks were observed at 4.3, 5.2, 5.5, 6.6, 11.1 and 12.8 min respectively. In all isolates unique peak with retention time at 4.3 min was observed (Table 1). The compound which was observed in all the isolates can further be characterized for its property of toxin.

Crude toxin extracted from the isolates of BO 1, 2, 3, 1319, 5326 and BO 23 were used for thin layer chromatography (TLC). In the TLC, five bands at Rf 0.93, 0.85, 0.77, 0.61 and 0.49 were distinct. Similar studies in *B.sorokiniana* by Jahani *et al.*, (2013) showed Rf values 0.90, 0.81, 0.76, 0.67 and 0.44 distinct wherein 0.44 produced common dark band in iodine chamber at 254 nm. In the HPLC analysis, single peak at Rt 4.3 min was observed in all the isolates used. Further this single peak can be characterized to know its toxin property. In the HPLC analysis of purified toxin *B.sorokiniana* showed a single peak at Rt 3.03 min with 96.16 purity and characterized as 'bipolaroxin' by H-NMR studies (Jahani *et al.*, 2013).

Table	1:	HPLC	' analy	sis of	B .	oryzae	isolates
-------	----	------	---------	--------	------------	--------	----------

Isolates	Rt	Area	% Area	Height
BO 1	4.34	2528620	4.59	97736
BO 2	4.15	6676871	13.34	102700
BO 3	4.21	64617	0.60	4580
BO 1319	4.26	512353	4.98	39601
BO 5326	4.34	1007467	9.42	26424
BO 23	4.22	766500	3.44	54070




Lane 1. BO 1; Lane 2. BO 2; Lane 3. BO 3; Lane 4. BO 5326; Lane 5. BO 1319 and Lane 6. BO 23





Fig 2a.HPLC analysis of B. oryzae isolates (BO 1)



Fig 2d.HPLC analysis of B. oryzae isolates (BO 1319)



Fig 2b.HPLC analysis of *B. oryzae* isolates (BO 2)



Fig 2c.HPLC analysis of *B. oryzae* isolates (BO 3)



Fig 2e.HPLC analysis of *B. oryzae* isolates (BO 5326)



Fig 2f.HPLC analysis of *B. oryzae* isolates (BO 23)



References

- Chana B, Kukandhuru RK and Prakash HS. 2014. Genetic diversity and population structure among isolates of the brown spot fungus *Bipolaris oryzae* as revealed by inter-simple sequence repeats (ISSR). *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 13(2): 238-44.
- Baranwal MK, Kotasthane A, Magculia N, Mukherjee PK, Savary S, Sharma AK, Singh, HB, Singh US, Sparks AH, Variar M and Zaidi N. 2013. A review on crop losses, epidemiology and disease management of rice brown spot to identify research priorities and knowledge gaps. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 136: 443-457.
- Bencsik O, Papp T, Berta M, Zana A, Forgo P, Dombi G, Andersson MA, Salonen MS, Vagvolgyi C and Szekeres A. 2014. Ophiobolin A from *Bipolaris* oryzae perturbs motility and membrane integrities of porcine sperm and induces cell death on mammalian somatic cell lines. *Toxins*, 6(9), 2857-2871. https://doi. org/10.3390/toxins6092857.
- Burgos MRG, Katimbang MLB, Dela Paz MAG, Beligan GA, Goodwin PH and Ona IP. 2013. Genotypic variability and aggressiveness of *Bipolaris oryzae* in the Philippines. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*,137: 415-429.
- Ghose RLM, Ghatge MB and Subramanian V. 1960. Rice in India (revised edn.), New Delhi, ICAR, 474 pp.
- Goto I. 1958. Studies on the Helminthosporium leaf blight of rice plants. Bull. *Yamagata University Agricultural Science*, 2: 237-388.
- Hegazy MF, Harfoush DI, Mastafa MH. and Ibrahim IK. 1992. The correlation between sensitivity of rice cultivars to *Helminthosporium oryzae* toxin and susceptibility to brown spot disease. *Annals Agricultural Science-Cairo*, 37: 595-601.
- Jahani M, Aggarwal R, Gupta S, Sharma S and Dureja P. 2014. Purification and Characterization of a novel toxin from *Bipolaris sorokiniana*, causing spot blotch of wheat and analysis of variability in the pathogen. *Cereal Research Communications*, 42: 252-261.
- Kamal MM and Mian MAT. 2009. Diversity and pathogenicity of the rice brown spot pathogen in Bangladesh assessed by genetic fingerprint analysis. *Bangladesh Journal of Biotechnology*, 38: 119-25.
- Kandan A, Akhtar J, Singh B, Dixit D, Chand D, Roy A, Rajkumar S and Agarwal PC. 2014. Molecular diversity of *Bipolaris oryzae* infecting *Oryza sativa* in India. *Phytoparasitica*, 43: 5- 14.
- Kumar A, Solanki IS, Akthar J and Gupta V. 2016. Morphomolecular diversity of *Bipolaris oryzae* causing brown spot of paddy. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 86 (5):615-20.

- Kumar P, Anshu V and Kumar S. 2011. Morpho-pathological and molecular characterization of *Bipolaris oryzae* in rice (*Oryzae sativa*). *Journal of Phytopathology*, 159: 51-56.
- Motlagh MRS and Anvari M. 2010. Genetic variation in a population of *Bipolaris oryzae* based on RAPD-PCR in North of Iran. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9: 5800-4.
- Motlagh MRS and Kaviani B. 2008. Characterization of new *Bipolaris* spp: the causal agent of rice brown spot disease in the North of Iran. *International Journal Agricultural, Biology*.10: 638-42.
- Nakamura M and Oku H. 1960. Detection of ophiobolin in the diseased rice leaves and its toxicity against higher plants. *Report Takamine Lab*, 12: 266-271.
- Narain A and Simhachalam G. 1976. Helminthosporium *Oryza*e toxin and its inactivation by fungicides. *Indian Phytopathology*. 29: 232-237.
- Nazari S, Mohamad JN, Khalil-Berdi F, Vahid K and Alireza A. 2015. *Bipolaris* species associated with rice plant: pathogenicity and genetic diversity of *Bipolaris oryzae* using rep-PCR in Mazandaran province of Iran. *Journal of Crop Protection*, 4: 497-508.
- Ou SH. 1985. Rice Diseases 2nd edn. CMI, Kew, England, 370 pp.
- Singh K, Valarmathi P, Sharma S, Bashyal BM, Gurjar MS and Aggarwal R. 2016. Association of melanin content with pathogenicity and virulence in *Bipolaris oryzae*. *Research Journal of Biotechology*, 11 (9): 37-42.
- Sunder S, Singh R, Dodan DS and Mehla DS. 2005. Effect of different nitrogen levels on brown spot (*Drechslera oryzae*) of rice and its management through host resistance and fungicides. *Plant Disease Research*, 20: 111-114.
- Terashima N, Hamasaki T and Hatuda Y. 1962. Studies on the metabolic products of *Cochliobolus miyabeanus*.I. Isolation of ergosterol of the mycelia. *Trans Tottori Society Agricultural Science*, 14: 69-70.
- Valarmathi P and Ladhalakshmi D. 2018. Morphological characterization of *Bipolaris oryzae* causing brown spot disease of rice. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 7(02): 161-170.
- Vidhyasekaran P, Borromeo ES and Mew TW. 1986. Host specific toxin production by *Helminthosporium oryzae*. *Phytopathology*, 76: 261-266.
- Vidhyasekaran P, Borromeo ES and Mew TW. 1992. *Helminthosporium oryzae* toxin suppresses phenol metabolism in rice plants and aids pathogen colonization. *Physiology and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 41: 307-315.
- Vinay Kumari, Jariwala S and Rai B. 1997. Effect of physicochemical factors on growth of *Drechslera oryzae*. *Journal of Mycopathological Research*, 35: 131-136.

SHORT COMMUNICATION



OPEN ACCESS

Reaction of rice cultivars to rice root-knot nematode Meloidogyne graminicola

Satish N Chavan*, Nethi Somasekhar and LV Subbarao

ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 500 030, Telangana, India *Corresponding author (email: Satish.Chavan@icar.gov.in)

Received: 10 September 2019; Accepted: 25 November 2019

Abstract

The rice root knot nematode *Meloidogyne graminicola* is one of the important nematode problems in many rice-growing areas of the world. The development of nematode-resistant cultivars is the most cost-effective and sustainable method for nematode management in rice. The success of a breeding programme for resistance depends on the availability of diverse sources of resistance. The present study was conducted to screen fourteen rice cultivars for resistance to *M. graminicola* in search of strong resistant source. The rice cultivars were screened for resistance to *M. graminicola* by the germination paper screening method using the relative root-gall index (RRGI) and relative reproduction index (RRI) scores. Out of the fourteen rice cultivars tested, only two cultivars *viz.*, Swarnadhan and Dhanrasi were found resistant to *M. graminicola*. These two rice cultivars can be studied further to use them as donors in resistance breeding against *M. graminicola*.

Keywords: Rice, Meloidogyne graminicola, resistance, screening

The rice root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne graminicola* is one of the important plant-parasitic nematodes infecting rice crop (Prasad et al., 2010; Ravindra et al., 2017). It is a pest of international importance to rice due to its presence in most of the rice-growing areas in the world (De Waele and Elsen, 2007; Dutta et al., 2012; Mantelin et al., 2017). It infects rice in almost all types of rice production systems, but the damage is more severe in rice nurseries and upland rice. M. graminicola infected rice plants show stunting and chlorosis due to the characteristic terminal swellings or hook-like galls on the roots, which ultimately results in severe reduction in growth and yield (Prasad et al., 2010; Pankaj et al., 2010). In India, M. graminicola is one of the major concerns in rice production in many states including Karnataka, West Bengal, Orissa, Uttar Pradesh, Himachal Pradesh, Assam (Jain et al., 2012). It is reported to cause 10-30% yield loss in different rice production systems (Jain et al., 2007).

In view of limited options for the management and poor awareness among the farmers about nematodes, the only effective management option for *M. graminicola* is the use of resistant cultivars. The development of nematoderesistant cultivars is the most cost-effective and sustainable method for nematode management for small as well as large-scale farmers in poor and developing countries (Pokharel *et al.*, 2012). Several resistant to moderately resistant rice cultivars have been identified against this nematode, still there is a need for strong resistant source for breeding nematode resistant cultivars. Hence the present study was conducted to screen fourteen rice cultivars for resistance to *M. graminicola* in rice.

The rice cultivars tested in this experiment were reported to be resistant to multiple insect pests and diseases of rice (Padmavathi et al., 2013), but the information on the reaction of these cultivars to rice root-knot nematode M. graminicola is lacking. Hence these cultivars were selected for this study. The cultivars were screened for resistance to *M. graminicola* by the germination paper screening method (Somasekhar et al., 2019). Rice seeds were soaked in water for two days and sprouted seeds were transferred to the germination paper rolls. Ten seeds were placed in each germination paper roll. The germination paper rolls were placed in test tubes half filled with distilled water and incubated at 25-30 °C. Each seedling was inoculated with 50 second-stage infective juveniles (J₂) of *M. graminicola* 4-5 days after placing seeds in germination paper roll. Nematode susceptible cultivar TN 1 was used as a susceptible check and five replications



were maintained for each cultivar. Observations on root galls and total nematode population including eggs and juveniles were recorded three weeks after nematode inoculation. The experiment was repeated twice and the data from all the individual plants of a test entry from both the experiments were combined to compute the mean. The cultivars were categorized as resistant or susceptible based on the relative root-gall index (RRGI) and relative reproduction index (RRI) scores (Jena and Rao, 1976). RRGI/RRI score followed: 0 (Highly resistant), 0.1-1.0 (Resistant), 1.1-2.0 (Moderately susceptible), 2.1-3.0 (Susceptible) and >3.1 (Highly susceptible). The RRGI and RRI are computed as per the formula given below.

Relative root-gall index = Relative reproduction index =	Number of galls in test entry x 4		
	Number of galls in susceptible check		
	Total nematode population in test entry x 4		
	Total nematode population in susceptible check		

A large variation in the number of galls and total nematode population per root system was observed among the cultivars tested. The reaction of test entries was rated based on the relative root-gall index and relative reproduction index. Out of the fourteen rice cultivars tested, only two cultivars viz., Swarnadhan and Dhanrasi were found resistant to M. graminicola while the cultivars Vasumati, Suraksha, Nidhi, Mansarovar and DRRH2 were found moderately susceptible. All other cultivars were either susceptible or highly susceptible (Table 1). The galls on resistant cultivars Swarnadhan and Dhanrasi were very small and contained less numbers of eggs as compared to the galls in susceptible check TN 1. Also, the size of females dissected from the galls of resistant cultivars Swarnadhan and Dhanrasi were relatively small as compared to the females from the galls of TN 1. It is evident from the results that though the rice cultivars were reported to be resistant to multiple insect pests and diseases of rice, most of them were susceptible to the rice root-knot nematode M. graminicola. The resistant rice cultivars Swarnadhan and Dhanrasi can be studied further to use them as donors in resistance breeding against M. graminicola.

Table 1: The reaction of rice cultivars to rice root-ki	ıot
nematode <i>Meloidogyne graminicola</i>	

Sr. No.	Cultivars	RRGI	RRI	Reaction
1	Triguna	3.82	3.79	HS
2	Vasumati	1.58	1.40	MS
3	Shanthi	5.81	3.70	HS
4	Aghani	1.89	1.30	MS
5	Suraksha	1.53	1.10	MS
6	Akshaydhan	3.74	2.57	HS
7	Swarnadhan	0.89	0.30	R
8	Nidhi	1.14	1.10	MS
9	Tulsi	3.44	2.67	HS
10	Mansarovar	1.26	1.11	MS
11	Dhanrasi	0.95	0.20	R
12	Vardhan	2.65	1.12	S
13	Vikramarya	4.84	4.59	HS
14	DRRH2	1.40	1.10	MS
15	TN 1 (Susceptible check)	4	4	HS

RRGI: Relative root-gall index, RRI: Relative reproduction index, R: resistant, MS: moderately susceptible, S: Susceptible, HS: Highly susceptible.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the Director, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad for his constant support and encouragement in carrying out this study.

References

- De Waele D and Elsen A. 2007. Challenges in tropical plant nematology. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 45: 457-485.
- Dutta TK, Ganguly AK and Gaur HS. 2012. Global status of rice root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne graminicola*. *African Journal of Microbiology Research* 6(31): 6016-6021.
- Jain RK, Khan MR and Kumar V. 2012. Rice root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne graminicola*) infestation in rice. *Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection* 4(6): 635-645.
- Jain RK, Mathur KN and Singh RV. 2007. Estimation of losses due to plant parasitic nematodes on different crops in India. *Indian Journal of Nematology* 37: 219-220.



- Jena RN and Rao YS. 1976. Nature of root-knot nematode resistance in rice, Oryza sativa L. I. Isolation of resistant varieties. Proceedings of Indian Academy of Sciences, 82B: 177-184.
- Mantelin S, Bellafiore S and Kyndt T. 2017. *Meloidogyne* graminicola: A major threat to rice agriculture. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 18(1): 3-15.
- Padmavathi G, Ram T, Bhadana VP, Prasad GSV, Ravindra Babu V, Subba Rao LV, Suneetha K Jyothi B, Hari Prasad AS and Shobha Rani N. 2013. Rice varieties developed by Directorate of Rice Research. Technical Bulletin No. 74/2013. Directorate of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 30, AP, India. pp 56.
- Pankaj Sharma HK and Prasad JS. 2010. The rice root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne graminicola:* an emerging problem in rice-wheat cropping system. *Indian Journal of Nematology*, 40(1): 1-11.
- Pokharel RR, Duxbury JM and Abawai G. 2012. Evaluation of protocol for assessing the reaction of rice and wheat germplasm to infection by *Meloidogyne graminicola*. *Journal of Nematology*, 44(3): 274-283.

- Prasad JS, Somasekhar N and Varaprasad KS. 2010. Nematode infestation in Paddy. P. 17-71. In: MR Khan and MS Jairajpuri (ed.) Nematode infestations, Part I: Food Crop. The National Academy of Science, India.
- Ravindra H, Mukhesh S, Narasimhamurthy HB, Jayalakshmi K and Khan HSI. 2017. Rice rootknot nematode (*Meloidogyne graminicola*) an emerging problem. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences* 6(8): 3143-3171.
- Somasekhar N, Sivakrishna K and Chavan SN. 2019. A rapid in-vitro screening method for resistance to rice root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne graminicola*. Abstracts of XIX International Plant Protection Congress (IPPC)-2019, organized by ICRISAT at Hyderabad, India during Nov10-14, 2019. pp. 317.



SHORT COMMUNICATION

DRR Dhan 52 [IET 23354 (RP5125-12-5-3-B-IR84898-B-B)]

Jyothi Badri^{1*}, Jai Vidhya LRK¹, Lakshmidevi G¹, Laxmi Bhavani P¹, B Sreedevi¹, SK Mangrauthia¹, R Abdul Fiyaz¹, LV Subba Rao¹, MS Prasad¹, V Jhansi Lakshmi¹, P Raghuveer Rao¹, Amtul Waris¹, Arvind Kumar² and T Ram¹

¹ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research (ICAR-IIRR), Rajendranagar, Hyderabad-500030 ²International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Philippines *Corresponding author (Email: jyothirishik@gmail.com)

Received: 10 November 2019; Accepted: 11 December 2019

The first heat tolerant variety DRR Dhan 52 was notified in 2019 for cultivation in Haryana, Gujarat and Odisha. It was developed from the cross IR78877-208-B-1-1/ IR78878-53-2-2-2 under the IRRI-India collaborative project 'Stress Tolerant Rice for Asia and South Africa' (STRASA). Initial cross of DRR Dhan 52 was made at IRRI, Philippines based on the selection of donors for yield under vegetative/reproductive stage drought stress at multi-location trials (MLTs) across the centres in partnering countries (India, Nepal and Bangladesh) under STRASA. ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad is part of MLT. Bulk seed with designation 'IR84898-B-B' in segregating generation (F_2) was received from IRRI and single plant selections for superior segregants from F_3 to F_5 generation, progeny rows evaluation and yield trials were done at ICAR-IIRR. Semidwarf plant height, earliness, grain type, drought tolerance and high yield are the traits considered in the selection and evaluation process. The line selected was designated as RP5125-12-5-3-B-IR84898-B-B, in which the former part of the designation (RP5125-12-5-3-B) indicates sequential selections from F₃ onwards at ICAR-IIRR and latter part of the designation indicates the initial cross made at IRRI. DRR Dhan 52 (IET No. 23354) was evaluated in All India Coordinated Rice Improvement Project (AICRIP) in Early Transplanted (ETP) trial during 2013-2015 and 2017 and yielded 5428 kg/ha with +9.71, +23.68 and +10.88% yield advantage over national, zonal and local checks, respectively on over all mean in the states released.

Significant increase of Chlorophyll a, Chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll and carotenoids during heat stress (42°C/36°C day/night for five days) at vegetative as well as reproductive stages were observed in DRR Dhan 52, as compared to well established high temperature tolerant

rice cultivar N22. Further, gaseous exchange parameters and gene expression data suggests that DRR Dhan 52 has more robust physiological and molecular machinery to cope with heat stress as compared to N22. DRR Dhan 52 showed resistance to blast, moderate resistance to neck blast, brown spot, sheath rot and rice tungro disease.



Figure 1: Paddy, brown, polished and cooked rice of IET 23354 (DRR Dhan 52)

DRR Dhan 52 has high milling recovery (71 %) and head rice recovery (66%), long bold grain with 6.23 mm kernel length, 2.34 mm kernel breadth and 2.67 L/B ratio. It has intermediate alkali spreading value (4.0), amylose content (20%) and GC (55 mm) with very occasional chalkiness indicating good cooking quality (Fig.1). DRR Dhan 52 is distinguishable through morphological features like strong culm, anthocyanin coloration of basal leaf sheath, light green foliage, creamish septum, long white split ligules, apiculus non pigmented, white stigma, late senescence, erect and wide flag leaf, compact, heavy and well exerted panicles and 90 day flowering duration. DRR Dhan 52 would certainly increase and stabilize the production of rice in irrigated ecology in the states of Haryana, Gujarat and Odisha.



Dr. Sishta Venkata Seetharama Shastry

4 November 1928 - 5 February 2019

r. SVS Shastry, a pioneer of rice research in India, departed his soul on 5 February, 2019, at the age of 91 years. He obtained his Bachelor's degree from Agriculture College, Bapatla and his Master of Science and Doctoral degree from University of Wisconsin in 1958. He started his career as Assistant Professor (Cytogenetics) in 1958-61 and Botanist, 1961-1966 at the Indian Agricultural Research Institute (IARI), New Delhi. He took over as the Project Coordinator (Rice) in 1966 and served till 1977. He joined as Senior Agricultural Officer, Agricultural Production and Protection and then as Executive Secretary, International Rice Commission, Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), Rome from 1975-1977. He served as Director of Research, International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA), Nigeria from 1977-1983. He also served as the Honorary Trustee and Vice-Chairman of the Programme Committee of International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Philippines during 197073 and Chairman, Steering committee and Member, Scientific and Technical Committee, West Africa Rice Development Association (WARDA) from 1977-82.

Taking forward the expertise gained on pachytene analysis in Melilotus species at the University of Wisconsin, he published the seminal report on the pachytene stage of rice chromosomes (Shastry et al., 1960). He published a series of papers on cytology of cultivated and wild species, their interspecific hybrids and re-interpretation of species relationships in the genus, Oryza (Shastry and Mishra, 1961; Shastry et al., 1961; Shastry and Ranga Rao, 1961; Shastry 1964a, b). Through his exhaustive biosystematic analysis, he could delineate two new species of Oryza namely, Oryza nivara and O. collina (Sharma & Shastry 1965a, b). Based on their studies, they proposed that O. nivara is the progenitor of cultivated rice (Shastry and Sharma, 1973). One of the collections of O. nivara was found to be resistant to grassy stunt virus disease of rice at IRRI which helped in the development of grassy stunt virus resistant rice varieties. His research spanned wide range of subjects including Cytogenetics, Taxonomy, Genetics, Plant Breeding, Physiology, Crop Science, Agronomy, Extension and Development. He guided three Ph.D. students and developed four rice varieties namely Jaya, Phalguna, Prakash and Sona. All of these varieties were very popular among the farmers and noteworthy among these is Jaya, which is still popular with the farmers.

Through his futuristic vision, he has been instrumental in planning and establishment of the then All Indian Coordinated Rice Improvement Project (AICRIP) at Rajendranagar, Hyderabad which later evolved as Directorate of Rice Research (DRR). The stateof-the-art rice quality lab and glass house facilities developed by him at the present day ICAR-Indian Rice Research Institute (IIRR) is a standing testimony of his monumental contribution for the rice fraternity as outstanding researcher and administrator. Recognising his monumental contributions in the area of science and technology especially in rice research, the President of India honored him with the Padma Shri award in 1971. He has also been recipient of Borlaug Award in 1974, Janna Reddy Venkatareddy Prize in 1974, Tonnage Club Medal, 1974; West Godavari Farmers' Trophy, 1975. He was elected as Fellow of two prestigious science academies of India *viz.*, Indian National Science Academy (INSA) and National Academy of Agricultural Sciences (NAAS). He had a pleasing personality and has been a role model for many rice workers.

Society for Advancement of Rice Research (SARR) pays its respects and deep sense of gratitude to the departed soul and prays the almighty that his soul rests in peace. We also convey our deep condolences to the bereaved family.



Dr S V S Shastry with International Scientists at IIRR Farm

Thank you....

Editorial Board of Journal of Rice Research extends their gratefulness to the following reviewers of 2019 Volume 12, Issues 1 & 2. We thank you for sparing your valuable time and expertise in reviewing each manuscript twice and providing valuable inputs.

- 1. Dr A Ramanathan, Tamilnadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore
- 2. Dr C Karpagam, Central Institute of Cotton Research, Regional Station, Coimbatore
- 3. Dr J Aravind Kumar, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 4. Dr L Krishna, Rice Research Center, ARI, Hyderabad
- 5. Dr MS Anantha, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 6. Dr P Revathi, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 7. Dr P Senguttuvel, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 8. Dr S Triveni, University Head, PJTSAU, Hyderabad
- 9. Dr Y Sridhar, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 10. Ms. C Suvarna Rani, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad

- 1. Dr Rakesh Seth, ICAR-IARI Regional Center, Karnal
- 2. Dr RM Sundaram, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 3. Dr R Gobinath, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 4. Dr C Kannan, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 5. Dr V Manasa, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 6. Dr MS Prasad, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad
- 7. Dr B Gayatri, ICAR-IIOR, Hyderabad
- 8. Dr V Prakasam, ICAR IIRR, Hyderabad
- 9. Dr Chitra Shanker, ICAR-IIRR, Hyderabad

Journal of Rice Research - Authors Guidelines

Scope: Journal of Rice Research is a channel for publication of full length papers covering results of original research, invited critical reviews or interpretative articles related to all areas of rice science, rice based crop systems and rice crop management. The journal also publishes short communications, book reviews and letters to the editor.

Articles reporting experimentation or research in any field involving rice or rice based cropping systems will be accepted as original articles while critical reviews are generally invited. Short articles concerned with experimental techniques or observation of unique nature will be accepted as short communication. Letters to the editor concerning previous articles are welcome and are published subject to review and approval by the editorial board. The original authors will be invited to reply to the points raised in these letters for their response which are also published together.

General Requirement:

Submission to the journal must be reports of original research of at least two crop seasons and must not be previously published or simultaneously submitted to any other scientific or technical journal. At least one of the authors (in case of joint authorship) should be member of the Society for Advancement of Rice Research (SARR) and not in arrears of subscription. Authors of invited articles are exempted from this.

Submission of Manuscript:

Manuscripts should be sent by email to the chief editor (chiefeditorjrr@gmail.com/chintalapatipadmavathi68@gmail.com) as an attachment. All the enclosed figures (as ppt/jpg files), graphs (as MS Excel worksheet with original data) and photographs (as jpg or ppt files with high resolution) may be submitted as separate files. Avoid using more than one font. The manuscript should be typed in double spaced times new roman font with margins of at least 2.5 cm. On the first page give the title, a byline with the names of authors, their affiliation and corresponding author's e-mail ID. Abstract should be followed by a list of key words. The usual order of sections to be included after title and abstract pages are: Introduction which includes literature review; materials and methods; results and discussion; conclusion (optional), acknowledgements and references followed by figures and tables.

Title should give a clear idea what the articles is about. It should be brief and informative (12-15 words).

Materials and Methods should include experimental design, treatment details, replications and techniques/ methods employed.

Results and Discussion should be supported by sound scientifically analysed data along with explanatory text with relevant tables and figures.

References should be quoted in author-year notation system only. All the references should be arranged alphabetically by author. All single author entries precede multiple author entries for the same first authors. Use chronological order within entries with identical authorship and add a low case letter a, b, c, etc., to year for same year entries of the same author. References should be presented in the format given below:

Research papers

- 1. Durvasula V. Seshu. 2017. Networking a Pivotal Strategy for Rice Genetic Improvement. Journal of Rice Research, 10(1): 1-8.
- 2. Kemparaju KB, MS Ramesha, K Sruti, AS Hari Prasad, RM Sundaram, P Senguttuvel and P Revathi. 2018. Breeding strategy for improvement of rice maintainer lines through composite population for short term diversity. *Journal of Rice Research*, 11(2): 27-30
- 3. Paul M and Keegstra K. 2008. Cell-wall carbohydrates and their modification as a resource for biofuels. *Plant Journal*, 54: 559-568.

Thesis

Bhuiyan MDAR. 2010. Phenotypic and genotypic evaluation of selected transgressive variants derived from *Oryza rufipogon* Griff. x *Oryza sativa* L. cv. MR219. Ph D. Thesis. University Kebaangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia, 150 p.

Book chapter

Scott JM 1984. Catabolism of folates. P. 307-327. In R.L. Blackley and S.J. Benkovic (ed.) Folates and Pterims Vol.1. John Wiley & Sons, New York

Book

Subba Rao LV, Shobha Rani N, Chiranjeevi M, Chaitanya U, Sudharshan I, Suneetha K, Jyothi Badri and Dipal R Choudhary 2013 DUS Characterization of Rice Varieties. Directorate of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad-500 030, AP, India. 524 pp

Figures: Photographs and drawings for graphs and charts should be prepared with good contrast of dark and light. Figure caption should be brief specifying the crop or soil, major variables presented and year. Give careful attention to the width of lines and size, and clarity of type and symbols.

Tables: Tables are used for reporting extensive numerical data in an organized manner and statistically analyzed. They should be self explanatory. Prepare tables with the word-processing tables feature and tabs or graphics boxes should not be used. Table head should be brief but complete and self contained. Define all variables and spell out all the abbreviations. An exponential expression (eg. x 10^3) in the unit's line is often needed to keep length of the data reasonably short, and referenced with an explanatory note. Unless otherwise required, two decimal place values are suggested.

Published by : Dr. S R Voleti, President, Society for Advancement of Rice Research, Hyderabad.

Printed at :

Balaji Scan Pvt. Ltd., Hyderabad - 500 004. Ph: 040-23303424 / 25 E-mail: bsplpress@gmail.com

Society for Advancement of Rice Research ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research (ICAR-IIRR) Rajendranagar

> Hyderabad – 500 030 (India), Phone No: 091 40 24591221, 24591216 Fax: +9140 24591217, www.sarr.co.in